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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited

I Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (hereinafter referred to as the (“Holding
Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), its associates and its
joint ventures, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit and
loss (including other comprehensive income), consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based on the consideration of
reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as were audited by the
other auditors, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the
Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in
India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, its associates and joint ventures as at 31 March 2019, of its consolidated
profit and other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our
responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of the
Act. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

1 Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1. Recognition and impairment assessment of development expenditure capitalized and products currently under development

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has Rs. 2,305 crores of intangible | We performed the following key audit procedures:
assets under development and Rs. 4,206 crores
of development expenditure capitalised as at
31 March 2019.

e Assessed design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key controls in respect of recognition and classification of
development expenditure, and evaluation of existence of any

Management uses judgment to classify research impairment;

and development related expenditure to be

expensed or capitalized as intangible assets under

development. In addition, management reviews
the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to | e  Tested project related expenditures with underlying documents

e Confirmed key development projects had the appropriate
approval of the committee appointed by the Board;

determine whether there are any indications of relating to material costs, overheads and employee hours
impairment loss as the recoverable value of these incurred to verify the existence and appropriateness of
intangible assets relies on certain assumptions and classification as research or development expenditure;

estimates of future performance which impact
the valuation. If triggers of impairment exist, the
carrying value of intangible assets are adjusted
for any impairment loss in the statement of profit
and loss.

e Evaluated the competence of the management personnel who
perform impairment assessment and assessed the methodology
used by them with reference to the guidance in the applicable
accounting standards; and

e Challenged project managers on the stage of development of
key projects, judgments used by them for expected probable
economic benefits and associated expenditures, and their
assessment of feasibility of the projects.

Refer note 2(g) and (h) - significant accounting
policy for intangible assets and impairment of
assets.
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2. Taxes including provision for current tax, valuation of uncertain tax positions and recognition of deferred taxes

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has recorded Rs. 2,854 crores of tax
expense for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Group operates in tax jurisdictions across the
world, which are subject to periodic tax challenges
by local tax authorities leading to protracted
litigations. As such, accounting for taxes involves
management judgment in developing estimates
of tax exposures and contingencies in order to
assess the adequacy of tax provision.

Refer note 2(p) - significant accounting policy for
income tax.

We performed the following key audit procedures:

e Assessed the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls in respect of the Group’s process
of recognition of tax expense, including uncertain tax positions
and deferred taxes;

e Assessed and challenged the completeness of uncertain tax
positions in conjunction with our internal tax specialists by
considering changes to business and tax legislation through
discussions with management and review of correspondence
with authorities where relevant;

e Assessed and challenged the calculation for the current tax
provision and the procedures performed to analyse movements,
including the rationale for any release, increase or continued
provision in the year;

e Assessed and challenged management’s judgements regarding
the recoverability of temporary differences pertaining to
deferred tax balances by obtaining and critically examining the
forecasts and demonstrating the expected utilization of key
temporary differences in order to assess their recoverability;
and

e Assessed and challenged management’s judgments with
respect to probability of outflow arising out of litigation
after considering the status of recent tax assessments, audits
and enquiries, recent judicial pronouncements and judgments
in similar matters, developments in the tax environment and
outcome of past litigations.

Evaluation of the consolidation process

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s consolidation process is complex on
account of its presence in various geographies and
multiple businesses through different ownership
structures.

The consolidation processincludes evaluation of the
degree of control/ significant influence, alignment
of group accounting policies, elimination of inter-
company balances and resultant tax adjustments
which may require a high level of judgement.

Refer note 2(c) - significant accounting policy for
basis of consolidation.

We performed the following key audit procedures:

e Assessed the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls in respect of Group’s process of
consolidation and management’s procedures for alignment
of group accounting policies, consolidation adjustments,
elimination of inter-company balances and the resultant tax
impact;

e Read the underlying documents relating to significant group
entities, including agreements and minutes of Board committees
to review the management’s evaluation of degree of control/
significant influence;

e Tested the relevant general IT and applications controls over
the consolidation process to confirm the appropriateness of the
inter-company elimination process;

e  Evaluated whether the methodology applied by management
for alignment of accounting policies is appropriate by reading
the accounting policies of the significant group entities and
matching it with the Group’s accounting policies;

e Tested significant consolidation adjustments related to manual
journal entries and reviewed underlying documents; and

* Reviewed management’s process of ensuring appropriateness
of tax effect on account of consolidation related adjustments.
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4. Impairment loss allowance in the financial services business

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Within the financial services business, the Group | We performed the following key audit procedures:

has recognized impairment loss allowance of | o  Assessed the design and implementation of controls in respect
Rs 2,215 crores as at 31 March 2019. of the Group’s loan loss impairment allowance process such as
the timely recognition of impairment loss, the completeness and
accuracy of reports used in the impairment allowance process and
management review processes over the calculation of impairment
allowance and the related disclosures on credit risk management;

* Increased level of data inputs for capturing | e Tested the relevant general IT and applications controls over

The determination of impairment loss allowance is
inherently judgmental and relies on managements’
best estimate due to the following:

the historical data to calculate the Probability key systems used in the impairment allowance processes.
of Default (‘PDs’) and Loss Given Default Evaluated whether the methodology applied by the Company
("LGD") and the completeness and accuracy is compliant with the requirements of the relevant accounting
of that data; standards and confirmed that the calculations are performed in

e Use of management overlays for considering accordancg with the approved meth-odology, including checking
the probability weighted scenarios, the mathematical accuracy of the workings;
forward looking macro-economic factors and | ®  Tested the periods considered for capturing underlying data as
the timing of cash flows; and base to PD and LGD calculations, are in line with Company’s
recent experience of past observed periods;

e Challenged completeness and validity of management overlays
with assistance of independent financial risk modelling experts

Refer note 2(k) — significant accounting policy for by critically evaluating the risks that have been addressed by

impairment of financial assets. management through overlays and also considering whether
there are other risks not captured which require additional
overlays. We also tested management’s workings supporting
the overlay quantum; and

e Assessed whether the disclosures on key judgements, assumptions
and quantitative data with respect to impairment loss allowance
in the financial statements are appropriate and sufficient.

e (Criteria selected to identify significant
increase in credit risk.

5. Impairment assessment of tangible assets relating to operations in Korea

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s carrying value of tangible assets | We performed the following key audit procedures:
related to its operations in Korea is Rs. 7,319 crores | ¢  Assessed the design, implementation and operating

as at 31 March 2019. effectiveness of key controls in respect of Group’s evaluation of
Management reviews the carrying amounts of existence of any impairment of tangible assets;

its tangible assets to determine whether there | ¢ Challenged management’s assumptions used for reasonableness
are any indicators of impairment. If triggers of impairment allowance by evaluating the business plans,
of impairment exist, the carrying value of the methodology used for management’s valuation model and
tangible assets are adjusted for any impairment discount rates; and

loss in the statement of profit and loss. e Evaluated the competence of the management personnel who
Refer note 2(f) and 2(h) - significant accounting performed the impairment assessment and tested the mathematical
policy for tangible assets and impairment of assets. accuracy of the working for any impairment allowance.

I Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon (“Other Information”)

The Holding Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Holding Company’s annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed
and based on the work done/ audit report of other auditors, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

I Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs, consolidated
profit and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group including
its associates and joint ventures in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting
Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and
of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions
of the Act for safeguarding the assets of each company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design,
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implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective management and Board of Directors of the companies included
in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for assessing the ability of each Company to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible
for overseeing the financial reporting process of each Company.

I Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has
adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of consolidated
financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the appropriateness of this assumption. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group as well
as associates and joint ventures to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of such entities or business activities within
the Group and its associates and joint ventures to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, of which we
are the independent auditors. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial
information of such entities. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited
by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried
out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further described in
para (a) of the section titled ‘Other Matters’ in this audit report.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along with the consideration of audit reports of the other auditors referred to

in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

on the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities included in the consolidated

financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe

these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

1 Other Matters

We did not audit the financial statements of 135 subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 43,288 crores as at
31 March 2019, total revenues of Rs. 46,362 crores and net cash flows amounting to Rs.707 crores for the year ended on that date, as
considered in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group’s share of net profit
of Rs. 335 crores for the year ended 31 March 2019, in respect of 31 associates and 22 joint ventures, whose financial statements have
not been audited by us. These financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the
management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included
in respect of these subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of section 143 of the Act, in
so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates is based solely on the audit reports of the other auditors.
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not
modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and
the financial statements certified by the management.

I Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

A. As required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of reports of the other auditors on
separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as were audited by other auditors, as noted
in the ‘Other Matters’ paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other
auditors.

¢) The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income),
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report
are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the
Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 2019
taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditors of its
subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group
companies, its associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India is disqualified as on 31 March 2019 from being
appointed as a director in terms of section 164(2) of the Act.

f)  With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding
Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A".

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies
(Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given
to us and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, as noted in the ‘Other Matters’ paragraph:

i.  The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2019 on the consolidated
financial position of the Group, its associates and joint ventures. Refer Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law or Ind AS, for

material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts. Refer Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements in respect of such items as it relates to the Group, its associates and joint ventures.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company
or its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India during the year ended 31 March
2019.

iv. The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified bank notes
during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been made in the financial statements since they
do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s report under section 197(16):

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on the reports of the statutory
auditors of such subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India which were not audited
by us, the remuneration paid during the current year by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies
and joint ventures to its directors is in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to
any director by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures is not in excess of the
limit laid down under section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other details under section

197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.

For BS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri
Partner
Mumbai, 29 May, 2019 Membership No. 102527
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited for the year ended 31 March 2019

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid consolidated financial statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3
of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013

Opinion
In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31 March 2019, we have
audited the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (hereinafter referred

to as “the Holding Company”) and such companies incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 2013 which are its subsidiary companies, its
associate companies and its joint venture companies, as of that date.

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such companies incorporated in India which are its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and
joint venture companies, have, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2019, based on the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements criteria established by such companies considering the essential components of such internal controls stated
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(the "Guidance Note").

I Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Company’s management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements based on the criteria established by the respective Company considering the essential components of
internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the
respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter
referred to as “the Act”).

I Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the
Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements. Those Standards and
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements were established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness.

Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the internal controls based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors of the relevant subsidiary
companies, associate companies and joint venture companies in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements.

I Meaning of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Financial Statements

A Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A Company'’s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
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I Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of
any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

I Other Matters

Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates to 59 subsidiary companies, 5 associate companies and 16 joint venture
companies, which are companies incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated
in India.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri
Partner
Mumbai, 29 May, 2019 Membership No. 102527
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Consolidated Balance Sheet | as at 31= March, 2019
Rupees crores
Note No. 2019 2018
1. ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and EQUIPMENT .......c.cuiiiiiiicc e 4 22,227.17 20,820.49
Capital Work-in-Progress....... 2,454.34 1,814.57
GoOdWill .. 5 2,073.60 2,159.67
Other Intangible Assets........cccoouuu.. 6 4,681.97 3,201.74
Intangible Assets Under Development ...... 2,305.50 2,454.90
Investments accounted using Equity method .. 7 10,790.94 9,421.45
Financial Assets
() INVESTMENTS ...ttt s b s e st s e s e e s s e s e b e e sesa et es e s e e e s s esesene e nnnen 7 1,369.94 1,246.09
(ii) Trade Receivables.. . 8 614.52 513.84
[T T e Y= L 9 40,515.00 31,414.43
(iV)  OTNEr FINANCIAI ASSEES.....cveeceieeceiiteeiiteeceee ettt sas e st e et e st e s besesbeseeseseeseseesesbesesbeesbessssesseseseenesennes 10 828.97 512.43
Deferred Tax Assets (net)... 1 1,502.91 841.60
Income Tax Assets (net)...... . 1,797.02 1,251.02
OTNET NON-CUITENT ASSEES ......viviieieiireritiisreesesesesssssesessessssesessessasessssessesessessssessssessssensssesssessesessessssessssensssenes 12 2,823.65 2,482.66
93,985.53 78,134.89
CURRENT ASSETS
RNV Lo TSSOSO 13 12,200.16 9,335.57
Financial Assets
(i)  Investments 7 6,107.22 5,350.07
(ii) Trade Receivables.. 8 9,290.51 8,489.82
(iii) Cash and Cash Equivalents..........cccccvvurnnnen. 14 6,139.00 4,466.63
(iv) Bank Balances other than Cash and cash Equivalents. 14 2,595.91 2,080.97
(v) Loans..... 9 28,622.06 24,725.46
(vi) Other Financial Assets... 10 891.44 1,255.78
Other Current Assets....... . 12 3,559.74 3,308.11
ASSETS NEIA FOr SAIE .. ittt ettt ettt es s s b ea s s s s s b s s seb s s snannanas — 63.61
69,406.04 59,076.02
TOT AL ASSETS ... i iiittietet et st ses e es et et es et seseseseses et ee et sesesesesesssesee e et s esee s ee et se s s es et e e e e e s eh et et en e e e sebesensnannsnns 1,63,391.57 1,37,210.91
I EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity Share Capital ..o s 15 543.96 543.13
Other EQUItY ..o 39,439.45 36,232.06
Equity attributable to owners of the Company... . 39,983.41 36,775.19
INON-CONEIOIITING INTEIESES. ... tireueteeresesiatitei et se sttt sttt 8,360.57 8,250.47
48,343.98 45,025.66
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
(1) BOTTOWINGS c.cvueueiaiiste ettt bbb eb bbbt 17 43,526.17 33,809.18
(i)  Trade Payables 18
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises... 7.93 4.88
(i) Other FINANCIAl LI@DIlTIES ...veviveeeieeeiteeeceeece sttt ettt se s se s see e seeneanan 19 1,455.32 1,689.46
Provisions.... 20 4,100.64 3,785.68
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) . . 1 2,171.31 1,587.42
Other NON-CUITENT LiailiTiES .. veuiitiiiteiiteiitiitsteiteteseesteseaessesessessssensssessesessessssensssenesrensssensssessesesnenssnenessennane 21 5,042.89 2,159.09
56,304.26 43,035.71
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
(1) BOITOWINGS. c..cteecteeeueieseteesetsese et sae b es e se sttt bbbt s et se et 17 10,541.01 11,325.54
(i)  Trade Payables 18
(@) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 166.98 237.75
(b)  Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises... 20,825.19 18,049.59
(i) Other FINANCIAl LIaDilItIES .....cviveeceieeceieeeee ettt ettt sb e be e enas 19 21,178.94 14,208.43
Other Current Liabilities . 21 4,141.09 3,528.86
Lo €01V 1o g TP 20 1,616.45 1,395.26
Current Tax Liabilities (NMET). ..o e cieeeiiectct ettt ettt ettt et en s beben s saes s en s naeaenans 273.67 404.11
58,743.33 49,149.54
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES.......ctitititisiiiiessieeseisetssssssse s tssse s s s ssesssnasssse s sssan s sassss e snsssssssnsssnssssssess 1,63,391.57 1,37,210.91

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri
Partner
Membership No : 102527

Mumbai, 29t May, 2019

Nadir B. Godrej

M. M. Murugappan
R. K. Kulkarni
Anupam Puri
Vishakha N. Desai
Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan
Vijay Kumar Sharma

Directors

Anand G. Mahindra
Dr. Pawan Goenka
V. S. Parthasarathy

Narayan Shankar

Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29*" May, 2019



MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss | for the year ended 31+ March, 2019

Rupees crores

Note No. 2019 2018
INCOME
REVENUE TrOM OPEIALIONS ......cvieeiiciicici et 22 1,04,720.68 93,264.77
Other income 23 1,085.61 631.03
Total Income 1,05,806.29 93,895.80
EXPENSES
CoSst Of Materials CONSUMEM.......c.civiiieeeiieeceeeee ettt st e et s e e st s ae st e e st e e s be e s besessssesseseesestesesbe e sbesnsrnsnans 24 56,120.20 48,439.86
Purchases of Stock-in-Trade 5,961.90 5,017.43
Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods, Stock-in-Trade and Work-in-Progress............ccvecureeereneinenenenenns 25 (1,730.48) 83.33
Excise Duty . — 1,170.82
EMPIOYEE BENETItS EXPENSE ....vvuieiceciiicieesctees ettt 26 11,563.89 10,004.62
[T L el SN @ - 27 5,021.35 3,987.09
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense .. . 4,6 3,990.77 3,279.90
Ot NET EXPEINSES. ...ttt sttt 28 19,052.43 16,820.50
99,980.06 88,803.55
Less : AMOUNTS CaPitaliSEO. . ..c ittt 1,453.77 1,497.89
Total EXpenses...........cccocoveuvinniincnnnes 98,526.29 87,305.66
Profit before exceptional items and tax .. . 7,280.00 6,590.14
Exceptional items (Net).......ccveiereiereriieenieinieseeesee s . 29 224.32 2,628.12
Share of Profit / (Loss) of Associates and Joint Ventures (net) . 1,366.52 1,107.26
PrOFIT DEFOIE TAX ... cui ittt ittt ittt sttt et e e st et et et sbe st ebeseeheseeaeseeaesbeaeeba s ebe e ebeeeehe st ensseebesheneeb et eba e ebesesnsseens 8,870.84 10,325.52
Tax expense 1
(=T 1 A 7= T 2,350.46 2,563.61
Deferred tax.. 503.53 (195.88)
Profit for the year .... 6,016.85 7,957.79
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
A. (i) [Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
(@) Remeasurements of the defined benefit Plans..........cooiererrrice e (176.14) 123.80
(b)  Equity instruments through other comprehensive income . (8.71) (6.92)
(c)  Share of other comprehensive income / (loss) of equity accounted |nvestees ...................... (3.79) (3.37)
(i)  Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 10ss.........ccccverirrvicicnnee 11.90 3.46
B. (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
(@) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations........... (147.13) 298.19
(b) Debt instruments through other comprehensive iNCOME .........cceuiuruniuruneeineeiseeieeeeeeeeees 9.76 (0.98)
(c) Effective portion of gain / (loss) on designated portion of hedging instruments in cash
FIOW NEAGE ..ttt 26.73 (61.30)
(d) Share of other comprehensive income / (loss) of equity accounted investees.. . 13.07 37.87
(i) Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss............... . (35.42) 7.60
Total Other Comprehensive INCOME/(LOSS).........ccccuruiuercuercieisseiesicissasissessennsnas . (309.73) 398.35
Total Comprehensive INCOME fOr the YEar. ..ottt b s s s e s eaeaebenennsnaes 5,707.12 8,356.14
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,315.46 7,510.39
NON-CONEIOIIING INTEIESTS. ...vtrieecteeeeststetseeseess e sese st sesseeessesesnsesesssesessesennsesesesessesenseseseseseesesnsesasesebessesennnsssesesaeas 701.39 447.40
6,016.85 7,957.79
Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) for the year attributable to:
OWNETS OF thE COMPANY w..erieieitieiriiise ettt ettt nnnn (273.98) 319.45
INON-CONTIOIING INTEIESTS. . viueutieiitetet ittt ettt sttt ettt et et esase e se e b esesese s se et et esese e e et sbesesese e seenebesesene s esssenesannns (35.75) 78.90
(309.73) 398.35

Total Comprehensive Income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,041.48 7,829.84

Non-controlling interests 665.64 526.30
5,707.12 8,356.14

Earnings per equity share : 30

(Face value Rs. 5/- per share) (Rupees)

Basic 48.91 69.20

Diluted. 48.70 68.86

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached. Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman

For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan

Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director

Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 Anupam Puri

Directors V. S. Parthasarathy  Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO

Jamil Khatri Vishakha N. Desai
Partner Vikram Singh Mehta

Narayan Shankar Company Secretar
Membership No : 102527 T. N. Manoharan y Pany g

Mumbai, 29 May, 2019 Vijay Kumar Sharma Mumbai, 29* May, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity | for the year ended 31¢ March 2019 (contd.)

(C) Other Reserves
Particulars Capital  Capital Reserve Debenture General Reserve Statutory
Redemption Redemption reserve
Reserve Reserve
As at 1¢t April, 2017 73.69 23.52 152.30 3,012.54 720.51 3,982.56
Transfer from Retained Earnings..........cceeuneeninrcrncuninnenns — — 84.35 45.90 114.78 245.03
Allotment of bonus shares by M&M ESOP Trust to
employees — — — (0.21) — (0.21)
On account of employee stock options lapsed...........c......... — — — 0.28 — 0.28
As at 31%t March, 2018 73.69 23.52 236.65 3,058.51 835.29 4,227.66
As at 1%t April, 2018 73.69 23.52 236.65 3,058.51 835.29 4,227.66
Transfer from Retained Earnings...........coeeuveeniniecrvcunininnns - - 115.04 80.08 194.37 389.49
Transfer to Retained Earnings ........ccoceceeeeerceniennernceninnenns — — (80.62) — (0.86) (81.48)
Allotment of shares by M&M ESOP Trust to Employees...... — — — (0.04) — (0.04)
On account of employee stock options lapsed.... — — — 0.13 — 0.13
As at 31 March, 2019 73.69 23.52 271.07 3,138.68 1,028.80 4,535.76
A)  Description of the nature and purpose of Reserves
(i) Capital Reserve
Capital Reserve represents receipt of Government Grants from a package of incentive given by Maharashtra Government for setting up / extension of Plants in specified areas.
(i)  Capital Reserve on Consolidation
Gain on bargain purchase, i.e., excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the fair value of consideration in a business combination or on acquisition of interest in
associate is recognised as Capital Reserve on Consolidation.
(iij) ~ Securities Premium
Securities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The fair value of employee stock options is recognised in Securities Premium once the shares
have been allotted on exercise of the options.
(iv) General reserve
The general reserve comprises of transfer of profits from retained earnings for appropriation purposes. The reserve can be distributed / utilised by the Company in
accordance with the Companies Act, 2013.
(v) Debenture Redemption Reserve
Debenture Redemption Reserve is a Statutory Reserve (as per Companies Act, 2013) created out of profits of the Company available for payment of dividend for the purpose
of redemption of Debentures issued by the Company. On completion of redemption, the reserve is transferred to Retained Earnings.
(vi) Employee stock options outstanding Account
The Employee Stock Options Outstanding represents reserve in respect of equity settled share options granted to the Company’s employees in pursuance of the Employee
Stock Option Plan.
(vii) Statutory reserve
Statutory reserve has been created pursuant to section 45- IC of the RBI Act,1934 and section 29C of the National Housing Act, 1987.
(viii) Capital Redemption Reserve
Capital Redemption Reserve was created against redemption of preference shares.
B) Notes
a)  The Company has reduced the share capital by Rs. 12.90 crores (2018: Rs. 13.27 crores) and securities premium by Rs. 230.71 crores (2018: Rs. 254.54 crores) for the
2,58,02,706 shares of Rs. 5 each (2018: 2,65,47,211 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by the M&M ESOP Trust pending transfer to the eligible employees.
b)  The share capital of the Company has also been reduced and the general reserve increased by Nil (2018: Rs. 0.04 crores) for the Nil bonus shares of Rs. 5 each (2018: 82,548
bonus shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company in September, 2005 to the M&M ESOP Trust.
Q) The Company has also reduced the Share Capital by Rs. 25.92 crores (2018: Rs. 25.92 crores) and Retained Earnings by Rs. 1,433.85 crores (2018: Rs. 1,433.85 crores) for
5,18,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each (2018: 5,18,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by M&M Benefit Trust.
d)  The Share Capital of the Company has also been reduced and the Securities Premium increased by Rs. 38.82 crores (2018: Rs. 39.23 crores) for 2,58,02,706 bonus shares of

Rs. 5 each (2018: 2,66,29,759 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company to M&M ESOP Trust and for 5,18,35,214 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each (2018: 5,18,35,214 bonus
shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company to M&M Benefit Trust in December, 2017.

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BSR & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 Anupam Puri Directors o . .
Jamil Khatrl Vishakha N. Desai V. S. Parthasarathy  Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Partner Vikram Singh Mehta
I\/Te:nsership No : 102527 T.N. Mgnoharan Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29* May, 2019 Vijay Kumar Sharma Mumbai, 29t May, 2019



MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement | for the year ended 31+ March 2019

Rupees crores

2019 2018

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES :

Profit before exceptional itemMS AN taX......cccceiieiririeieiecesers st 7,280.00 6,590.14
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortiSation EXPENSES.........ccururururiririreereieieieeresesesesese et ssese s bbb s e eae st ee e s seeseaes 3,990.77 3,279.90
Loss / (Gain) on foreign exchange fluCtuation (NEt).......c.ooeceueiriririnnrere e (34.22) 91.76
Dividend and interest income [excluding Rs. 9,962.80 crores (2018: Rs. 8,353.21 crores) in respect of
FINANCIAL SEIVICES DUSINESS] ....veviveecteeeeeeete ettt ettt ettt st a ettt e et e s et e s seesestesseeese st ete s etenesteneaseneanas (509.87) (402.99)
Interest, commitment and finance charges [excluding Rs. 4,386.16 crores (2018: Rs. 3,409.89 crores)
in respect of financial SErVICES DUSINESS]......c. ittt en 635.19 577.20
Share-based PaYMENt EXPENSES .......cvvirrrieerriereeeie st es 143.04 112.00
Net Gain 0N fINANCIAL INSTIUMENTS. .....c.vieeeeece ettt e s s be b sb e st e st st s e e e st s s ssesresrearas (408.88) (99.43)
Loss on property, plant and equipment sold / scrapped / written off (Net).....c.cooeeeeerrrninniicccenrenee 16.31 10.45
3,832.34 3,568.89
Operating Profit before working capital Changes...........ccciurriirinr e 11,112.34 10,159.03
Changes in :
Trade aNd Other FECEIVADIES.......ccei ettt et e st st e st et et s st e e s e s aeesesresrnenas (340.76) (2,065.91)
FINANCial SErVICES FECEIVADIE. ... ..t ettt st e st ee st e ste st et et s e s e ssesneeneans (13,370.94) (9,852.00)
T0 V=T 0 oYL= (2,276.20) (256.32)
Trade and Other PAYADIES.........c.oiiiiii bbbt 3,465.67 5,360.93
(12,522.23) (6,813.30)
Cash (used in) / generated from OPEratioNns ..ot (1,409.89) 3,345.73
Income taxes paid (NE OF FEFUNDS)....ciiiiiiieieiei bbb (2,937.40) (2,663.87)
Net cash flow from operating actiVities ............cccoeeiiiiiiiiceic e (4,347.29) 681.86
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES :
Payment to acquire property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets.........cccoovrrieiinnnncecienne (7,340.01) (5,905.78)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets ...........cccccerrriveeriennenenes 141.54 114.72
Payment tO aCqUIrE INVESTMENTS .........oioiieririeieieererececeeeeeee ettt seseass et es e e e e st s e s e s ae e e sesenesesesnenenen (1,96,473.58)  (1,55,158.64)
Proceeds from Sale Of INVESTMENTS.......c.ccuieieeecece ettt sbe st e st staste st st st e s s e ebessesrnanaas 1,95,897.54 1,54,630.80
INTEIEST TECEIVEM. ...ttt b bbb s bbb bbb e ettt e s 314.37 253.62
Dividends received from Joint ventures and ASSOCIATES...........ccrururiririririciiieieersere e 444.60 301.52
Dividends received fromM OtNEIS............ciiiiiic bbbt 21.09 14.76
Bank DEPOSItS PIACEE ....vviieiiiiirie ettt ettt bbbttt ne e (2,751.76) (2,180.56)
Bank DEPOSIts MATUIET ......cuiiiiiirieieieris bbb b e bttt be e 2,250.65 1,932.95
Net change in Earmarked and Margin aCCOUNt..........cociiiririririeci et (69.99) (43.10)
Purchase of Investment in JOint ventures and ASSOCIATES........cccveveeeeeeeeeeereeeereee et re e es e e eesenes (319.38) (703.98)
Purchase consideration paid on acquisition of Subsidiaries net of cash acquired .........cccoeeeeieriirsceinnne 4.97 (400.77)
Consideration received on disposal of Joint ventures and ASSOCIATES.......cccvvuvveverereereririsereeseeee s e 711.79 1,676.53
Net cash used in INVESING ACtIVITIES ...........ooiiieiuiiir e (7,168.17) (5,467.93)
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Cash Flow Statement (contd.)

Rupees crores

2019 2018

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES :
Proceeds from Issue of Shares to Employees by ESOP TrUSt........cocureieerricireeeeenieeneeiesseeseeeies e eeseseees 1.00 4.41
ProCeedS frOM DOITOWINGS ...c.cucueeieeririccicie ettt s e st e e s et b e s e e e e sen b et s e eaen 71,389.41 66,819.38
REPAYMENTS OF DOITOWINGS ....eereireeeirireieereeereeie sttt s et s ettt esnnnesen (56,573.82) (60,213.53)
Net change in Loans repayable on demand and cash credit .........ccoovriiirnnnscceee s 221.82 (144.52)
Dividends paid (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon).........ccccerrrreieiiinnnnceccsree e (937.46) (845.73)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon).................... (196.06) (117.63)
Proceeds from issue of shares to NoN-controlling iNErest ..........cocerrrrriiereer s 11.98 1,333.05
Interest, Commitment and Finance charges Paid.........ccoicreinnrrceceises e en (723.24) (520.93)
Net cash flow from financing actiVities ............cccruirrinii e 13,193.63 6,314.50
Net increase in cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS .............cccooiiiiiicii s 1,678.17 1,528.43
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the Year ... 4,466.63 2,937.49
Unrealised gain / (loss) on foreign currency cash and cash equivalents...........ccovereeenicrnncenencsneeens (5.80) 0.71
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year...........ccooiiii e 6,139.00 4,466.63
Supplementary information:
Non-Cash transactions
Issue of equity shares as consideration to non-controlling interest in the Scheme of Arrangement............ — 0.25

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2019

The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 - Statement of Cash Flow.

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In terms of our report attached. Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman

For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan

Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director

Firm Registration o- 1072481100022 . P Puri Directors V. S. Parthasarathy  Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO

Jamil Khatri Vishakha N. Desai T

llzlfgml?;rship No : 102527 Vikr-:.mN.Sil\r’\lg:ol\:::r:: Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29* May, 2019 Vijay Kumar Sharma Mumbai, 29* May, 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements | for the year ended 31 March 2019

1.

General information

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (‘the Company’) is a limited company incorporated in India. The address of its registered office and principal
activities of the Company are disclosed in the introduction to the Annual Report.

The Ordinary (Equity) shares of the Company are listed on the National Stock Exchange (“NSE”) and the Bombay Stock Exchange (“BSE") in
India. The Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) (underlying equity shares) of the Company are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and
also admitted for trading on International Order Book (IOB) of London Stock Exchange.

Significant Accounting Policies:
(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation and presentation

These consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’ or ‘Mahindra Group’) have
been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as
amended and notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 29* May, 2019.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values.

(c) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis from the date the control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the Group. Changes in the Group’s interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
Any excess of fair value of consideration received over carrying amount of the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, is recognised as gain or loss in Statement of Profit and Loss. Additionally components of Other Comprehensive Income of
Subsidiaries are reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss or transferred directly to retained earnings.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. These financial statements are
prepared by applying uniform accounting policies in use at the Group.
Associates
Associates are the entities over which the Group has significant influence. Investment in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
Joint Arrangements
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are accounted using the equity method of accounting. Where the
Group's activities are conducted through joint operations (i.e. the parties have rights to the assets and obligation for liabilities relating
to the arrangement), the Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of such joint operations incurred jointly
along with its share of income from the sale of output.

(d) Measurement of fair values

A number of Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities. The Group has established policies and procedures with respect to the measurement of fair values.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
— Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
— Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

(e)

()

(9)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with Ind AS which requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions, that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses at
the date of these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of financial statements, which may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, is in respect of useful lives of property, plant and equipment, other
intangible assets, provision for product warranty, fair value of financial assets / liabilities and impairment of investments and goodwiill.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
(i)  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
The Group reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at the end of each reporting
period. This re-assessment may result in change in depreciation and amortisation expense in future periods.
(ii) Provision for product warranties
The Group recognises provision for warranties in respect of the products that it sells. Provisions are discounted, where necessary, to
its present value based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.
(iii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities and investments
The Group measures certain financial assets and liabilities on fair value basis at each balance sheet date or at the time they are
assessed for impairment. Fair value measurement that are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) requires estimates
of operating margin, discount rate, future growth rate, terminal values, etc. based on management’s best estimate about future
developments.
(iv) Impairment of goodwill
The Group estimates the value in use of the cash generating unit (CGU) based on the future cash flows after considering current
economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results and growth rate and anticipated future economic and regulatory
conditions. The estimated cash flows are developed using internal forecasts. The discount rate used for the CGUs represent the
weighted average cost of capital based on historical market returns of comparable companies.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment, if any.
Cost includes financing cost relating to borrowed funds attributable to the construction or acquisition of qualifying tangible assets upto
the date the assets are ready for use.
Depreciation is provided on straight-line basis for property, plant and equipment so as to expense the depreciable amount, i.e. the cost
less estimated residual value, over its estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and the
effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis.
When an asset is scrapped or otherwise disposed off, the cost and related depreciation are removed from the books of account and
resultant profit or loss, if any, is reflected in profit or loss.
The management'’s estimate of useful lives are in accordance with Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013, other than the following asset
classes, based on the Group’s expected usage pattern supported by technical assessment:

Asset Class Useful lives
(i) Plant and equipment 2-25 years
(i) Buildings, including roads 3-60 years
(iii) Vehicles 2-10 years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is initially recognised as the excess of consideration paid and acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable net assets
of acquired business. Subsequent to initial measurement, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment, if any. Goodwill is
allocated to the cash-generating unit which is expected to benefit from the business combination.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost except those acquired in a business combination.
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortised on a straight line basis so as to reflect the
pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed.
Intangible assets under development
The Group expenses costs incurred during research phase to profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. Development phase
expenses are initially recognised as intangible assets under development until the development phase is complete, upon which the
amount is capitalised as intangible asset.
Intangible assets acquired under business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value
on the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets

Technical Knowhow

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit, commencing with the year of purchase of the technology.

Development Expenditure

The expenditure incurred on technical services and other project/product related expenses are amortised over the estimated period of
benefit, not exceeding five years.

License fee

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the period of relevant licence fee or the estimated period of benefit, whichever is lower.
Software Expenditure

The expenditure incurred is amortised over three financial years equally commencing from the year in which the expenditure is incurred.
Others

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit.

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed annually and changes in expected useful lives are
treated as changes in estimates.

(h) Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell, of the asset or cash-generating unit, as the case may be, is estimated and
impairment loss (if any) is recognised and the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) earlier. Impairment loss recognised in
profit or loss are presented as part of ‘other expenses'.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(i) Inventories
Inventories comprise cost of purchase, conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.
Raw materials and bought out components are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of the
weighted average method.
Finished goods produced and purchased for sale, manufactured components and work-in-progress are carried at cost or net realisable
value whichever is lower.

Stores, spares and tools other than obsolete and slow moving items are carried at cost. Obsolete and slow moving items are valued at
cost or estimated net realisable value, whichever is lower.
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Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

@

(k)

Foreign exchange transactions and translation

The functional currency of the Company and its Indian subsidiaries is Indian Rupees whereas the functional currency of foreign subsidiaries
is the currency of their countries of domicile.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency using exchange rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer policy on Derivative
Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting).

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated into Indian Rupees using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.”

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending
on their respective classification.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at -

— Amortised cost; or

—  Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) - debt investment; or

—  Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) - equity investment; or

— Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The classification of debt instrument as amortised cost or FVTOCI is based on the business model and cash flow characteristics of such
instrument.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

All financial asset not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial
assets unless designated as effective hedge instruments which are accounted as per hedge accounting requirements discussed below.
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain and loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Debt investment at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income under effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On derecognition,
gains and losses accumulated in OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

For equity investments, the Group makes an election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate equity investments as measured
at FVTOCI. These elected investments are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the reserves. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the investments. These investments in equity are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic
purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Group has chosen to designate these investments as at FVTOCI as the Group believes
that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, than reflecting changes in fair value
immediately in profit or loss. Dividend income received on such equity investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments that are not designated as measured at FVTOCI are designated as measured at FVTPL and subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group is recognised at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as
held-for-trading or it is a derivative (that does not meet hedge accounting requirements) or it is designated as such on initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Compound instruments

An issued financial instrument that comprises of both the liability and equity components are accounted as compound financial
instruments. The fair value of the liability component is separated from the compound instrument and the residual value is recognised
as equity component of other financial instrument. The liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost, whereas the
equity component is not remeasured after initial recognition. The transaction costs related to compound instruments are allocated to
the liability and equity components in the proportion to the allocation of gross proceeds. Transaction costs related to equity component
is recognised directly in equity and the cost related to liability component is included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and amortised using effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows from financial asset in a manner that substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset are transferred to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for the amount it may have to pay.

If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially all
of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised and the proceeds received are recognised
as a collateralised borrowing.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

(U]

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated

as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

e the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and

e the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the
principles of Ind AS 115.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps, to manage
its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial
assets within the scope of Ind AS 109 are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and economic characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedging relationship and the nature of the hedged item.

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value
hedges or cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in fair value of the designated portion of derivatives that qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity relating to (effective portion as described
above) are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement of profit and loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets. With respect to trade receivables,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. 12 month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt
securities at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue Recognition

The Group has adopted Ind AS 115 using the modified retrospective approach (cumulative effect at the date of application) with effect
from initially applying this standard form 1 April 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for previous year ended 31 March 2018
has not been restated.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)
Sales of goods

The Group recognises revenue from sale of goods measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, upon satisfaction
of performance obligation which is at point in time when control of goods is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods. Depending on the terms of the contract which differ from contract to contract, the goods are sold on reasonable credit term.
As per the terms of the contract, consideration that is variable, according to Ind As 115, is estimated at contract inception and update
thereafter at each reporting date or until crystallisation of the amount.

Sale of services

Sale of services are recognized on satisfaction of performance obligation towards rendering of such services.

Dividend and interest income

Dividend from investments are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the
amount of income can be measured reliably.

Income from financing business

Interest income is recognised in Statement of profit and loss using the effective interest method for all financial instruments measured
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI and debt instruments designated at FVTPL.

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is recorded
as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet with an increase or reduction in interest
income. The adjustment is subsequently amortised through interest income in the Statement of profit and loss.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the net
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the Group reverts to calculating interest
income on a gross basis.

Additional interest and interest on trade advances, are recognised when they become measurable and when it is not unreasonable to
expect their ultimate collection.

Income from bill discounting is recognised over the tenure of the instrument so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return.

Fee and commission income

Fee based income are recognised when they become measurable and when it is probable to expect their ultimate collection.
Commission and brokerage income earned for the services rendered are recognised as and when they are due.

Long term construction contracts and property development activity

Some of the Group companies are in the business to develop and sell residential and commercial properties. Revenue from such contracts
is recognised when control over the property has been transferred to the customer. An enforceable right to payment does not arise until
the development of the property is completed. Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the legal title has passed to the
customer and the development of the property is completed. The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract.
For certain contracts involving the sale of property under development, deferred payment schemes are offered to the customers. The
transaction price is adjusted for the effects of the significant financing component.

Income from Sale of land and other rights

Revenue from sale of land and other rights are considered upon transfer of all significant risks and rewards of ownership of such real
estate/property as per the terms of the contract entered into with the buyers, which generally with the firmity of the sale contracts/
agreements. The determination of transfer of control did not change upon the adoption of Ind AS 115.

Income from Project Management

Project management fees receivable on fixed period contracts is accounted over the tenure of the contract/agreement. Where the fee is
linked to the input costs, revenue is recognised as a proportion of the work completed based on progress claims submitted. Where the
management fee is linked to the revenue generation from the project, revenue is recognised on the percentage of completion basis. The
determination of transfer of control did not change upon the adoption of Ind AS 115.

Land Lease Premium

Land lease premium is recognized as income upon creation of leasehold rights in favour of the lessee or upon an agreement to create
leasehold rights with handing over of possession. Property lease rentals, income from operation & maintenance charges and water
charges are recognized on an accrual basis as per terms of the agreement with the lessees.
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Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

(m)

(n)

Vacation ownership

Under the vacation ownership, holiday facilities are provided to members for a specified period each year, over a number of years, for
which membership fee is collected either in full upfront, or on a deferred payment basis.

Revenue from sale of vacation ownership weeks is recognised when related right to use the specific property over the specific week(s) is
transferred to the buyer for a consideration.

Income from sale of vacation ownership weeks in villas is recognized when the outcome of a villa project can be estimated reliably.
Project revenue and contract costs associated with the contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the
percentage of completion of the project activity at the reporting date.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense in profit
or loss in the period in which such probability occurs.
Revenue from Membership fees

Revenue for membership fees are recognised over the tenure of membership as the performance obligation is fulfilled. The revenue
which will be recognised in future periods are disclosed under Contract Liability.

Non refundable admission fee is recognised as income on admission of a member.

Entitlement fee, which entitles the members the vacation ownership facilities over the agreed membership period, are recognized as
income equally over the tenure of membership, commencing from the year of admission and disclosed under Contract Liability.
Revenue from Annual subscription fees

Annual subscription fee dues from members are recognized as income on accrual basis and fees pertaining to the period beyond the year
end is disclosed under Contract Liability.

Interest income on deferred payment plans

In case of deferred payment plans wherein significant financing components exists in a contract, interest income or expense is recongised
over the financing period using the Effective Interest Method.

Government Grants

The Group, directly or indirectly through a consortium of group companies, is entitled to various incentives from government authorities
in respect of manufacturing units located in developing regions. The Group accounts for its entitlement as income on accrual basis.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Company recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

The benefit of a government loan at a below market-rate of interest is treated as government grant and is measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates at the inception of the loan.

Employee Benefits
Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund

The Group's contribution paid / payable during the year to Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund are recognised in profit
or loss.

Provident Fund

Contributions to Provident Fund are made to Trusts administered by the Group/Regional Provident Fund Commissioners and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The Group is liable for the contribution and any shortfall in interest between the amount of interest
realised by the investments and the interest payable to members at the rate declared by the Government of India in respect of the Trust
administered by the Group companies.

Long term Compensated Absences
The liability towards long term compensated absences are determined by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
Gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes

The liability towards gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes are determined by
independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. Past services are recognised at the earlier of the plan amendment/
curtailment and the recognition of related restructuring costs / termination benefits.

The obligation on long term compensated absences and other defined benefit plan are measured at the present value of estimated
future cash flows using a discount rate that is determined by reference to the market yields at the balance sheet date on government
bonds (high quality corporate bonds in case of foreign companies) where the currency and terms of the government bonds are consistent
with the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit obligation.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)
Remeasurement gains/losses

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans, comprising of actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets excluding interest income are
recognised immediately in balance sheet with corresponding debit or credit to other comprehensive income. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.

Remeasurement gains or losses on long term compensated absences that are classified as other long term benefits are recognised in
profit or loss.

Share based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity.

Share appreciation rights which are cash settled share-based payments are recognised as employee benefit expense over the relevant
service period. The liabilities are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.

(o) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Interest income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(p) Income taxes
Current tax

Current tax is determined as the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year. The Group's current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values
of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences could be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in accordance with the tax laws, which gives future economic
benefits in the form of adjustment to future income tax liability, is considered as an asset if there is probable evidence that the Group
will pay normal income tax against which the MAT paid will be adjusted. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

(q) Provisions

(r)

(s)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised
as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When provision is measured using the cash flow estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of these cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognised at the time of sale of the relevant products, at the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At the end of
the subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with Ind AS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with Ind AS 18 - Revenue.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Certain arrangements convey a right to use an asset in return for a payment or series of payments. At inception of the arrangement,
the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease and separates the consideration into those for the lease and
those for other elements. The lease component is accounted as per Group's accounting policy on leasing transactions.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Where the
rentals are structured solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the Group’s expected inflationary cost
increases, such increases are recognised in the year in which such benefits accrue. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance
with the Group's general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred.

Rental expense from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Where the
rentals are structured solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary
cost increases, such increases are recognised in the year in which such benefits accrue to the lessor.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for its business combinations under acquisition method of accounting. The acquiree’s identifiable assets including
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the condition for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is recognised as goodwill.

Before recognising capital reserve in respect thereof, the Group determines whether there exists clear evidence of underlying reasons
for classifying the business combination as a bargain purchase. Thereafter, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and recognises any additional asset or liabilities that are identified in
that reassessment. The Group then reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts that Ind AS requires for the purposes of
calculating the bargain purchase. If the gain remains after this reassessment and review, the Group recognises it directly in equity as
capital reserve.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies: (contd.)

Non-controlling interest is initially measured at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition by acquisition basis. Subsequent to initial acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interest is the amount of those interest in initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity of subsidiaries.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting in a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as a part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments, are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill or capital reserve as
the case may be.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amount for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amount are adjusted during
the measurement period (which cannotexceed oneyear fromthe acquisition date), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, toreflect
new information obtained about factsand circumstancesthat existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amount
recognised at that date.

In consolidated financial statements, acquisition of non-controlling interest is accounted as equity transaction. The carrying amount of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business Combination under common control are accounted as per Appendix C in Ind AS 103 - Business combinations, at carrying
amount of assets and liabilities acquired and any excess of consideration issued over the net assets acquired is recognised as capital
reserve on common control business combination.

(t) Acquisition of interest in associate and joint ventures

Acquisition of interest in an associate or a joint venture, is initially recognised at cost. Any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is regarded as goodwill, which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised in equity as capital reserve in the period in which the investment is acquired.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
Standards issued but not yet effective:

In March 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendments) Rules, 2019 and Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) (Second Amendment) Rules, 2019 notifying Ind AS 116 - ‘Leases’ and making amendments to various other Ind
AS standards viz. Ind AS 12 - 'Income Taxes’, Ind AS 19 - ‘Employee benefits’, Ind AS 23 - ‘Borrowing Cost’, Ind AS 28 - ‘Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures’, Ind AS 111 - Joint Arrangements’, Ind AS 103 - ‘Business Combinations’ and Ind AS 109 - ‘Financial Instruments’. These
amendments are in accordance with the recent amendments made by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The amendments are
effective from accounting periods beginning from 1t April, 2019.

Ind AS 116 - ‘Leases”:

This standard will supersede Ind AS 17 ‘Leases’. It abolishes for lessees the previous classification of leasing agreements as either operating or
finance leases. Instead, Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets for right to use assets and
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. This means that leases which were previously not reported in the Balance
Sheet will have to be reported in subsequent reporting periods. The depreciation expense will include amortisation of right to use asset and
finance costs will include interest expense on lease liability. Ind AS 116 also provides exception from recognition of right to use asset and lease
liability where lease term is less than 12 months or leases for which underlying asset is of low value. In such cases, lease payments are recognised
as an expense over lease term on straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is representative of time pattern of the user's benefit.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of application of Ind AS 116 on the consolidated financial statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements: (contd.)
Amendments to Ind AS 12 - ‘Income Taxes":

The amendment relating to income tax consequences of dividend clarifies that an entity shall recognise the income tax consequences of
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognised those past transactions
or events. Further, the amendment to Appendix C specifies that when an entity is uncertain how tax laws apply to a particular transaction
or circumstance until the relevant tax authorities or a court takes a decision in future and it is not probable that taxation authorities
may accept entity’s tax position the entity is required to estimate effect of such uncertain position on income tax and deferred tax.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of application of these amendments made to Ind AS 12 on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to Ind AS 19 - ‘Employee Benefits':

The amendment clarifies that if a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs, it is mandatory that the current service cost and the net
interest for the period after the re-measurement are determined using the assumptions used for the re-measurement. In addition, amendment
has been included to clarify the effect of a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement on the requirements regarding the asset ceiling.
The amendment does not have significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 23 - ‘Borrowing Cost’:

The amendment clarifies borrowing costs related to specific borrowings that remain outstanding after the related qualifying
asset is ready for intended use or sale should subsequently be considered as part of general borrowing costs of an entity.
The amendment does not have significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 28 - ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”:

The amendment specifies that entity shall apply Ind AS 109 before applying Ind AS 28 to long term interests in associates
and joint ventures that form part of net investment in associate and joint venture but to which equity method is not applied.
The amendment does not have material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to Ind AS 103 - ‘Business Combination and Ind AS 111 Joint Arrangements’:

The amendment to Ind AS 103 relating to re-measurement clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation,
then the entity considers such an acquisition as a business combination achieved in stages and accounts for it accordingly i.e., it re-measures
previously held interests in that business.

The amendment to Ind AS 111 clarifies that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not
re-measure previously held interests in that business.

The amendments does not have material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to Ind AS 109 - ‘Financial instruments’:

The amendment relate to the existing requirements in Ind AS 109 regarding termination rights in order to allow measurement at amortised cost
(or, depending on the business model, at fair value through other comprehensive income) even in the case of negative compensation payments.
The amendments does not have any significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (contd.)

The above carrying amounts of Property, Plant and Equipment includes following assets given on operating lease :
Rupees crores

Description of Assets Buildings - Batteries Vehicles Total
Freehold

As at 31 March, 2019

LG0T PSP 21.99 17.42 11.53 50.94
Accumulated depreciation and impairment..........c.cooccceeeeeeececieeeereenns (7.28) (8.44) (0.46) (16.18)
Net Carrying @amOUNT ......c.ccuiuiiiiieieieee et 14.71 8.98 11.07 34.76
As at 315 March, 2018..........c.cocoiie s

L0 L TSP SS R RPR S TRRN 21.99 19.87 0.77 42.63
Accumulated depreciation and impairment........cccovveveeeierererseeeeseene (6.33) (7.92) (0.01) (14.26)
Net carrying @amouNT ... 15.66 11.95 0.76 28.37
Goodwill

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Balance at the beginning Of the YEaT ... 2,159.67 558.61
AdItIONS UING the YA ..i ittt bttt bbbt b s e e s — 1,593.96
IMPAITMENT AUMING thE YEAT ...ttt (49.86) —
Foreign exchange translation differenCe..... ..o s (36.21) 7.10
Balance at the end Of the YEAK ...ttt 2,073.60 2,159.67

Segment wise allocation of Goodwill

Goodwill is monitored by the management at the level of operating segments as described in Note 38. The carrying amount of goodwill has
been allocated to segments as below:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
AUTOMOTIVE. ...t b b st E e e et e et ren e 32.78 54.79
FarM EQUIPIMENT. ...t 129.39 167.67
FINANCIAI SEIVICES. .. ettt 1.34 1.34
REAI ESTATE ...t 103.59 103.59
[ LT o1 | L1 ZOOOTSOEFTOSOSTRTTTRSRR 111.19 110.87
OIS ettt ettt ettt et et et e e et e eaeebeeheebe et e beebete st enseaseas e At eAeeheehe et e ebeeheabetetansenteneenseseeneereeteeaeatanee 1,695.31 1,721.41

TOTAL ..o 2,073.60 2,159.67
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Other Intangible Assets
Rupees crores

Development Computer Brand License Others Total
Expenditure Software & Trademarks

COST
Balance as at 15t April, 2017 ... 3,192.67 562.14 163.39 176.44 4,094.64
AITIONS ..o 1,643.47 82.54 2.51 59.28 1,787.80
Acquisitions through business combinations ................... 12.33 2.93 — 183.96 199.22
Foreign exchange translation differences ..........cccococuenee 48.23 12.54 3.01 473 68.51
DEAUCIONS ...ttt (9.19) (9.34) — (3.62) (22.15)
Other AdJUStMENTS......c.cuvuriririicceiee e — — — (27.08) (27.08)
Balance as at 315 March, 2018..............cccoovenninnicinnnne 4,887.51 650.81 168.91 393.71 6,100.94
Balance as at 15t April, 2018 ..........cccccevrirnicricereeienes 4,887.51 650.81 168.91 393.71 6,100.94
AITIONS ..t 2,651.30 105.30 2.72 2.19 2,761.51
Foreign exchange translation differences............cccc........ 2.22 (1.33) (0.52) (19.91) (19.54)
DEAUCIONS ...t (89.86) (20.50) = (15.09) (125.45)
Balance as at 31t March, 2019..............cccoevieiivinnicnninne 7,451.17 734.28 171.11 360.90 8,717.46
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance as at 15t April, 2017 ..o 1,403.66 431.61 17.33 118.61 1,971.21
Amortisation expense for the year ........cccocoeoeoerrnnenen. 778.80 76.13 9.26 19.05 883.24
Foreign exchange translation differences..........cccooueuueee 35.90 25.21 1.1 0.73 62.95
[DT=Te (U T 4T o LU (8.86) (9.32) — (0.02) (18.20)
Balance as at 315t March, 2018............cccceoevnnnccrcrcnnnne 2,209.50 523.63 27.70 138.37 2,899.20
Balance as at 15t April, 2018 ..........c.ccccvirnicncerecenes 2,209.50 523.63 27.70 138.37 2,899.20
Amortisation expense for the year .........cccooovvnnnieines 1,139.89 95.67 9.90 34.24 1,279.70
Foreign exchange translation differences.............ccccc...... (14.85) (2.52) (0.32) (0.27) (17.96)
DEAUCHIONS....cueeeiiseecet et (89.86) (20.50) — (15.09) (125.45)
Balance as at 315t March, 2019...........cccccoovninnnccccennnne 3,244.68 596.28 37.28 157.25 4,035.49
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
Net carrying amount as at 31t March, 2018.................... 2,678.01 127.18 141.21 255.34 3,201.74
Net carrying amount as at 31t March, 2019.................... 4,206.49 138.00 133.83 203.65 4,681.97
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Investments
A. Non-Current Investments

CORPORATE BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY

GOVERNANCE REPORT

a) Measured as per equity accounting method

STANDALONE

ACCOUNTS

CONSOLIDATED

ACCOUNTS

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Quoted
Investments in Equity Instruments
e LI YoYU T (=TT 8,100.25 6,878.46
[ OO U OSSN 8,100.25 6,878.46
Unquoted
Investments in Equity Instruments
B LB XY Yol = | (=L OO 1,383.50  1,403.89
B LU0 L0110 ARYZ=Y 0N (T =SSO 1,307.19  1,139.10
TOTAL ..ot R AR b bbb 2,690.69  2,542.99
Investments measured as per equity accounting Method ... 10,790.94  9,421.45

# During March 2019, the Company tendered 47,00,013 equity shares of Tech Mahindra Limited in the share buy-back scheme at Rs. 950 per

equity share.
* Refer Note 36

b) Measured as per other than equity accounting method

Rupees crores

Particulars Amortised Cost
2019 2018
Quoted
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures
[ BONGS .. 25.00 62.00 — — — — 25.00 62.00
Investments in Government Securities..... 664.42 709.45 — — — — 664.42 709.45
Investments in Equity Instruments........... — — 237.31 6.89 — — 237.31 6.89
Investments in Mutual Funds.................... — — — — 6.98 5.01 6.98 5.01
689.42 771.45 237.31 6.89 6.98 5.01 933.71 783.35
Unquoted
Investments in Preference Shares
— of Associates * ....... 4.4 2.61 — — — — 4.4 2.61
— of Joint ventures * 8.08 8.08 — — — — 8.08 8.08
— of Other entities.......cccccevvvvvcecinnnns 13.78 10.15 — — — — 13.78 10.15
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures
/ Bonds — —
— of Joint ventures *.......c.cccoceeveveerenenne 316.23 367.82 — — — — 316.23 367.82
— of Other entities.......ccooeevveerrccreinnns 6.38 0.04 — — — — 6.38 0.04
Investments in Certificate of Deposits...... — — 10.89 — — — 10.89 —
Investments in  Alternate Investment
FUN Lt — — — — 3.90 2.31 3.90 2.31
Investments in Equity Instruments............ — — 58.55 63.10 14.01 8.63 72.56 71.73
348.88 388.70 69.44 63.10 17.91 10.94 436.23 462.74
Total ..o 1,038.30 | 1,160.15 306.75 69.99 24.89 15.95 | 1,369.94 | 1,246.09
Rupees crores
Other Disclosures : 2019 2018
Aggregate amount of quoted INVESTMENTS (GrOSS) ............ccciiurrierrienireree s 9,033.96 7,661.81
Market Value of qUOted INVESTMENTS............ccouiuiiiiiiiceee et nns 24,246.56 21,635.36
Aggregate amount of unquoted iINVEStMENTS (GrOSS)...............cevierriciririieirieieereice sttt 3,126.92 3,005.73

* Refer Note 36



MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Investments (contd.)
B. Current Investments

Rupees crores

Particulars Amortised Cost FVTOCI
2019 2018 2019 2018
Quoted
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures
J BONAS ..ot 37.00 102.75 — — — — 37.00 102.75
Investments in Debentures / Bonds.......... — — 56.22 147.13 104.32 105.67 160.54 252.80
Investments in Equity Instruments............ — — 0.01 0.01 — — 0.01 0.01
Investments in Government Securities..... 44.80 — = — = — 44.80 —
Investments in Mutual Funds.................... — — — — | 3,543.07 | 3,558.36 | 3,543.07 | 3,558.36
81.80 102.75 56.23 147.14 | 3,647.39 | 3,664.03 | 3,785.42 | 3,913.92
Unquoted
Investments in Certificate of Deposits..... 204.39 0.32 481.93 641.24 469.10 — | 1,155.42 641.56
Investments in Corporate Fixed Deposits ... 200.00 400.00 — — — — 200.00 400.00
Investments in Commercial paper............ 268.34 300.51 107.34 93.99 590.70 — 966.38 394.50
Investments in Equity Instruments........... — — — 0.09 — — — 0.09
672.73 700.83 589.27 73532 | 1,059.80 — | 2,321.80 | 1,436.15
Total ..o 754.53 803.58 645.50 882.46 | 4,707.19 | 3,664.03 | 6,107.22 | 5,350.07

Rupees crores

Other disclosures : 2019 2018
Aggregate amount of qUOted INVESTMENTS .............cccruiiiiiiiii e 3,785.42 3,913.92
Market value of qUOTEd INVESTMENTS...........cccvviueuiieiicccce et bbbt ee 3,785.42 3,913.92
Aggregate amount of UNQUOtEd INVESTMENTS...........cooiieviiiriicrec s 2,321.80 1,436.15

Trade Receivables

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019 2019

Secured, considered good...........cocurrrririiicieieer e 7.90 10.16 699.39 641.18
Unsecured, considered good .........ccoveereieerniserneesesseseseesesesessessessseens 606.62 503.68 8,591.12 7,848.64
DOUBTIUL 1.ttt 11.20 1.42 249.59 182.00

625.72 515.26 9,540.10 8,671.82
Less: Allowance for Expected Credit LOSSES. .......ouurererrieerrecinmneseeresieeneens 11.20 1.42 249.59 182.00
TOTAL .. 614.52 513.84 9,290.51 8,489.82

Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of trade receivables under expected credit loss model and related
disclosures.
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Loans

Particulars

COMPANY BOARD'S MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION CORPORATE BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY

ACCOUNTS

Non Current

2019

STANDALONE CONSOLIDATED

ACCOUNTS

Rupees crores

Current

2019

a) Security Deposits
— Unsecured, considered good..........cerrerneieerneenmneernesssessennsenns 285.62 275.55 104.56 110.73
L0 11 <1 111 OO 0.46 0.53 0.04 0.26
286.08 276.08 104.60 110.99
Less: Allowance for doubtful Security Deposits.........cccvrerrrericucenene 0.46 0.53 0.04 0.26
TOTAl (@) rvvieeeeierete et 285.62 275.55 104.56 110.73
b) Loans to related parties
— Unsecured, considered good.........coeeiinirrnneenensnsise s 40.74 46.32 — 76.44
— DOUBLTUL vt 17.00 10.00 — —
57.74 56.32 — 76.44
Less: Allowance for doubtful 10ans.........ccccoeveecciicevsceccececc 17.00 10.00 — —
Lo =1 I (o) ISR 40.74 46.32 — 76.44
c¢) Other Loans
— Secured, considered good ... 0.50 1.98 26.33 21.36
— Unsecured, considered good.........cccerrrriieennnsneeeeseeeees 181.82 197.58 172.18 455.56
— DOUBLTUL ettt 9.81 7.54 13.69 15.14
192.13 207.10 212.20 492.06
Less: Allowance for doubtful [0ans..........cccceevivevcicercieieeeecee e 9.81 7.54 13.69 15.14
TOTAI (©) crrvevereriieeere ettt 182.32 199.56 198.51 476.92
d) Financial Services receivable #
— Secured, considered good....... .o 35,916.78 27,835.44 20,123.07 16,645.89
— Unsecured, considered good.........cccerrrnineceinnsnseneeeeeieenees 41.42 28.65 2,509.91 1,725.18
— Significant increase in credit risk.........covceeennrcceeens 3,520.68 3,312.77 3,316.35 3,261.57
— Credit IMPAIFEd ... 1,497.74 1,455.31 3,614.69 4,012.27
40,976.62 32,632.17 29,564.02 25,644.91
Less: Allowance for doubtful loans.... 970.30 1,739.17 1,245.03 1,583.54
TOTAl (d) vttt es 40,006.32 30,893.00 28,318.99 24,061.37
Total (2)+(D)+(C)#(d) .vevireriiriererereeeee e 40,515.00 31,414.43 28,622.06 24,725.46

# Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of financial services receivables under expected credit loss model and related

disclosures.
Other Financial Assets

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019 2019

Financial assets at amortised cost

BaNK EPOSIT......ceveeiececiicreece e 138.58 86.04 = —
SECUNTY HEPOSIT.....vreererciereieecie et 61.87 35.29 31.97 26.73
Interest accrued on investment, other 10ans........ccccccveeeieveeeceeceee e — — 306.73 245.49
Government grant receivable ... 416.78 153.57 104.61 587.29
(011 =TT — — 356.32 383.90
Financial Assets at Fair Value ..o

Derivative financial assets 211.74 237.53 91.81 12.37
1L - TSRS 828.97 512.43 891.44 1,255.78
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Current Tax and Deferred Tax

a)

b)

(4]

Income Tax recognised in profit or loss

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Current Tax

IN TESPECE OF CUMTENT YEAI ..ttt ne e 2,740.64 2,576.38
IN TESPECE OF PrIOT YEAIS ....ieiviiieeteteteieiiee ettt ettt s e bbbt e et s et e s an e esnsesesnas (390.18) (12.77)
TOTAl CUITENT TAX.....cue ittt ettt ettt ettt et e et e beetesteetesae st e e e e e seeseeaeeseebeebeebesaeetansetensensensensensesenseases 2,350.46 2,563.61
Deferred Tax

In respect of current year origination and reversal of temporary differences.........ccccooeovrevnecnnienne. 626.28 784.92
Recognition of deferred tax asset ON Previous YEar 10SSES.........ccrurrrreereueueurererereeeneeieesesesesesensseaseeens (116.43) (980.80)
IN TESPECE OF PIIOT YEAIS ....eueeieeeeeaeieereseireeteesesseses et e st ee et s e s s e s s e s e e snsee e s ee s e s anseseennaeseas (6.31) —
Total Deferred Tax 503.53 (195.88)
Total INCOME TAX EXPENSE .......cueuiiriirieteieteeise et re ettt b ettt b et e et e b b e s e et e b b e s e e e seesebenenannns 2,853.99 2,367.73

Income tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Deferred Tax related to items recognised in other comprehensive income:

Effective portion of gains and loss on designated portion of hedging instruments in a cash flow (26.32) 7.26
QTCTo L =IO O PR TSSTR

Net change in fair value of investments in debt instruments at FVTOCI.......ccccoerrrnninecercinnreseeeeeees (3.41) 0.34
Net change in fair value of investments in equity shares at FVTOC! ..o 1.96 0.73
Remeasurement of defined benefit Plans........cc e 9.94 2.73
Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations - Associates .......... (5.69) —
TOTA 1.ttt R R bR E Rt (23.52) 11.06
Classification of income tax recognised in other comprehensive income..................cccoocouovnienninninens

Income taxes related to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 10ss..........cccovevnicnrinnicnincnns 11.90 3.46
Income taxes related to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss (35.42) 7.60
L3 OO (23.52) 11.06

The reconciliation of estimated income tax expense at tax rate to income tax expense reported in profit or loss is as follows:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
oY TL = (oY (= 1) T 8,870.84 10,325.52
APPlICable INCOME TAX FALE ....ccuieciciireieeie ettt bbbttt es s 34.94% 34.61%
EXPECtEd INCOME TAX EXPENSE w.uvuvvrevererieisteeeseseseesessssesesesesesessssssesesesessasssssesesesesaessesesesesasansssssssnsesesanssensnen 3,099.83 3,573.46
Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to reported income tax expense:

Effect of different tax rates in local and foreign tax jurisdictions ..........cococerrrrrnniniceereeeees 271.18 (49.82)
Effect of change in tax rates — 13.88
Effect of INCOME @XEMPT FrOM TAX....ivicicciecicrcieseecce et (648.68) (713.71)
Effect of expenses/provisions that is non-deductible in determining taxable profit........cccccovnicncens 194.99 198.15
Effect of concessions (R&D and Other alloOWaANCES)........covcviiviiueiciieeeeeeceee ettt are s (102.15) (74.23)
Effect of unused tax losses & tax offsets for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised............ 538.58 444.40
Recognition of deferred tax asset ON Previous YEAr l0SSES..........cuueererririieeeeeieeeseee s (116.43) (980.80)
Write back of tax provision of arlier YEArs ........orrrrrre e eeees (396.49) (12.77)
OLNEIS ..ttt h bR R £ bR e £ Rt 13.16 (30.83)
Income tax expense recognised in Profit Or 10SS ..o 2,853.99 2,367.73
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Current Tax and Deferred Tax (contd.)

d)

e)

f)

9)

h)

Amounts on which deferred tax asset has not been created and related expiry period
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of following items, because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Company can use the benefit there from.

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Deductible Temporary differences (N0 €XPiry date) ......ccccceveirereieeieiirieee e ee 977.80 485.95
Unused Tax 10SSeS (FEVENUE IN NATUIE) ...cueviveiereiiteectceeeee e te ettt ste e st et se s s ssstesestesssbesseseseseesessesennas 13,104.37 11,110.60
Unused Tax 105s€s (Capital iN NATUME)....iciiieeeieueeeiisier et 19.40 739.72
UNUSEA 1aX CrEAIES ...t bbb 148.30 145.54
TOTAI ottt 14,249.87 12,481.81

Unused Tax losses - Revenue in nature
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Expiry period

UPTO FIVE YEAIS ...ttt bbb bbb bbb bbb e e 7,587.30 7,407.01
[ oY T N AL (T £ 3,042.80 2,274.44
NO EXPIFY DA ..vvviiiriiisisietee ettt ettt ettt et bbbttt bbb 2,474.27 1,429.15
TOTAL ottt 13,104.37 11,110.60

Unused Tax losses - Capital in nature
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Expiry period

L0 o1 o TN YT (T VS 10.82 729.17
NO EXPIIY DAL o.ueeeteteiesee ettt b bbbt 8.58 10.55
L7 | OSSOSO 19.40 739.72

Unused tax credits
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Expiry period

UPTO FIVE YEATS ...ttt e e 113.37 115.19
MOTE TNAN FIVE YEAIS ...eeveevieeeteeeteee ettt ettt ettt et e ss e b e et essesese et ese et et e s esensebensaseseeseseasesennas 34.93 30.35
TOTAl vttt b e e h e bt A e e A e A et e R e eReae et e R et eR e e b et et e e bene et eneesene et eneneerannes 148.30 145.54

Aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liability has not been
recognised :

Particulars 2019 2018

UNiSTrDULEA BAININGS.....cveviiiieiririeietcee ettt ettt bttt s e nn e 6,757.41 5,009.37
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax (contd.)

i)  Movement in deferred tax balances
Year ended 31t March, 2019 Rupees crores

Particulars Opening Recognised Recognised Recognised Foreign Others Closing
Balance in Profit or in equity for in OCl exchange Balance

Loss Ind AS 115 translation
differences

Tax effect of items resulting in taxable
temporary differences
Fiscal allowances on property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets............... 2,343.08 400.45 — — (13.31) — 2,730.22

Undistributed profit of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures...........c.coo.e. 1,124.09 179.92 — 18.65 — — 1,322.66

OtherS ..o 88.48 (53.80) — 8.74 0.19 108.13 151.74
3,555.65 526.57 — 27.39 (13.12) 108.13 4,204.62

Tax effect of items resulting in
deductible temporary differences

Provision for employee benefits................ 275.45 224.20 — 9.94 (0.21) — 509.38
Allowances for expected credit loss.......... 870.89 (333.09) — — (0.30) — 537.50
Carried forward tax l0Sses ........cccceceuvevnee. 184.31 197.06 — — (1.26) — 380.11
MAT Credit.. e 1,345.58 (105.62) — — — — 1,239.96
Unrealised gain on inter-company
transactions (Net) .....cccecvveeeeceieeceeeiceeee, 148.48 52.67 — — — — 201.15
Tax credit on undistributed profit of
SUDSIAIArIES ...veieccceee s — 78.27 — — — — 78.27
Others .....ccccveieeecceccere s (14.88) (90.45) 706.40 (6.07) (5.15) — 589.85
2,809.83 23.04 706.40 3.87 (6.92) — 3,536.22
Net Deferred Tax Asset / (Liabilities)........... (745.82) (503.53) 706.40 (23.52) 6.20 (108.13) (668.40)
Year ended 315t March, 2018 Rupees crores

Particulars Opening Recognised Recognised Foreign Acquired Closing
Balance in Profit or in OCl exchange in Business Balance

Loss translation Combination
differences

Tax effect of items resulting in taxable temporary

differences

Fiscal allowances on property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets.......covirieinninnre e 2,023.73 265.65 — 1.37 52.33 2,343.08

Undistributed profit of subsidiaries, associates and joint

VENTUIES oottt ettt et e ene e s e e sna e e enaeenees 982.84 141.25 — — — 1,124.09

OTNEIS 1.ttt 35.24 17.58 — (0.83) 36.49 88.48
3,041.81 424.48 — 0.54 88.82 3,555.65

Tax effect of items resulting in deductible temporary

differences

Provision for Employee benefits..........cccovrenrienenicenennes 244.06 21.80 2.73 0.58 6.28 275.45

Allowances for expected credit loss. 882.40 (16.62) — — 5.1 870.89

Carryforward tax l0Sses........c.coeuueee. 105.14 75.89 — 0.48 2.80 184.31

MAT Credit .. 750.97 594.27 — — 0.34 1,345.58

Unrealised gain on inter-company transactions (net)....... 164.92 (16.44) — — — 148.48

(01 =T £ PR 13.54 (38.54) 8.33 1.29 0.50 (14.88)
2,161.03 620.36 11.06 2.35 15.03 2,809.83

Net Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) .........ccceeeeerrereruencne (880.78) 195.88 11.06 1.81 (73.79) (745.82)

Balances of Deferred Tax Assets / Deferred Tax Liabilities presented in Balance sheet as below :
Rupees crores

2019 2018

Deferred Tax Assets (net)........ 1,502.91 841.60
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 2,171.31 1,587.42
Net Deferred Tax ASSEtS / (LIADIITTIES) cu.cveviviveeeeeececeeeeeeee ettt ettt ae e s st e e ste e seeseenenes (668.40) (745.82)
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Other Assets (Non-Financial)

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019 2019

CaPItal AQVANCES. ....coceeiiieeeieteeeee sttt ne e e 734.26 695.60 — —
Balances with government authorities (other than income taxes).............. 846.75 1,177.66 2,266.71 2,038.51
CONTract ASSETS ..viviiciciiiir — — 73.51 —
Contract Cost Assets ... 642.83 — 45.59 —
OTNEIS et 599.81 609.40 1,173.93 1,269.60
TORAl e ———————————— 2,823.65 2,482.66 3,559.74 3,308.11

Others include advances to suppliers, prepaid expenses.
Contract Cost Assets represents deferred acquisition costs.
Significant changes in Contract Assets during the year are as follows:-

Reclassification of opening balances of contract assets to trade receivables..... o rereenrereresesesesssssenesesesens 96.46
Adjustments due to contract MOdifiCation .. ———————— 1.79
IMPAIrMENT OF CONTIACT ASSEL.urrrrrrrrrrrereereresessssssesesesesessssssesesesesesssss s e e e sssas e e e e nssasse e e e e e e e e e e e e nansn e e e s 2.11

In addition to the contract balances disclosed above, the group has also recognised a contract cost asset in relation to a long-term contract.

Assets recognised from cost incurred 10 fUlfil @ CONTrACt ..owrurerercrerceeeere e 688.42
Amortisation expenses recognised as cost of providing services during the year......uvnreresesesesesssnsenes 43.77
Inventories
Rupees crores
Particulars 2019 2018
Raw materials and bought-out components 4,070.78 3,432.83

[includes in-transit Rs. 712.67 crores (2018: RS. 839.73 CrOreS)]....c.ceoveueuervereeeereeeeeieereeseeseseesesessesseseessesssessssens

Work-in-progress 513.87 569.92
Work-in-progress-property development activity and long term contracts.........cocooeececeeennnnencnccesiseseseene 1,840.94 1,331.52
Finished products PrOUCEA ........cccuiiiiiieieee ettt et e et b e e et et b s e e st s s sa s 4,042.95 2,627.75
Stock-in-trade [includes in transit Rs. 141.35 crores (2018: Rs. 93.37 Crores)].....cccceeeveeverieeesiesresesresre e seesnenns 1,343.37 1,014.62
Manufactured components.... 166.00 159.15
STOTES AN SPAIES .....eviiiiriice ittt bbb s e e £ bbbt bbb e ettt 144.71 130.75
[IoTo LY Lo Y] 3OS 64.62 55.43
12.92 13.60

12,200.16 9,335.57

(@) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was Rs. 72,895.30 crores (2018: Rs.63,305.05 crores).

(b) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense include Rs. 123.53 crores (2018: Rs. 88.46 crores) in respect of write-down of inventory
to net realisable value, and has been reduced by Rs. 21.66 crores (2018: Rs. 44.13 crores) in respect of the reversal of such write downs.

() Certain companies in the Group have availed working capital facilities and other non -fund based facilities viz. bank guarantees and
letters of credit, which are secured by hypothecation of inventories.

(d) Mode of valuation of inventories is stated in Note 2 (i).
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14. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Bank Balance
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Balances with banks

— ON CUITENT GCCOUNTS ..eeveeiecieecte ettt ste et e e eeste et e saeesbesasesae e beesaesbeesesseesseesseeseesbeensesasesenssesseesteensesreensenssensenn 5,377.01 3,473.79
— O SAVING BCCOUNTS .....euiietteteiesirere sttt se e e a s st e e e s b b e s et e e e e b e b b e se s et eE e e e b e b e b e R et ae s e ee e b e b e b e e e e en st ebesenens 0.05 0.08
- Fixed deposits with original maturity of less than 3 MoONths.........cccceeeieeiiiiicccee e 381.65 763.32
Cheques, drafts ON NANG. ...ttt b e nenan 331.15 200.81
CaSh ON NANG ... s 49.14 28.63
L3 | N 6,139.00 4,466.63

b) Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents

Earmarked balances With DanKS............ccicece e 48.20 43.67
Balances with banks 0N mMargin @CCOUNTS..........oiiiuiieiciir e 56.78 55.89
LD C=Te [e Yo Lo L 1 OSSOSO 2,490.93 1,981.41
L3 | N 2,595.91 2,080.97

15. Equity Share Capital
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Authorised :

8,10,00,00,000 (2018: 8,10,00,00,000) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 €ach ........cccceeeeueuruernnniciceiesseenee 4,050.00 4,050.00
25,00,000 Unclassified Shares of RS.T00 @aCH..........oocieeiuieeceeecceseeeeeee ettt 25.00 25.00
4,075.00 4,075.00

Issued,Subscribed and Paid-up:
1,24,31,92,544 (2018: 1,24,31,92,544) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up .......cccoovvierrnennnes 621.60 621.60
Less:

5,16,05,412 (2018: 5,32,59,518) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to ESOP Trust but
NOt yet allotted 10 EMPIOYEES.....c.vieieeiiiect et 25.80 26.63

Less:

10,36,70,428 (2018: 10,36,70,428) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to M&M Benefit
L L oSSRt 51.84 51.84

Adjusted Issued,Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital........coin s ————— 543.96 543.13




304

COMPANY
OVERVIEW

BOARD'S
REPORT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE REPORT

15. Equity Share Capital (contd.)

16.

(a)

(b)
(9

(d)

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY

Reconciliation of number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares and amount outstanding :

Particulars

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up :

No.
of Shares

STANDALONE
ACCOUNTS

Rupees
Crores

CONSOLIDATED
ACCOUNTS

No.
of Shares

Rupees
Crores

Balance as at the beginning of the year.......cccooviiiinnnicccicn, 124,31,92,544 621.60 62,10,92,384 310.55
Add: Shares issued under Scheme of Arrangement........ccccccvvveninunee — — 503,888 0.25
[SSUE OF BONUS SNAIES ....oeeeiieeceiiteeec et sttt — — 62,15,96,272 310.80
Balance as at the end of the year........ccoovriiiccnnnceeee 1,243,192,544 621.60 | 124,31,92,544 621.60
Less :

Shares issued to M&M ESOP Trust but not allotted to Employees...... 5,16,05,412 25.80 5,32,59,518 26.63
Shares issued to M&M Benefit Trust.........ccoveeervireniencnreeneeieeeens 10,36,70,428 51.84 | 10,36,70,428 51.84
Adjusted Issued,Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital........cccccccrunenee. 1,087,916,704 543.96 | 108,62,62,598 543.13

The Ordinary (Equity) Shares of the Company rank pari-passu in all respects including voting rights and entitlement to dividend.

Details of Ordinary (Equity) Shares held by shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company’s Issued,

Subscribed and Paid-up:

Name of the Shareholder

Prudential Management and Services Pvt. Ltd. .....ccccoervnnnincccenennne
Life Insurance Corporation of INdia.......c.cocereiurerierncrnnieneereenenes
M&M BENETIt TrUSE ...t

J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (for GDR holders)........cccccoeeurrrnerenennes

No.
of Shares

14,15,21,940

12,32,82,698

10,36,70,428

%
Shareholding

11.38
9.92

8.34

No.
of Shares

14,15,21,940
10,83,68,931
10,36,70,428

7,21,86,492

%
Shareholding

11.38

8.72

8.34

5.81

For the period of preceding five years as on the balance sheet date, Issued and Subscribed Share Capital includes:
i)  Aggregate of 5,03,888 (2018 : 5,03,888) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up pursuant to Schemes of

Arrangement without payment having been received in cash.

ii) Aggregate of 62,15,96,272 (2018 : 62,15,96,272 ) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up by way of bonus

shares.

Other Equity

Details of Dividends proposed

Proposed Dividend per equity SNare (RS.)...ouereremmssssmsmsnisesissssssssssss s sssssssss s ssseens

The proposed dividend is subject to applicable Dividend Distribution Tax as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

2019

8.50

Rupees crores

2018

7.50
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17. Borrowings
A. Long Term Borrowings

a) Non-current
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

DEDENTUIES & BONUS..uviereririreressersesaessesassassassessts e st s e s e saessessesaessesaesassaesassns s st e e e e s besasenesaesansesannnsns 14,099.58 12,667.14

Term Loan

() FrOM BANKS cuereruiruirisreraesaeiaesessessesessesessessessesassnsssssassasssssessesnsssesaessessssnsssssassnsssessssesnsesessssnsssesnssnssnns 18,752.38 13,620.34

(i) FrOM OtNEI PAITIES ceoeeerrserreeeseresessssssesesesessssssssseesssssssssss e s s sesesssasss e sesssessssssesssssssssssssssnsnsnsssnsnansens 43.07 73.67

(014 0 =T I - 1 TSP 96.44 80.13
32,991.47 26,441.28

Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

DEDENTUIES & BONUS...uiiiiiuiiuiieiiteieeieestesesstssee st s see s e s e sesaesassaesas e et et s e e seebesaeeneeaesaeeaesassnssse e sseeneesesansnnsns 4,851.34 4,426.56

Term Loan

() FrOM BANKS cueriteuirueeeireiseseessesessaesessesstssesseeeesesaesnessssaesassaesesssssessesnssnsssesnsnessssnsssesassssssesesssensssesnssneen 686.11 419.32

(ii) From other parties ... 27.84 81.68

=T o T L3S 4,281.48 1,600.86

(014 o =T I - 3 TP 687.93 839.48
10,534.70 7,367.90

L - TSRS 43,526.17 33,809.18

Other loans primarily comprise of deferred sales tax loans which are interest free and repayable in five equal instalments after
ten years from the year of availment of respective loan.

The borrowings carry varying rates of interest ranging from 0% to 11.75% p.a. and have maturities starting from 2019 and ending
with 2063.

b) Current maturities of Long Term borrowing - Refer Note 19

B. Short Term Borrowings
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

(011 o T=T G Lo T L 1,505.37 1,151.67

Loans repayable on demand

— From Banks and Cash Credit @CCOUNT.........ciiiiieiieeceecee ettt sa sttt besbe b sbasaesaeeaanas 1,522.20 2,310.55

Term Loan from Banks 887.11 899.13
3,914.68 4,361.35

Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

=T oo L 3OS 488.23 261.73

(014 TT g o - 1 TS 355.80 433.85

Loans repayable on demand

— From Banks and Cash credit aCCOUNT........cciiiieiicicce e eeneneas 1,725.22 786.74

LOAN TrOM FEIAtEA PAITIES ....cviieeieeeietcei sttt ettt e e a et e s e e e e s s e s e e e e enenens 517.06 132.97

COMMEICIAl PAPEIS...viuiiiiiieieiee sttt ettt bttt b ettt bbbt ee bbb e b et 3,016.48 4,573.09

TErmM LOAN frOM BanKS ....ovcuciciiiici ettt bbbt bbb e e s n b n e en 523.54 775.81
6,626.33 6,964.19

] PSSR 10,541.01 11,325.54

Secured borrowings are secured by a pari-passu charge on immovable properties of certain entities in the Group both present and future,
subject to certain exclusions and are also secured by pari-passu charge on the movable properties of certain entities including inventories,
movable machinery, machinery spares, tools and accessories, both present and future, subject to certain exclusions.
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Borrowings (contd.)

Reconciliation of movement in borrowings to cash flows from financing activities
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Opening balance

— LONG TEIMN BOITOWINGS 1..vuvvvetiueirerisieiesesesisesests s stese e ss et b bt b et b e s e ettt s et sttt b b s e s 33,809.18 30,124.51
— SNOTT TEIM BOITOWINGS ..evvvteereiacucieietetseseseeseseassseseseseeessas et e sesaeaesessseseseseseeseeaeassesesesesasaeesesesnsesesassesnsnns 11,325.54 10,121.65
— Current maturities of LONG t&rmM DOITOWINGS ....cueiiiiriririeeieririsisie et 10,763.20 8,515.75
— UNclaimed Matured DEPOSIES. .......ciuevieeriieirriiierieseeeestiee st essessesseses st es e anees 0.50 0.84
Total OPENING BalanCe .............c.ouiiiiiiiiiieiicie ettt 55,898.42 48,762.75
Cash flow movements
— Proceeds fromM DOITOWINGS ......c.iviiiicicieieie sttt bbbttt 71,389.41 66,819.38
— RePAYMENT OF DOITOWINGS ...ttt ettt eses (56,573.82) (60,213.53)
- Net increase in Loans repayable on demand and cash credit ..o 221.82 (144.52)
15,037.41 6,461.33
Non-cash movements
- On account of Business combinations during the Year.........ccccceveriieeeessseee e 25.07 316.11
- Effect of amortisation of loan origination costs and foreign exchange translation..........ccc.ccovevueuneee. (107.38) 358.23
(82.31) 674.34
Closing Balance
— LONG TEIM BOITOWINGS ....utttririiesescieie ittt bbbttt 43,526.17 33,809.18
— SNOIT TEIM BOITOWINGS .ttt ettt b et bbbt bbb e ettt b et a s 10,541.01 11,325.54
— Current maturities of LONg term DOMOWINGS .......c.cuiuiriririicicieier s 16,781.12 10,763.20

— Unclaimed mMatured DEPOSIES.........cuuueuereuiiriiiiicieieier ettt en s 5.22 0.50
Total Closing Balance 70,853.52 55,898.42

Trade Payables
Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019 2019
— — 4,438.98 3,998.12
— — 166.98 237.75
Trade payable - Other than micro and small enterprises ...........cccocovivcuenns 7.93 4.88 16,386.21 14,051.47
TOTAl ... 7.93 4.88 20,992.17 18,287.34

Other Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores
Particulars Non Current Current

2019 2019

Carried at Amortised Cost

Current maturities of long-term debt..........ccoovicrinncnncerceeene — — 16,781.12 10,763.20
UNnclaimed diVIdENS........c.ocoiieeeerieieiersesecee e — — 19.91 19.72
Unclaimed matured deposits and interest accrued thereon..........ccccvun...e. — — 5.22 0.50
TR A=Y =T A= Tee (U L= IO 364.60 380.05 1,577.17 1,315.81
OIS vttt et n e 370.62 419.69 2,484.26 2,042.73

Carried at Fair value

Derivative financial liabilities and gross obligation to acquire
NON-CONTIOIIING INTEIES .....cvreeiicce e 720.10 889.72 311.26 66.47

TOTAl ... 1,455.32 1,689.46 21,178.94 14,208.43

There are no amounts due and outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.
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20. Provisions

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019 2019
Provision for employee benefits.........ooeercnneinneeneescre e 3,179.34 2,864.42 599.50 491.11
Provision fOr Warranties ... 883.18 876.55 684.11 672.71
Provision fOr SErvice COUPONS ........cocucueieiririririreeieieie st ssesesenas 31.41 39.49 124.45 151.22
ProViSion fOr OtErS ........ccriiieerecircc e 6.71 5.22 208.39 80.22
TOTAL .. 4,100.64 3,785.68 1,616.45 1,395.26

Provision for warranty relates to provision made in respect of sale of certain products, the estimated cost of which is accrued at the time of sale.
The products are generally covered under a free warranty period ranging from 6 months to 5 years.

The movement in provision for warranty and service coupon is as follows :

Rupees crores

Particulars Provision for warranty Provision for service coupons
2019 2018 2019 2018

OPENING BAlaNCE ... vt 1,549.26 1,375.19 190.71 134.73
Additional provisions recognised ...........cverieneeennerneesser e 582.86 649.29 116.39 150.61
Adjustment due to acquisition / disposal of subsidiaries............c.cccorerieunne — 18.14 — —
AMOUNTS ULITISEA ...ttt sttt es (569.18) (579.30) (156.51) (98.80)
UNWinding Of diSCOUNT......cuiuiiieeiiciriierece e 22.56 23.42 5.27 417
Foreign exchange translation differences ..........cocovevnecneninnccnenienccnens (18.21) 62.52 = —
ClOSING BalaNCE.........coiuieiiiieii e 1,567.29 1,549.26 155.86 190.71

21. Other Non Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2019

Advances received from CUSTOMETS..........ccverriieernieneeeeeesee s = 51.44 — 844.22
DEferred INCOME ...ttt sttt enean — 2,092.67 — 295.82
Statutory dues (other than iNCOME taXes)........ccocvveriiereeiernrrereeeeeeeeres — — 2,215.04 2,143.62
CONtract Liabilities ....c.vceeeeecereceee s 5,042.89 — 1,683.55 —
OTREIS <.ttt = 14.98 242.50 245.20
Total 5,042.89 2,159.09 4,141.09 3,528.86

Contract Liabilities represents deferred revenue and advance received from customers.

Significant changes in Contract Liabilities during the period are as follows:-

Recognition of revenue arising from contract [iabilities..........cocrirncncnc s 1,438.76
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22. Revenue from Operations
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
YL o e [F Tt 3OO 85,631.26 78,005.02
SAIE OF SEIVICES ...ttt bbb £ bbb e bbb b et 6,848.71 5,047.88
Interest income of financial SErviCeS DUSINESS..........c.ciuiuiiririri e 9,962.80 8,353.21
INCOME FromM [ONG tEIM CONTIACES ...voviviriiicieieeee ettt ettt ettt b s nen 572.46 535.09
Lease and reNntal INCOME ......c.c.cuiuiuiriri et b bbb 0.38 0.30
Gross revenue from sale of Products AN SEIVICES .......cvvireiererereiriisecee et nsenas 103,015.61 91,941.50

Other operating revenue

— GovernMeNt grant aNd INCENTIVES. .....ciiiiiirieee e ettt nes 354.62 348.15
= SCFAP SAIES ettt £ R R R Rt 255.02 211.03
B 14011 3OO SO 1,095.43 764.09
(3 OO 104,720.68 93,264.77

The Government of India introduced the Goods and Services Tax (GST) with effect from 1t July 2017. GST is collected on behalf of the
Government and no economic benefit flows to the entity and hence Revenue from Operations under GST regime is presented excluding GST
as per Ind AS 18 ‘Revenue’. However, Revenue from Operations under pre-GST regime included Excise Duty which is now subsumed in GST.
Consequently, the figures for the year ended 315t March 2019 are not comparable with the previous periods presented in the above table.

Revenue from operations comprises of :
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019

(a) From contract with customers (as defined under Ind AS 115)

SAIE OF PrOGUCES.....vcveeiiiieietcece ettt e et sttt b e e et s b s e s e ettt e s e s e s 85,631.26
SA1E OF SEIVICES. ..ttt ettt bttt b et R bR e ettt es 6,848.71
INCOME roM ONG TEIM CONTIACES ....cuivcvvereeiiiicccte ettt ettt s s 572.46
Other OPErating MBVENUE........cciucecietitei ittt ettt h b a ettt b e en e eeenas 613.90
93,666.33

(b) From financial services
Interest income of financial SErviCeS DUSINESS .........c.curirririiiiieieieirrreeee et 9,962.80
9,962.80

(c) Others

Lease and reNtal INCOME......ciuiiiiieeicieeei ettt et et s e e et a b ese e an e 0.38
Other OPEIating MBVENUE.....c.uciiieieieeiisisi ettt s e e et s ettt b e s e e e e 1,091.17
1,091.55

The Group undertakes periodic revalidations in the estimate of variable consideration on account of various economic factors. The amount
of revenue recognised in the period ended 315t March 2019 from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods
is aggregating to Rs. 78.09 crores.

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
(or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019

Time Band

LESS TRAN T YBAT ettt b bbbttt 1,413.23

Greater than 1 year but less than 5 year 2,365.09
3,435.95
7,214.27

The Group applies the practical expedient of Ind AS 115 and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that
have original expected durations of one year or less. Revenue disclosed above does not include estimated amount of variable consideration
that are constrained.
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22. Revenue from Operations (contd.)
Reconciliation of revenue recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss with contracted price

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019

Revenue from contract with customer as per the CoNtract Price .uoovieeeieriressceesese e 96,204.39

Adjustments made to contract price

- Trade discounts, voluMeE rebates, FETUIN ETC......cciiviuiiieeeieeececeeeee ettt e et e snens (3,401.05)
- Recognition of revenue out of opening balance of contract liability ..........cccovrirnicrninnicrcrecs 862.99
Revenue from contract with customer as per the statement of Profit and LOSS ............ccocornereccirnsnnnccnes 93,666.33

Revenue disaggregation as per nature of products and geography has been included in segment information. (Refer note no. 38)

Effect of application of Ind AS 115 on financial statements

The impact of application of Ind AS 115 on the consolidated financial statement mainly arises from the ‘Hospitality’ and ‘Real estate’ segments. In
the Hospitality segment, due to the application of Ind AS 115, the membership fees and incremental costs to obtain and/or fulfill a contract with
a customer, as applicable, is recognised over the effective membership period. The previous standard permitted the upfront recognition of the
non refundable admission fees on sale of membership. In the Real estate segment, the changes are due to recognition of revenue from contract
with customers based on satisfaction of performance obligation at a point in time as opposed to previously permitted percentage of completion
method. The transitional adjustment of Rs. 1,417.41 crores, net of deferred tax, has been adjusted to Other Equity and Non-Controlling Interests.

The following table summarises the impact of adopting Ind AS 115 on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
315t March 2019 for each of the lines affected.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31t March, 2019
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

As reported  Impact of Ind Amount Amount

AS 115 without without
adoption of  adoption of
Ind AS 115 Ind AS 115

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Investments accounted using Equity method ... 10,790.94 7.1 10,798.05 9,421.45
Financial assets

— Trade receivables. ..o 614.52 (55.43) 559.09 513.84
Deferred tax assets (NEL) ... eeeeeeeeeee ettt es 1,502.91 (726.86) 776.05 841.60
Other NON-CUITENT @SSETS .....cvcveveeerieieeceeteee sttt ettt eae s 2,823.65 (603.00) 2,220.65 2,482.66

Current Assets

INVENTOTIES ...ttt 12,200.16 (499.67) 11,700.49 9,335.57
Financial assets

— Trade rECEIVADIES. .....cveveveeeeee ettt ettt st aeseeaens 9,290.51 (114.88) 9,175.63 8,489.82
Other CUITENT @SSETS ......cvvuieiiecirieieee e 3,559.74 71.27 3,637.01 3,308.11
TOTAL ASSETS ...ttt nnen 1,63,391.57 (1,915.46) 1,61,476.11 1,37,210.91
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company ........ccccoerrnnniicncnnnne 39,983.41 997.61 40,981.02 36,775.19

NON-CONLrOlliNG INTEIESTS....cviveieieiceirisie e 8,360.57 506.36 8,866.93 8,250.47
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22. Revenue from Operations (contd.)

Particulars

LIABILITIES

Non- Current Liabilities

GOVERNANCE

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY

REPORT

As reported

STANDALONE
ACCOUNTS

2019

Impact of Ind
AS 115

CONSOLIDATED
ACCOUNTS

Amount
without
adoption of
Ind AS 115

Rupees crores
2018

Amount
without
adoption of
Ind AS 115

Other non-current Liabilities ........occviiiiiiieceeeeceeeecec s 5,042.89 (2,743.88) 2,299.01 2,159.09
Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Trade payables
(a) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small

ENEEIPIISES ...ttt 20,825.19 (21.00) 20,804.19 18,049.59
— Other financial Liabilities.........coooierierrrrcecee s 21,178.94 74.92 21,253.86 14,208.43
Other current Liabilities .......ooccieviececceccecce et 4,141.09 (729.47) 3,411.62 3,528.86
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ......oooiiiieieiiiiineienrcecteese s 1,63,391.57 (1,915.46) 1,61,476.11 1,37,210.91

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31t March, 2019

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
As reported  Impact of Ind Amount Amount
AS 115 without without
adoption of  adoption of
Ind AS 115 Ind AS 115
Revenue from contract With CUStOMETS......ccccvivviceiiiicicece e 1,04,720.68 112.10 1,04,832.78 93,264.77
Employee Benefits EXPENSE ......ccvcrrieerrmcenmneieineceeeseser e seeesesesessesens 11,563.89 21.96 11,585.85 10,004.62
OtNEr EXPENSES.....vveeeriacececieeeteteeseeeeeieie st bbb se e s s ee e aeannees 19,052.43 (62.13) 18,990.30 16,820.50
Profit Before Exceptional [tems and TaX .......cccoeurenrieenmneeneneeineceecenens 7,280.00 152.27 7,432.27 6,590.14
Share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures (Net).........cccoeuvieenne. 1,366.52 (40.89) 1,325.63 1,107.26
Profit DETOIE TaX cuviueiiieiieicicieete et sttt 8,870.84 111.38 8,982.22 10,325.52
DEfrTed 1aX ..eceieeeieeserieccic ettt 503.53 23.41 526.94 (195.88)
Profit @fter TaX c.oueueueeeeecicceccee e 6,016.85 87.97 6,104.82 7,957.79
Profit for the year attributable to:
a)  Owners of the COMPANY......irieiriirieee e 5,315.46 73.02 5,388.48 7,510.39
b)  Non-controlling INTErest ..o 701.39 14.95 716.34 447.40
Earnings per share
(Face value Rs. 5/- per share) (Rupees)
BASIC EPS ..ottt e 48.91 0.67 49.58 69.20
DIlULEA EPS ..ttt 48.70 0.67 49.37 68.86

There is no significant impact of Ind AS 115 on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended 31 March, 2019.
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Other Income
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Interest Income
- On financial assets carried at amortised cost 359.47 282.20
— On financial assets carried at FVTOC .......coovieiieieieieinisisieee ettt 64.71 50.20
Dividend income
= IVIUBUAD FUNGS .1ttt b e e bbbttt s e 85.69 70.59
Net gains / losses on financial INSTTUMENTS ... 408.88 99.43
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ... 11.14 11.84
Other non-operating income (net of directly attributable eXpPenses) .........ccccviurniencnnienesscse e 155.72 116.77
L0111 IO TTR 1085.61 631.03

Cost of Materials Consumed
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
OPENING INVENTOIY ....tuiiiet ettt s et e e b st e e e b b e £ e e bbb e e e £ e bbb et e e bbb et e e st enns 3,432.83 3,003.85
Az PUMCNASES ...ttt bbb b bbb bbbt d ettt 56,727.60 48,735.83

60,160.43 51,739.68
Add: INVENTOIY ON ACQUISITION L...vivitiiiiiiisieieeeiiss ettt bt s et b e e eneas — 104.10
60,160.43 51,843.78

Less: Closing Inventory 4,070.78 3,432.83
Foreign currency translation diffEreNCe.. ... 30.55 28.91
TOTAL .. R R 56,120.20 48,439.86

Changes In Inventories of Finished Goods, Work-in-Progress and Stock-in-Trade
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Inventories at the beginning of the year:

Finished goods produced... 2,627.75 2,782.07
Work-in-progress................. 569.92 372.39
Y oY T { =T [T OO USOSOTOSRO 1,014.62 1,025.33
ManNUFactured COMPONENTS. .......u ettt 159.15 107.84
4,371.44 4,287.63
Add: Stock on Acquisition/(disposal)

Finished goOods PrOAUCET.......c.criiiiiicieieissic bbbttt — 17.85
VVOTK-TN=PIOGIESS ...ttt es bbb s b bbbt s ettt — 53.59
= 71.44

Less: Inventories at the end of the year:
Finished goods PrOAUCET. ..ot 4,042.95 2,627.75
Work-in-progress 513.87 569.92
LY (o Te T (=T [OOSR 1,343.37 1,014.62
ManUTaCtured COMPONENTS.......coviiieeiereieeiesisir ettt e b s e s e e se st aesese e e s seaesene s e nnens 166.00 159.15
6,066.19 4,371.44
Foreign currency translation diffEreNCe..... ... (35.73) 95.70

Net (increase) / decrease iN INVENTOIY ...........cccciuiueieiiinisisece et b e nnenas (1,730.48) 83.33
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Employee Benefits Expense
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Salaries and wages, iINCIUAING DONUS ...t 9,566.61 8,229.92
Contribution to provident and Other TUNS..........occiii e 777.96 681.99
Share Dased PAYMENt EXPENSES.........c.uu ittt b bbbt b bttt es 143.04 112.00
STATT WEITAIE EXPENSES ...eietiectei ettt 1,076.28 980.71
TOTAL .. R £t 11,563.89 10,004.62

Finance Cost
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Interest expense on Financial liabilities at @amortised COSt ......civiimrirrirccirerr s 4,908.10 3,879.04
Other DOITOWING COST....cuiuuutitriririieieie ettt b ettt R bbbt ettt s bbbt esen e e nenenas 113.25 108.05
L) - SRR 5,021.35 3,987.09

Other borrowing costs mainly include discounting charges and unwinding of discount.

Other Expenses
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
STOIES CONSUMEM ....uiuiiitieteieie sttt b ettt b bbb b et E bbb £ e bbb ettt £ bbb e bttt bbb enn 342.58 308.39
TOOIS CONSUMET. ...ttt b bbbttt 59.35 57.09
POWET & FUEH ...ttt b bbb b £ e Rt e bt s s e e bbb b et s 817.11 733.90
ReNt INCIUAING €8S FENTAIS......civeieieeiiieirieiee ettt bbb b e es 743.35 672.72
Insurance 178.81 144.55
REPAIrs @Nd MAINTENANCE......c.cucuiuiuieririii ettt bbbttt 860.32 792.67
AGVEITISEIMENT ...ttt b bbb bbb £ £ E b b £ et bbbttt ettt 1,015.85 905.06
Commission ON SAlES / CONTIACES (NET) ...cueiviieeeeeeeeeeceeteeeeiee ettt b e st e sesaeae st ese s sse e ebessesenessenesaesennens 1,841.93 1,783.87
FrEIGNT OULWAIT ...ttt bt e bbbttt bttt b e e s 3,570.71 2,252.22
SalES PrOMOTION EXPENSES.....c.vivvevcreeesiisesteteteseese et sese s e e et esesesess e sesseseseses s e s ssesesesesanessesasesesese e e asnsesesanennnanens 1,652.49 1,249.02
Travelling and conveyance expenses... 690.33 583.71
COST OF PIOJECES ..ttt bbb E e bbbttt bbb em e 816.68 648.08
Subcontracting, hire and SErVICE Charges ...t 2,252.23 1,784.03
Provision for expected credit losses including Write Offs.........ccciiiiiininii s 299.99 899.16
DONAtioNs @aNd CONTIIDUTIONS .......uveririicicieietet ettt ettt s bbb s ettt s e 151.07 128.32

3,759.63 3,877.71
19,052.43 16,820.50

Break-up of expected credit loss recognised during the year is as follows :-

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019

Expected credit loss on:

= TrAAE TECRIVADIES ...ttt ettt e aeete et eteeteebeste s e teneenseneeaeeseereeaeeteeaeereaens 136.88
- (00T = Lot - 1] SRS 2.1
= FiNancial SErvices reCEIVADIES........ccviviiireecteeeteee ettt sttt b st e e b neeaeseenenis 66.20

- Other financial assets
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29. Exceptional Items (Net)

Exceptional items (net) recognised in profit or loss
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Gain on disposal of interest in associates and JOINT VENTUIES .........coouiiireieesininereeeee e nsenes 384.86 1,113.45
Gain on change in ownership interest/relationships of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures................. 194.42 1,514.67
Impairment of investments and GOOAWIll ...t (354.96) —
TOTAL ... R AR AR bRt 224.32 2,628.12

30. Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Particulars 2019 2018
Profit for the year for basic and diluted EPS (RUPEES CrOTES) .......cuueeueureriureiireieeneieeessesseseseeessesesseseees e sssseens 5,315.46 7,510.39
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing basic EPS.........ccccuereerineirivniereenens 1,086,805,987  1,085,246,206
Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary (EQuity) Shares.........c.coomrereninencrnenenercerereenenns 4,760,035 5,370,700
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing diluted EPS.........ccccocvrunirncinennes 1,091,566,022 1,090,616,906
Basic Earnings per share (Rs.) (Face value of Rs. 5 P& Share) ..o 48.91 69.20
Diluted EQrnings Per SHAre (RS.) ...ttt bbbt 48.70 68.86

31. Employee Benefits
General description of defined benefit plans
Gratuity

Some of the group entities operate a gratuity plan covering qualifying employees. The benefit payable is the greater of the amount calculated
as per the Payment of Gratuity Act or the Company scheme applicable to the employee. The benefit vests upon completion of five years of
continuous service and once vested it is payable to employees on retirement or on termination of employment. In case of death while in service,
the gratuity is payable irrespective of vesting. Some entities makes annual contribution to the group gratuity scheme administered by the Life
Insurance Corporation of India through its Gratuity Trust Fund.

A Group company provides certain severance benefit to employees on leaving service. The benefit is payable after one year of service and is one
months salary for every completed year of service. Additionally based on number of years of service an additional benefit is provided on normal
retirement.

Post retirement medical

Few entities in the Group provide post retirement medical cover to select grade of employees to cover the retiring employee and their spouse
upto a specified age through mediclaim policy on which the premiums are paid by the Company. The eligibility of the employee for the benefit
as well as the amount of medical cover purchased is determined by the grade of the employee at the time of retirement.

Post retirement housing allowance

The Company operates a post retirement benefit scheme for a certain grade of employees in which a monthly allowance determined on the
basis of the last drawn basic salary at the time of retirement, is paid to the retiring employee in lieu of housing.

Risk exposure
Through its defined benefit plans the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:
Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to government bond yields; if plan assets underperform compared to
this yield, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans may hold equity type assets, which may carry volatility and associated
risk.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in government bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value of
the plan’s investment in debt instruments.

Inflation risk

The present value of some of the defined benefit plan obligations are calculated with reference to the future salaries of plan participants.
As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. The post retirement medical benefit obligation is
sensitive to medical inflation and accordingly, an increase in medical inflation rate would increase the plan’s liability.
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31. Employee Benefits (contd.)

Life expectancy

The present value of defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants, both
during and after the employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Defined benefit plans - Actuarial valuation as on 31t March, 2019
Rupees crores
Funded Plan Unfunded Plans

Post retirement Post retirement
medical benefits housing allowance

Gratuity Gratuity

Particulars 2019 2018 2019 pANES 2019 2018 2019 2018

1 Amounts recognised in
profit or loss

Current service cost ....... 90.17 84.82 267.91 238.40 2.85 2.22 2.67 2.50
Past service cost ............. — — — — — 4.49 — _

Effect of the limit in
Para 64 (b) of the Ind
AS 19, — (3.84) — — = — — _

Net interest expense 21.33 18.26 62.19 52.04 3.38 2.40 4.29 3.83

Total amount included
in employee benefits
EXPENSE ..o 111.50 99.24 330.10 290.44 6.23 9.1 6.96 6.33

2 Amounts recognised in
other comprehensive
income

Remeasurement (gains)/
losses:

a) Actuarial (gains)/
losses arising from
changes in - ..............

- demographic
assumptions............ 0.68 2.37 19.06 1.06 0.11 — (0.67) —

- financial
assumptions............ 23.04 (16.00) 120.48 (46.73) 1.97 (1.20) 1.80 (1.23)

- experience
adjustments ........... 3.90 17.54 10.31 (79.21) (3.88) 4.84 3.41 1.01

b) Return on plan
assets, excluding
amount included in
net interest expense/
(income) ....cveveevveee. (4.07) (6.25) — — — — — —

Total amount recognised
in other comprehensive
INCOME ..o 23.55 (2.34) 149.85 (124.88) (1.80) 3.64 4.54 (0.22)

3 Changes in the defined
benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit
obligation ........ccccvvuene. 1,073.30 995.86 1,977.38 1,836.31 44.10 32.35 55.56 51.32

Add/(less) on account of
business combination.... — 21.76 — 18.36 — — — —
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Particulars

Funded Plan

Gratuity

2019

2018

Gratuity

2019

2018

MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Unfunded Plans

Post retirement
medical benefits

2019

2018

Rupees crores

Post retirement
housing allowance

2019

2018

Current service cost ....... 90.17 84.82 267.91 238.40 2.85 2.22 2.67 2.50

Past service cost ............. — — — — — 4.49 — —

Interest expense............. 66.08 56.69 62.19 52.04 3.38 2.40 4.29 3.83

Remeasurements (gains)/

[0SSES ..o 27.62 3.91 149.85 (124.88) (1.80) 3.64 4.54 (0.22)

Benefits paid ........ccooee. (91.44) (95.32) (154.79) (142.27) (1.40) (1.22) (1.87) (1.87)

Foreign exchange

translation difference.... 5.22 5.58 (15.59) 99.42 — 0.22 — —

Closing defined benefit

obligation .....c.ccceeeeine 1,170.95 1,073.30 2,286.95 1,977.38 47.13 44.10 65.19 55.56
4  Changes in fair value of

plan assets

Opening fair value of

plan assets .........ccoueerenne. 794.42 686.37 — — — — — —

Add/(less) on account of

business combination .... — 18.65 — — — — — —

Interest income............... 44.75 38.43 — — — — — —

Return on plan assets

excluding interest

INCOME ..o 4.07 6.25 — — — — — —

Contributions by

employer.....ceenene. 170.88 136.03 — — 1.40 1.22 1.87 1.87

Benefits paid ........c.cc..... (91.44) (95.32) — — (1.40) (1.22) (1.87) (1.87)

Foreign exchange

translation difference.... 4.07 4.01 — — — —

Closing fair value of

plan assets ......cccovverenne 926.75 794.42 — — — — — —
5 Net defined benefit

obligation

Defined benefit

obligation .....c.coceveenene 1,170.95 1,073.30 2,286.95 1,977.38 47.13 44.10 65.19 55.56

Fair value of plan

ASSetS i 926.75 794.42 — — — — — —

Surplus/(Deficit)............... (244.20) (278.88) | (2,286.95) | (1,977.38) (47.13) (44.10) (65.19) (55.56)

Current portion of the

AbOVE .o (142.55) (132.36) (10.61) (9.94) (1.63) (1.51) (3.18) (1.87)

Non current portion of

the above......cccoveercnene (101.65) (146.52) | (2,276.34) | (1,967.44) (45.50) (42.59) (62.01) (53.69)
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31. Employee Benefits (contd.)

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

6 Actuarial Assumptions and sensitivity
a Actuarial assumptions

DISCOUNT TALE (Y0) +vvveeeivereetereeecueieeteeesteestee st e e stese st esesseseseesessesenesbessaseseaseseseesansesessssessesensstesesseseasesessssensatens 0.25-8.00 0.43-8.10
ATEFITION TATE (90) cuvveeeetieeeeeeetete ettt ettt et e st sa s seete e se e s be e et e e st eaeeteseasese st ebessesansnsensesensasenestesessesenes 1.50 - 48.91 1.00 - 48.91
COST INTIATION (90) cvveveveieteeeteeeetee ettt ettt ettt et ae et ae e ebeseebe e e be e e b enessese et eseaseseesesensesenensensasennanan 7.00 - 10.00 3.00 - 10.00

The estimate of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes account of
inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the
employment market.

b Quantitative sensitivity analysis for impact of significant assumptions on defined benefit
obligation are as below:

Assumptions

One percentage point increase in disCOUNT Fate.......covieiiriiecerieinnnre e (354.35) (315.81)
One percentage point decrease in diSCOUNT FAte .......cooeveriveiecieinnnseccee e 387.11 350.22
One percentage point increase in salary growth rate.........occccceiiiciee e 350.51 313.35
One percentage point decrease in salary growth rate........ocncnnicnceeee e (315.15) (278.69)
One percentage point increase in attrition rate.......coocccciirincec e (57.90) (49.78)
One percentage point decrease in attrition rate.......ccco e 50.06 46.98
One percentage point increase in medical inflation rate ... 6.62 5.91
One percentage point decrease in medical inflation rate ... (5.51) (4.98)

7 Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation
Time periods

WVIENIN T YRAT .ttt 222.51 201.42
2 = 5 YN ettt AR 869.43 749.07
BEIWEEN 6 @NT 9 YOS ...eviriieieseieeciee sttt s bbb 1,131.56 990.37
LU T aTe - o Lo OO TSP TUTPSTTRRR 3,276.53 3,209.54

Trust-managed Provident fund
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

I Net defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit obligation 2,397.48 2,220.30

Fir Value OF Plan @SSETS.......couiiiiririeieriiiiisisietete ettt tese st se e sa st s e se e s s senenanens 2,397.48 2,220.30

YU o LU L (=] ol 1 o TSR — —
I Actuarial assumptions

DISCOUNT FATE ...ttt b bbbttt 7.50% 7.85%

Average remaining tenure of investment portfolio (years)... 5.70 5.95

GUAraNTEEA rate OF FETUMN .....ouiiiiicceieiet ettt a s ee et ee 8.65% 8.55%

Group's contribution (in respect of companies where applicable) for Provident Fund and Superannuation Fund aggregating
Rs. 336.33 crores (2018 : Rs. 292.31 crores) has been recognised in the Profit or Loss under the head ‘Employee Benefits Expense’.
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32. Capital Management
The Group's capital management strategy is to effectively determine, raise and deploy capital so as to create value for its shareholders. The
same is done through a mix of either equity and/or preference and/or convertible and/or combination of short term /long term debt as may
be appropriate.
The Group determines the amount of capital required on the basis of its product, capital expenditure, operations and strategic investment
plans.
The capital structure is monitored on the basis of equity, net debt and maturity profile of overall debt portfolio of the Group.
The retail loan finance business of the companies in financial service business is subject to the capital adequacy requirements of the Reserve
Bank of India (RBI) and National Housing Bank (NHB). Under capital adequacy guidelines, these companies are required to maintain a capital
adequacy ratio consisting of Tier | and Tier Il Capital. The total of Tier Il Capital at any point of time, shall not exceed 100 percent of Tier |
Capital. The Group companies in the financial services business have complied with all regulatory requirements related to regulatory capital
and capital adequacy ratios as prescribed by RBI and NHB.

Net Debt and Equity other than financial services segment is given in the table below :

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Lo I o[ N 37.851.64 36,237.85
Net Debt

Y Ao TR (=T 1 1T (=] o 5,438.16 5,099.73
Long term debt (including current portion of long term debt).......cocceeevvieiccicceeeeece e 7,237.00 6,262.34
[CTo TS D= o OSSR 12,675.16 11,362.07

Less :
LT L= 0 T V=T 11 1 T<] ) ¢ 3,914.12 4,937.51
Cash @Nd BANK BAIANCES .......cueiuiiuiieiitiitecec ettt ettt ettt st aasbesbesbesbesbasbesbesba e e senssnsssssreereans 7,740.88 6,069.71
NET DEDT ... 1,020.16 354.85
Total Capital dEPIOYE ...........c.c o 38,871.80 36,592.70

33. Financial Instruments
Financial Risk Management Framework
In the course of its business, the Group is exposed to a certain financial risks namely credit risk, interest risk, currency risk & liquidity risk. The
Group's primary focus is to achieve better predictability of financial markets and seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial
performance.
The financial risks are managed in accordance with the risk management policy which has been approved by Board of Directors of the
respective Group companies.
Board of Directors of financial services businesses have established Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is responsible
for developing and monitoring risk management policies for their businesses. The financial services businesses are exposed to high credit risk
given the unbanked rural customer base and diminishing value of collateral. The credit risk is managed through credit norms established
based on historical experience.
1. Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates etc. could affect the Group’s income or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments including cash flow. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while maximising the return.
(a) Currency Risk
The Group's exposure to currency risk relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities including anticipated sales & purchase and
borrowings where the transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group's foreign currency exposures are managed within approved parameters. The Group hedges its foreign currency risk
mainly by way of Forward Covers. Other derivative instruments may also be used if deemed appropriate.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(a)

(b)

Currency Risk (contd.)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period are as follows :

Rupees crores

US Dollar Euro JPY Others Total
As at 31t March, 2019
Financial ASSEtS .......c.cceeurrrirriniicieieieieenens 1,202.70 409.39 25.92 592.17 2,230.18
Financial Liabilities ........ccccoervrniieceininininiens 2,482.77 2,158.02 800.79 238.72 5,680.30
As at 31t March, 2018
Financial ASSEtS .......cccocoeererrnneriicicieinerseneene 1,579.66 366.33 5.59 615.01 2,566.59
Financial Liabilities .........cccoeveveeeerceirciiienene 2,676.83 787.77 504.25 374.32 4,343.17

Hedge Accounting - Forwards

Contracts that meet the requirements for hedge accounting are accounted as per the hedge accounting requirements of Ind AS 109
-Financial Instruments, while other contracts are accounted as derivatives measured through profit or loss.

Details of Forward Foreign Currency Contracts outstanding at the end of reporting period
Rupees crores

2019

Carrying amount of
hedging instrument
included in Other Financial
Assets / (Liabilities)

Outstanding Contracts

Notional
value (#)

Notional
value (#)

Carrying amount of
hedging instrument
included in Other Financial
Assets / (Liabilities)

Cash Flow Hedges
Buy currency
Maturing in 1+ years
—  EUR/INR e 388.30 (47.83) 404.08 3.87
Sell currency
Maturing less than 1 year
—  USD/INR .o 924.29 11.04 408.39 2.00
—  USD/KRW ..o 274.17 (2.24) — —
—  GBP/KRW ..o 90.62 0.12 0.07 15.97
—  EUR/KRW ..o — — 0.13 63.62
—  ZAR/INR ot 233.63 23.75 215.57 (12.21)
—  EUR/INR ..o 1,641.43 (0.02) 37.23 (0.59)
—  AUD/INR ...t — — 39.60 1.15

# Notional value of respective currency pair have been converted into presentation currency i.e. INR using year end closing exchange rate

Interest Rate Risk

The Group uses a mix of cash and borrowings to manage the liquidity & fund requirements of its day-to-day operations. Further,
certain interest bearing liabilities carry variable interest rates.

Interest Rate risk on variable rate borrowings is managed by way of interest rate swaps.

Hedge Accounting : Interest Rate Swaps

Interest Rate swaps entered into by the Group meet the requirements for hedge accounting under Ind AS 109 -Financial Instruments,
and thus are accounted as such.

Details of Interest Rate Swaps outstanding at the end of reporting period
Rupees crores
2019

Average Notional
interest
rate

2018

Carrying amount of Average Notional Carrying amount of
interest value hedging instrument
rate included in Other
Financial Assets /

(Liabilities)

Outstanding Contracts

value hedging instrument

included in Other
Financial Assets /
(Liabilities)
Cash Flow Hedges
Floating to fixed Interest Rate Swaps
EUR
Maturing in 1+ years ...

0.74% 388.30 (0.43)

(0.43)

0.74% 404.08 3.58

3.58
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(c) The movements in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve for instruments designated in a cash flow hedge are as follows:
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018

Exchange Interest Rate
Rate Risk Risk hedges

Interest Rate
Risk hedges

Exchange
Rate Risk

hedges

hedges

Balance at the beginning of the year ... (88.46) 2.32 (86.14) 93.10 2.31 95.41

(Gains)/Losses transferred to Profit or Loss

on occurrence of the forecast transaction.. 25.93 — 25.93 (79.82) — (79.82)
(Gains)/Losses transferred to Profit

or Loss due to cash flows no longer

expected t0 OCCUN ....ovvvevceeeerieeeceeene — — — 0.03 — 0.03

Change in Fair Value of Effective

Portion of cash flow hedges................... 4.80 (4.01) 0.79 18.45 0.04 18.49

Deferred Tax on the above..................... (12.70) 1.40 (11.30) 7.29 (0.03) 7.26

Balance at the end of the year (70.43) (0.29) (70.72) 39.05 2.32 41.37

Add / (Less) : Non Controlling interest .. 1.65 — 1.65 11.27 — 11.27

Add: Share of Associate/Joint Venture .. 32.47 — 32.47 (138.78) — (138.78)
Total (36.31) (0.29) (36.60) (88.46) 2.32 (86.14)
Of the above:

Balance relating to continuing hedges.. (36.31) (0.29) (36.60) (88.46) 2.32 (86.14)

2. Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group usually deals with creditworthy counterparties and obtain sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The exposure is continuously monitored.

(a)

(b)

Financial Guarantees

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks. The Group’s maximum exposure
in this respect is the maximum amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantee is called on. The accounting of financial
guarantees is as explained in Note 2(k). The amount recognised in Balance Sheet as liabilities is as below:

Rupees crores

2018
39.25

Particulars 2019

Financial guarantee Habilities. ..o e 34.42

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of Financial Guarantee contracts is Rs. 440.41 crores and Rs. 847.96 crores
as at 31 March, 2019 and 2018 respectively

Trade Receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by Ind AS 109, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The Group has computed expected credit losses based on a
provision matrix which uses historical credit loss experience of the Group. Forward-looking information (including macroeconomic

information) has been incorporated into the determination of expected credit losses.
The loss allowance for trade receivables using expected credit losses for different ageing periods are as follows:

Rupees crores

Other than related to hospitality segment Not due Less than More than

6 months 6 months

past due past due
As at 31t March, 2019
Gross Carrying amMOUNT ......c.cveiriririerereereneseseeiese e anees 2,979.91 4,619.69 875.72 8,475.32
Loss allowance ProviSioN..........occvecereeeeesessesesiernesesnesessneseenenes — (16.85) (234.56) (251.41)

2,979.91 4,602.84 641.16 8,223.91

As at 31t March, 2018
Gross Carrying @amouUNTt ......c.cccerinineiecii s 3,499.25 3,687.84 420.60 7,607.69
Loss allowance ProviSion.........cccennneeeinenerses e — (8.36) (141.86) (150.22)
NET. .o 3,499.25 3,679.48 278.74 7,457.47
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(b)

(9]

Trade Receivables (contd.)
2019 2018

Related to hospitality segment

GIOSS CAITYING @MOUNT ...ttt s e bbbt b bbb bbbt 1,690.50 1,579.39
LOSS AllOWANCE PIrOVISION ....cviiieiicicieieieisir ettt eseses (9.38) (33.20)
N = S 1,681.12 1,546.19

Reconciliation of loss allowance for Trade Receivables:

Other than related to hospitality segment
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Balance as at beginning of the Year ... 150.22 126.87
Additions during the year........cccceu..... 121.81 59.79
Amounts written off during the year.. (3.80) (9.30)
Amount recovered during the year............ (5.65) (7.53)
Impairment losses reversed / written back .... (8.39) (23.06)

Foreign exchange translation difference .. (2.78) 3.45
Balance as at end Of the YEAI.............ccccuiieiiiiiiiieicceecccee ettt nena 251.41 150.22

Related to hospitality segment

Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Balance as at beginning of the Year ... 33.20 78.18
Additions dUMNNG the YEAI ...t 7.09 1.21
Amounts written off during the Year.........ccciiiiiiici s (30.91) (46.19)
Balance as at end Of the YA ..o 9.38 33.20

In respect of other financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount
of each class of financial assets.
Credit risk related to financial services business

Financial services business has a comprehensive framework for monitoring credit quality of its Retail and other loans based on days
past due monitoring. Repayment by individual customers and portfolio is tracked regularly and required steps for recovery is taken
through follow ups and legal recourse.

The following tables set out information about credit quality of loan assets measured at amortised cost:

Retail Loans
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Gross carrying value of Retail and SME loan assets
Neither Past due NOT iMPAITEA ... ..ottt 51,590.11 40,205.26
Past due but not impaired
1 MONTN PAST QUE ..ttt ettt bttt b e n e 5,213.29 4,650.29
2-3 MONTNS PAS QU 1.ttt ettt 6,805.69 6,553.76
IMpaired (AD0OVE 3 MONTNS)......c.ciuiiiiriiicicieieie sttt see 5,057.24 5,430.50
Total Gross carrying value as at reporting date ... 68,666.33 56,839.81

Trade Advances
Rupees crores

Particulars 2019 2018
Gross carrying amount of trade advances

Less than 2 months past due 1787.78 1379.61
2-3 MONTNS PAST QUE.....ecveieeiiiceieteteteee sttt s et e e s e ae s e e e st es et ese e e e s esesesesesaanssesesesennnnas 31.34 20.58
IMmpaired (@DoVe 3 MONTNS)....cioiiiiecci et nnn 55.19 37.08

Total Gross carrying value as at reporting date ..............ccooeeeiinnnccce e 1,874.31 1,437.27
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

() Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)
Inputs considered in the ECL model
In assessing the impairment of loans assets under Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Model, the loan assets have been segmented into
three stages. The three stages reflect the general pattern of credit deterioration of a financial instrument. The differences in
accounting between stages, relate to the recognition of expected credit losses and the calculation and presentation of interest
revenue.

The company categorises loan assets into stages based on the Months Past Due status:
— Stage 1: 0-1 month Past Due
— Stage 2: 2-3 months Past Due
— Stage 3: More than 3 months Past Due

Assumptions considered in the ECL model
The financial services business has made the following assumptions in the ECL Model:

— "Loss given default” (LGD) is common for all three stages and is based on loss in past portfolio. Actual cashflows are
discounted with average rate for arriving loss rate. Effective interest rate (EIR) has been taken as discount rate for all retails
loans.

— "Probability of default” (PD) is applied on Stage 1 and Stage 2 on portfolio basis and for Stage 3 PD is 100%. This is
calculated as an average of the last 60 months yearly average.

Estimation Technique
The financial services business has applied the following estimation technique in its ECL model:

— Probability of default for Stage 1 loan assets is calculated as average of 5 years of movement of cases from Stage 1 to Stage
3 in next 12 months. Probability of default of Stage 2 is calculated based on lifetime ageing of 4 years completed portfolio
moving to stage 3. In case of housing loan probability of default of Stage 2 is calculated based on outstanding loan portfolio
till March 2017 moving to stage 3.

— Loss given default is calculated based on discounted actual cash flow on past portfolio in default along with reversals.

There is no significant change in estimation techniques or significant assumptions during the reporting period.

Forward Looking Information

In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the financial services business considers historical loss rates on portfolio over a period
which covers most external factors like drought, government and policy changes etc and these historical PDs are converted in to
forward looking PDs considering the agricultural and GDP growth estimates.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the financial services business
considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the business’s historical experience, including forward-
looking information. The financial services business considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost and effort. The Company’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient that the financial assets with
‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit risk. As a result the Company
monitors all financial assets and loan commitments that are subject to impairment for significant increase in credit risk.

Definition of default

The Company considers a financial asset to be in “default” and therefore Stage 3 (credit impaired) for ECL calculations when the
borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Policy for write off of Loan Assets

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when there is no realistic prospect of further recovery. This is generally
the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Company's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
() Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)

Impairment loss

The expected credit loss allowance provision is determined as follows:

Particulars

Performing

Underperforming

Impaired loans

Rupees crores

Loans - 12 loans - ‘lifetime - ‘lifetime ECL
month ECL ECL credit impaired
not credit
impaired’
Gross Balance as at 31t March, 2019 ......cccccoevvveveircrecreenns 56,803.40 6,805.69 5,057.24 68,666.33
Expected credit 10SS rate .......ccoveeierinrnnneeerseeeeeene 0.99% 9.96% 17.99%
Carrying amount as at 31t March, 2019 (net of impairment
PIOVISION) ...ttt aeee et se e nenenas 56,240.84 6,128.16 4,147.64 66,516.64
Gross Balance as at 315t March, 2018 .....ocoeiveeeeeceeceeeee 44,855.55 6,553.76 5,430.50 56,839.81
Expected credit 10SS rate .......coocececernnencceeeesesereeeeens 1.22% 11.94% 35.35%
Carrying amount as at 31t March, 2018 (net of impairment
PrOVISION) .ttt et se et se e 44,295.02 5,716.13 3,543.67 53,554.82

Level of Assessment - Aggregation Criteria

The financial services business recognises the expected credit losses on a collective basis that takes into account comprehensive credit
risk information and considers the economic and risk characteristics, pricing range and sector concentration.

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision for Retail and SME loans

Particulars

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL not

credit impaired

Lifetime
ECL credit
impaired

Rupees crores

Balance as at 1 April 2017 430.80 341.27 2,295.89 3,067.96
— Transferred to/from 12 months ECL 271.17 (70.48) (200.69) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL not credit impaired (41.58) 275.60 (234.02) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL credit impaired (16.36) (60.48) 76.84 —
Loans that have been derecognised during the period (46.29) (42.83) (532.43) (621.55)
New loans originated during the year 333.09 136.44 93.05 562.58
Write-offs (0.03) (0.49) (270.45) (270.97)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (370.27) 258.60 658.64 546.97
Balance at 31 March 2018 560.53 837.63 1,886.83 3,284.99

Particulars

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL not

credit impaired

Lifetime
ECL credit
impaired

Rupees crores

Balance as at 1 April 2018 560.53 837.63 1,886.83 3,284.99
— Transferred to/from 12 months ECL 325.77 (186.68) (139.09) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL not credit impaired (50.03) 140.29 (90.26) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL credit impaired (17.84) (122.96) 140.80 —
Loans that have been derecognised during the year (67.64) (124.80) (565.74) (758.18)
New loans originated during the year 321.60 121.69 160.97 604.26
Write-offs (0.02) (2.34) (907.70) (910.06)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (509.81) 14.70 423.79 (71.32)
Balance at 31 March 2019 562.56 677.53 909.60 2,149.69
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

() Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)
Trade advances

Rupees crores

2019 2018

LOSS @llOWANCE PrOVISION ...ttt 65.64 37.72

Impairment loss on financial services receivable for the year ended 31 March, 2019 recognised in profit or loss Rs. 66.20 crores
includes bad debt written off Rs. 1170.79 crores, changes in provision for expected credit loss of Rs. (1107.38) crores and changes
in provision for loan commitments Rs. 2.79 crores.

12 months ECL' and 'lifetime ECL not credit impaired’ are collectively assessed. ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired’ are individually assessed.
Loan which are written off continue to be subject of enforcement activity.

Significant changes in the gross carrying value that contributed to change in loss allowance

The financial services business mostly provides loans to retail individual customers in Rural and Semi urban area which are of small
ticket size. Change in any single customer repayment will not impact significantly to Company’s provisioning. All customers are
being monitored based on past due status of outstanding loan and corrective actions are taken accordingly to limit the financial
services businesses risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial services business’s loan portfolio is predominantly to finance retail automobile and allied equipment loans, housing
loans and other business loans. The financial services business manages concentration of risk primarily by geographical region in
India. The following tables show the geographical concentrations of financial loans as at year end:

Rupees crores

2019 2018

CaITYING VAlUE ...t 68,666.33 56,839.81
Concentration by Geographical region in India:

NOIER e 26,667.79 19,242.97
B@ST ottt 9,088.05 6,888.90
WVEST .ottt 18,062.15 18,639.79
SOULN bbb 14,848.34 12,068.15
Total Loans as at reporting Period ...t snn 68,666.33 56,839.81

Maximum Exposure to credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans is their carrying amount. The maximum exposure is before considering the effect of
mitigation through collateral.

Narrative Description of Collateral

The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the financial services business upon extension of credit, is based on
management’s credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral primarily include vehicles and residential units purchased by retail
loan customers.

Quantitative Information of Collateral - Credit Impaired assets
(Collateral Coverage - Value of collateral available to mitigate the credit exposure)

Rupees crores

Loan To Value (LTV) Range Gross Value of loans in stage 3
UPLO 5090 COVEIAGER .. .uiiiiiiiiirt et 1,618.44 2,776.13
5T = 7090 COVERIAGR ..ciititiriiuiirist sttt bbbt b et b bbbt n bbbt en s 1,296.94 1,405.01
71 = T00% COVEIAGR..... .ot 1,415.91 856.71
ADOVE T00% COVEIAGE .euvrirerrieireseieeeeesseseseeesesseses s ss e es s 725.95 392.65

TOTAI .. 5,057.24 5,430.50
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
3. Liquidity risk management
(@) Maturity profile of financial liabilities

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to 5 years

1 Year 5 Years and above

As at 31t March, 2019
Short term borrowings - Principal .........ccccoevvnneicccreinrcees 10,541.01 — — —
Short term borrowings - INterest ..........cccceevnnereeeiesrereneenes 245.17 — — —

Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - Principal ......ccoeeeeeiiiice e 16,781.12 30,091.01 5,879.11 7,682.31

Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long

term debt) - INTErest .....cccerrieiecee e 4,025.44 5,280.83 2,004.38 4,219.33
Trade Payables ... 20,992.17 7.93 — —
Financial GUarantees ... 440.41 — — —
Other Financial Liabilities........cccooieniinnicncereeeece s 2,509.39 182.10 5.68 156.15
TOTAI ..o 55,534.71 35,561.87 7,889.17 12,057.79

As at 31t March, 2018
Short term borrowings - Principal ........cccoovveereiininnseeeiens 11,325.54 — — —
Short term borrowings - Interest ...........cccoevveenccccrennrneens 165.44 — — —

Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - Principal ... 10,763.20 22,525.88 5,006.67 6,342.65

Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long

term debt) - INTEreSt .....ocveececececeee e 3,291.23 4,381.59 1,599.00 3,974.37
Trade Payables ... 18,287.34 4.88 — —
Financial GUarantees .........cccoenenniernniseneeee s 847.96 — — —
Other Financial Liabilities ........cccccoveeieiiececececeeeeeeeeeee, 2,062.95 246.49 7.28 133.11
TOAl ... 46,743.66 27,158.84 6,612.95 10,450.13

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not
be payable under the arrangement.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
(b) Derivative financial instruments - Payables
The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. When the amount payable or
receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the

yield curves at the end of the reporting period.
Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to
1 Year 5 Years
As at 31t March, 2019
INTEreSt rate SWAPS ....c.ovivieiiiiiicicieieeei st 3.88 61.29 —
Foreign exchange forward CONtracts .........cccooerienncinireeniseeesie s 11.34 73.47 —
COMMOUILY TULUIES ..ottt 0.94 — —
Put liability on derivatives on subSIdIaries ... 308.67 495.74 93.66
L[ €= RS 324.83 630.50 93.66
As at 31t March, 2018
Interest rate SWaps ... 28.33 14.44 3.80
Foreign exchange forward CoNtracts .........cooceeueurerrniniccieinnsseseeeeeee s 23.15 6.24 —
COMMOUILY TULUIES ....ooceiieeieceeet s 1.01 — —
Put liability on derivatives on subsidiaries .... 159.91 618.98 92.30
TORAl ot ee 212.41 639.66 96.09

4.  Sensitivity Analysis
(a) Foreign Currency Sensitivity

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in major exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant.

Rupees crores

Particulars Currency Change in Effect
rate on profit

before tax

Year ended 315t March, 2019 ..........cccouriiviniierreerseseeeeeiene KRW/USD +10% 8.68
KRW/JPY +10% (69.54)

INR/EUR +10% 3.99

Year ended 315t March, 2018 .......cveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e KRW/USD +10% 13.38
KRW/IPY +10% (49.44)

INR/EUR +10% (2.94)

The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting
period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(b) Interest Rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on exposure to interest rate for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and
borrowings affected, after the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is
affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Rupees crores

Particulars Currency Increase / Effect on Effect on
decrease in  profit before pre-tax
basis points tax equity

Year ended 315t March, 2019.........cccoveeiiennnrceeeseseseieienne INR +50 bps (74.85) —

EUR +25 bps (1.72) 2.29

Year ended 315t March, 2018 ........coeeeeeeieeereeceeeeeeeese s INR +50 bps (56.66) —

EUR +25 bps (2.47) 3.56
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
5.  Fair Value Disclosures (contd.)
(a) Financial Instruments regularly measured using fair value - recurring items (contd.)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments measured at fair value

Rupees crores

Particulars Unquoted Equity Derivatives on  Written put option
investment interest over on interest over

Subsidiaries, Subsidiaries
associates and joint
ventures (Net)

Year Ended 31t March, 2019
Opening balance ... 71.82 175.86 (826.27)
Total gains or losses recognised:
a) in profit / (I0SS) .ccoeeeviieririiiirienne 0.03 24.57 199.08
b) in other comprehensive income (7.24) — —
Purchase during the year ..........ccooevinneenneenecnseeeneens 5.38 — —
Addition during the year ... — — (279.48)
Excercise of put OPtion ......ccooeereeereieneniee e — — 37.54
Exchange differences 2.57 — —
Closing balance ............cooviiiiieiiiiiccece e 72.56 200.43 (869.13)
Year Ended 315t March, 2018
Opening balance ... 56.91 185.22 (679.34)
Total gains or losses recognised:
a) in profit / (I0SS) cceevevevveccrerererinnns 0.03 (8.53) (138.48)
b) in other comprehensive income (6.84) — —
Acquisitions during the year ... 30.28 (0.83) (22.75)
Excercise of put Option ......cccoeeeceiecrssrce e — — 14.30
Transfers out of Level 3 ..o (8.56) — —
Closing balance 71.82 175.86 (826.27)
Equity Investments designated at FVTOCI
Rupees crores
Particulars 2019 2018
Investment in quoted and unquoted equity instruments
Fair Value Of INVESTMENTS ..ottt nn 295.87 70.09
(b) Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost
Rupees crores
Particulars Carrying Value Fair value Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
As at 31t March, 2019
Financial assets
a) INVEStMENTS.....cvoeeieeicicireeeeeeee 1,792.83 1,825.85 793.01 1,032.84 —
b) Trade Receivables............c..c..... 9,905.03 9,905.03 — 9,905.03 —
¢) Financial Services Receivable... 68,325.31 67,918.17 — — 67,918.17
d) Security Deposit. 484.02 484.02 — 484.02 —
e) Other Loans........ 1,606.00 1,606.00 — 1,591.41 14.59
f) Fixed DEPOSIt ....ccurureeerererererecieinirinenens 138.58 138.58 — 138.58 —
Total 82,251.77 81,877.65 793.01 13,151.88 67,932.76
Financial liabilities
a) Non-Current Borrowing.............cce..... 43,526.17 43,615.65 18,113.61 25,502.04 —
b) Trade Payable................ 21,000.10 21,000.10 — 21,000.10 —
¢) Short Term Borrowings..... 10,541.01 10,541.01 — 10,541.01 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities................... 21,602.90 21,602.90 7,490.08 13,806.86 305.96
Total 96,670.18 96,759.66 25,603.69 70,850.01 305.96
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
5.  Fair Value Disclosures (contd.)
(b) Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost (contd.)

Rupees crores
Particulars Carrying Value Fair value Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As at 31t March, 2018

Financial assets

a) INVeSTMENTS.......cceeeeiiiiecececre e 1,963.73 2,025.80 910.64 1,112.53 2.63
b) Trade Receivables.........c.cccovevvererrennnne. 9,003.66 9,003.66 — 9,003.66 —
¢) Financial Services Receivable.............. 54,954.37 55,338.12 — — 55,338.12
d) Security DepOsit .......cooueerieerrenirerricnns 448.30 448.30 — 448.30 —
€) Other Loans......ccovevieeeniersenieernienns 2,169.49 2,152.46 — 2,004.61 147.85
f) Fixed DEPOSit ..cccerereeerererererecinieieinenene 86.04 86.04 — 86.04 —
Total 68,625.59 69,054.38 910.64 12,655.14 55,488.60

Financial liabilities

a) Non-Current Borrowing..........ccceeeeee. 33,809.18 34,505.72 15,320.55 19,185.17 —
b) Trade Payable.........ccccovverrivrriiininee 18,292.22 18,292.22 — 18,292.22 —
) Short Term Borrowings..........ccceeervnne. 11,325.54 11,325.54 — 11,325.54 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities................... 14,941.70 14,927.53 5,029.07 9,833.12 65.34
Total 78,368.64 79,051.01 20,349.62 58,636.05 65.34

Except for the above, carrying value of Other financial assets/liabilities represent reasonable estimate of fair value.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.
34. Significant Changes in Ownership
Disposal / Dilution of investments in associates and joint ventures
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited (MCIE)

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Group sold 2,19,26,895 shares representing 5.79% of share capital of Mahindra CIE Automotive
Limited (MCIE), for an aggregate consideration amounting to Rs. 562.14 crores.

Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited (MSSSPL)

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Group sold 26,36,401 shares representing 22% of share capital of Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel
Private Limited (MSSSPL), for an aggregate consideration amounting to Rs. 146.32 crores.

Brainbees Solutions Private Limited (Brainbees)

During the year ended March 31, 2019, due to capital infusion by other investors in Brainbees, the Group’s interest in Brainbees has reduced
from 26.76% to 20.20%.
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 31t March, As at 31t March,
Operation
2019 2018 2019 2018
Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers Limited ..........ccccoevrnnncnccccennnnenes India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Heavy Engines LIimited ........ccccooemiencnnicnmnesneceseeienee India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited.........ccocovricrennnssecccrcenre India 99.45% 99.13%
Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited...........cocerrurierreeerenseseneneisenseenens India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Automobile Distributor Private Limited..........c.cocoeoeurrrnenenes India 100.00% 100.00%
NBS International Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Automotive Australia Pty. Limited.........c.cccocovienrinieereieeenenns Australia 100.00% 100.00%
Ssangyong Motor COMPANY......cocverceeiiirinririee et South Korea 74.65% 72.46%
Ssangyong Motor (Shanghai) Company Limited.........c.cocoeorrrnrnencncnee China 74.65% 72.46% 100.00% 100.00%
Ssangyong European Parts Center B.V........cccoocvinnnniccccsnseeee Netherlands 74.65% 72.46% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra EUrOPe S.i.l. oottt Italy 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra and Mahindra South Africa (Proprietary) Limited ............... South Africa 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Graphic Research Design S.r.l. ....coveoicceiircccene Italy 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra West Africa Ltd......cccceeerriniieeeeeesseseeeseie e Nigeria 100.00% 100.00%
Gromax Agri Equipment Limited ... India 60.00% 60.00%
Auto Digitech Private LIimited .......cccoeerrererereriniereseeeseeseseeeeseseeseneenes India 100.00% 100.00%
Kota Farm Services LIimited........oveeierinnnrieeeirsee e India 47.81% 47.81% 51.02% 51.02%
Trring0.com LIMITE.....ciiiecuiieieiceceee e India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra USA INC...cuieiieiiiiccieieieinseseseee et U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural Machinery Co., Ltd **......c..ccovuneee. Japan 66.67% 66.67%
Mitsubishi Noki Hanbai €o., Ltd. ......cocceriiirnieiniirereeneeeseseeis Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Factory €., Ltd. ..o Japan 66.67 % 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Engineering co., Ltd. ........ Japan 66.67 % 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Daiya Computer Services 0., Ltd. ......oooeeecciiniriceciee s Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Asset Management co., Ltd. ...cccoveeeiininnnsnciennssceceeens Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Mexico S. de. R. L. Mexico 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra do Brasil Industrial Ltda ........ccccememimniencnneneeeeeees Brazil 100.00% 100.00%
Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi .......ccccovvvieiiiininennne Turkey 86.80% 77.18%
Hisarlar Tthalat Thracat Pazarlama Anonim Sirketi ........cccccoveeiueverecnnes Turkey 86.80% 77.18% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited..........cccoeoerrnnenicnnes India 51.43% 51.46%
Mahindra Insurance Brokers Limited .........ccccocornrnreeneninnncecceneens India 41.14% 41.17% 80.00% 80.00%
Mahindra Rural Housing Finance Limited India 46.24% 45.80% 89.91% 89.00%
Mahindra Asset Management Company Private Limited...........c.cccceueee. India 51.43% 51.46% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Trustee Company Private Limited..........cocooeerennnnncncncnnnes India 51.43% 51.46% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited.........cccovenienncnnicenenceeenenes India 51.49% 51.51%
Mahindra Infrastructure Developers Limited .........cccooeoeeereereriinnes India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra World City (Maharashtra) Limited ..........ccccoerennnnncnccnes India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Integrated Township Limited.........cccoooverrinnicnncennccnenes India 37.77% 37.79% 73.36% 73.36%
Knowledge Township Limited ..........ccoovinricecnnseccceese s India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Residential Developers Limited .........cccocoveeeeinninrisrieeaens India 37.77% 37.79% 100.00% 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group's subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 31t March, As at 31t March,
Operation === —
2019 2018 2019 2018
Industrial Township (Maharashtra) Limited..........cccoovnieernnnnncncnne India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Anthurium Developers Limited ..........cccocvrriiicnnnneeeceeeeerees India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Water Utilities LIMited ........cccoovrrnirniercenee s India 50.97% 51.00% 99.00% 99.00%
Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private Limited.........cccoeeevvvrcecicrincrenne India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Deep Mangal Developers Private Limited ..........cccooovnicccnnnenneenee India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Moonshine Construction Private Limited India 51.49% 51.51% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited India 88.35% 84.78%
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited ........ccccceurrnnencicureninnenes India 67.64% 67.71%
Mahindra Hotels and Residences India Limited..........ccccocvvivccnninnnee India 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
Gables Promoters Private Limited .......c.cocovnrenieereniennieneeeeneeeneens India 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
Heritage Bird (M) SAn. BRd......c.coiiiiiciririnnreeee s Malaysia 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
Infinity Hospitality Group Company Limited .........ccocevvienicnninnnenns Thailand 50.04% 50.09% 100.00% 100.00%
MH Boutique Hospitality Limited @...........ccccovvnecccnninncccenenes Thailand 33.14% 33.18% 49.00% 49.00%
MHR Holdings (Mauritius) LImited..........cccormrrneeeeiirncceeenenens Mauritius 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
Covington S.a.r.l ..o Luxembourg 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
HCR Management Oy ........cccccuemmrmreriicirieieinseseseee e seseeees Finland 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club RESOIt O .....ccceiuereieieiriiiiccieieieieisesee et sesns Finland 65.25% 64.43% 96.47% 95.16%
Kiinteistd Oy HIMOS GArdens. .........cevuueerercieeremsereneeeenensesesssesseseesesesesnenes Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Suomen Vapaa-aikakiinteistot Oy LKV ......ccoccoviemicnncinnecneecenees Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Himoksen Tahti 2 (up to15" May, 2018) ......cccccerrierrunenns Finland — 64.43% — 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Vanha YKKOStii c.ccovevicecicecscceee s Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy KatinNUIKKa.......coueureereeriririneeeireeeeseeisesieesese e eeseseenes Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteisto Oy Tenetinlahti ... Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy MEIOSNIEMI ......covueriiiriieieicreeie e Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta 1 .......ccooveeeeeinisiseeee s Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta 2 ... Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy TiUrUNNIEMI ....c.cvcviiiicccceree s Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan LiikekiinteistOt 1 .......ccoveureuriereeniirenieireenieneneens Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
SUPEIMArket Capri OY ..c.occeveierureeerieieereseeseeeeesesee st sesesseseaes Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Kylpylantorni 1 ..o Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteisto Oy Spa Lofts 2 Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistoé Oy Spa Lofts 3 Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Kuusamon PUlkKajarvi 1 ......ccoocererrnineninrnnerceineens Finland 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Ownership Services SWeden AD.........cccveiencrnieeee s Sweden 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
AT Villas T AB ..ottt Sweden 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
A€ Villas 2 AB ...ttt Sweden 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
ATe Villas 3 AD oo Sweden 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Sweden Ab Are ........coooo.uooervveeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseesseessene Sweden 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Sport and Spahotels AB........ccccoveiirinnnneeciessseeenas Sweden 33.28% 32.86% 51.00% 51.00%
Holiday Club Rus LLC Russia 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows (contd.):
Place of Proportion of ownership
Incorporation interest *
and Place of As at 31% March,
Operation
2019 2018

Proportion of voting
power where different

As at 315t March,
2019 2018

Name of the Subsidiary

Holiday Club Canarias INvestments S.L. ......c.cocerererrenieernicrnenceerneeineeens Spain 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Sales & Marketing S.L. .....cccccoovinnniccecininnne Spain 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Resort Management S.L.......cccccoovnnicecrcenennnns Spain 65.25% 64.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments LLC @ ........ccccoeueururnencnecncusenenenenes U.AE 33.14% 33.18% 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited India 92.88% 92.25%

Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe Holdings S.a.r.l.....ccccoovvniniiccennnnne. Luxembourg | 100.00% 100.00%

Peugeot MotoCyCles S.A.S. ..o France 51.00% 51.00%

Peugeot Motocycles Deutschland GMbH........cccccovvvvvcciineinreceee Germany 51.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Peugeot Motocycles Italia S.p.A. ..o Italy 51.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Tractor Assembly INC. ...c.ooviiirnirrreec s US.A.| 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Agri Solutions LIMited .........cccceeeerernnnreriseeeesseseeeenes India 98.40% 98.40%

Automobili Pininfarina GmbH (w.e.f. 7" May, 2018 ) (Formerly

known as Blitz 18-371 GMDBH) .....cccveueverriieeeececceee e Germany | 100.00%

Mahindra Susten Bangladesh Private Limited (w.e.f. 19% April, 2018) Bangladesh | 100.00%

SsangYong Australia Pty Limited (w.e.f. 31t July, 2018) ....cccovvrvvcrrennnes Australia 74.65% 100.00%

Mahindra Automotive Mauritius Limited (w.e.f. 06 November,

D) TR Mauritius |  100.00%

Mahindra Summit Agriscience Limited (w.e.f. 09 October, 2018)...... India 98.40% 100.00%

PT Mahindra Accelo Steel Indonesia (w.e.f. 19t December, 2018) ...... Indonesia 99.96%

MRHFL Employee Welfare trust (ESOP) .......cccoceueurerrerinieeieiesireseneeees India 46.24% 100.00%

MSPE Urja s.r.l. (w.e.f. 29" March, 2019) .....cccoerurrnrriieeeierseseseenes Italy | 100.00%

Automobili Pininfarina Americas Inc. (w.e.f. 15% January, 2019)

(Formerly known as Harkey Acquisition, L.L.C.)..ccoovriirrcinrrinncenee USA | 100.00%

Mahindra EPC Irrigation Limited (Formerly known as EPC Industrie

Limited) India 54.58% 54.65%

Mahindra HZPC Private Limited ........cccoerrrereeieenrrreceeeeeeeseseseens India 58.99% 58.99% 59.95% 59.95%
Mahindra Greenyard Private Limited...........cooeoeerrnnnicccerssneenes India 59.04% 59.04% 60.00% 60.00%
OFD HOIAING BV ...ttt enenena Netherlands 81.77% 83.09% 83.09%

Origin Direct Asia Ltd. ..ot Hong Kong 49.06% 83.09% 60.00% 100.00%
Origin Fruit DIreCt B.V. ..o Netherlands 81.77% 83.09% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Fruit Services South America SPA.......cccoocvemmrnnincrceneneneene Chile 81.77% 83.09% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Direct Asia (Shanghai) Trading Co. Ltd. ....cccccevrninicerninirnenenen. China 81.77% 83.09% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone Limited Cayman Islands 75.17% 75.29%

Bristlecone Consulting Limited .........cocoovirennnnnccccecccees Canada 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone (Malaysia) SAn. Bhd........cocooiiiurinininnnrcccesreseeees Malaysia 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone International AG ... Switzerland 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone UK Limited .......cccorririeueininirririee e U.K. 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
BriSIECONE INC. et U.S.A. 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC ......c.covrririrecierninneeecieeeeseseseseeeees U.AE. 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone India Limited India 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone GMBH .......c.ciiiiecee e Germany 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone (Singapore) Pte. Limited ... Singapore 75.17% 75.29% 100.00% 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 31t March, As at 31t March,
Operation
2019 2018 2019 2018
Mahindra Intertrade LIMited ........cocoeererererirrcerree e India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Steel Service Centre LImited........ccooeurceereeineneeseneeeseneeenens India 61.00% 61.00%
Mahindra Electrical Steel Private Limited... . India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Auto Steel Private Limited ........cccoevrrriniceeinierreneneceeens India 51.00% 51.00%
Mahindra MiddleEast Electrical Steel Service Centre (FZC) .................. U.A.E. 90.00% 90.00%
Mahindra Holdings Limited .........ccoceieeeeriereeeeisesseesiese e India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Overseas Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited.............. Mauritius | 100.00% 100.00%
PMTC Engineering SpA (Formerly known as Mahindra Racing S.p.A.)...... Italy 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Racing UK Limited........ccourrrinceieininnnirncceseiseseseseeeieinas UK.| 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Susten Private Limited ........cccoerenerniirninneneeeseeseeis India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Renewables Private Limited ........cccconvnrneicninnnsncccens India| 100.00% 100.00%
Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited India | 100.00% 100.00%
MachinePulse Tech Private Limited ........cccooeerurirnnicseeessesereeeins India | 100.00% 100.00%
Divine Solren Private LiMited ........ccooeriiirnieirieeceseeseeeeseeeseeis India | 100.00% 100.00%
Neo Solren Private Limited ........ccceeierinnnceccirsseeeesesieeeeeas India| 100.00% 100.00%
Marvel Solren Private LIMIted ......cocooreeeererrerenerereeeeseee e eeseseeseeeseneens India | 100.00% 100.00%
Astra Solren Private LImited .......cooeeuriirnniicceen e India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mega Suryaurja Private Limited ... India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Engineering and Chemical Products Limited...........c.ccoveeeeee India | 100.00% 100.00%
Retail Initiative Holdings LIMIited ........cccvureurerrrerinreereerseee s India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Retail Limited (Formerly known as Mahindra Retail Private
(T4 C=Te ) ORI India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Defence Naval Systems Limited .........ccccovrnneecenrnnenccnns India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited .........cccovueererersinisineeeeeesseseenes India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited .........cccoeerirnrnirccininnreeene India 51.00% 51.06%
Mahindra First Choice Services Limited ........cccoerrrrnncnceeeenrneenas India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Namaste Limited .........ccccoeeurerrnniieeennseseseee s India 88.35% 84.78% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Integrated Business Solutions Private Limited... India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ COMPaNY ........cccoereeeeeeeeerrrneneneeeerereesesereeees India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra eMarket Limited..........ocoerueurrirnnieceseeesesesesee e India 83.47% 83.47% 100.00% 100.00%
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited ..........cccoeerrrnneiceeennreseeees India 92.24% 92.25% 98.66 % 98.66%
Mahindra Construction Company Limited India 65.39% 65.40% 91.66% 91.66%
Officemartindia.com Limited .........ccooirniniiireecreeee e India 50.00% 50.00%
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited @...........cccocoeeurimnrnencncccennns India 46.66 % 46.66%
Mumbai Mantra Media Limited .........cccoveereinenienniirncenee s India | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Airways Limited.........cccerrniiceeniereceeeesseseseseeienenenns India| 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Marine Private Limited ..........cccoceerrnnniccseeeseseseeeeeas India 81.58% 81.58%
Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private Limited.........ccooeererrnnncrccennns India 50.00% 50.00%
Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited ESOP Trust ............... India 51.43% 51.46% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited ESOP Trust...........c.cccoueeuuns India 67.64% 67.71% 100.00% 100.00%
M&M Benefit Trust India| 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP TruSt .......ccceueueueuninererenieeieieeseseseseeienenas India | 100.00% 100.00%

SUNTISE INTTIATIVES TIUST...vevevceieeeeeceeeeteece ettt se e neas India| 100.00% 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group's subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of
Operation As at 31°* March, As at 31°* March,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited ESOP Trust........ccooevereeernenieennes India 51.00% 51.06% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited ESOP Trust .........c.cccoceurrerenenes India 88.35% 84.78% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Waste To Energy Solutions Limited .........cccoccovnvnirniniinnnee India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Telecom Energy Management Services Limited ................... India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Fresh Fruits Distribution Holding Company (Europe) B.V ... Netherlands 98.40% 98.40% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Automotive North America INC. ....cooveevecrrneeneenreeneees USA 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Vehicle Sales and Service INC........ccvverrirerneencnnecnnenens USA 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra North American Technical Center, INC. ....ccoocvverivcnricirennes USA 100.00% 100.00%
Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S (Tractor) ....ccovveeeinnirsireeeresesse s Turkey 100.00% 100.00%
Erkunt Sanayi A.S. - (FOUNAIY) ... Turkey 98.69% 98.69%
Mahindra Logistics LIMited ........coccomerrierniinenierrereeeneeeeeesseses India 58.52% 58.77%
Lords Freight (India) Private Limited........cccceoeurrnriniccsinirssesereeicieens India 48.53% 35.26% 82.92% 60.00%
2 x 2 Logistics Private Limited ........ccovvcinnieiiicccesens India 32.19% 32.33% 55.00% 55.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Vacation Club SLU (formerly Passeport Sante SL)
(w.e.f. 181 December, 2018) .....cceveeeeeereeeereeeeeeee ettt Spain 65.25% 100.00%
New Democratic Electoral TrUSt @ ..........coceuvvviernicrnmnicneeineneecseceeenes India 27.24% 46.64%
Mahindra Armored Vehicles Jordan, LLC (w.e.f. 31t March, 2019)....... Jordan 88.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Bloomdale Developers Limited (w.e.f. 28" May, 2018)
(Formerly known as Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited) .............. India 51.49% 100.00%
Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC .......cccoccovnennccrnenirnnnes U.AE. 88.00% 88.00%

* excluding shares issued to ESOP Trusts of the respective entities/their holding companies but not allotted to employees.

@ entities have been treated as subsidiaries even though the Group holds less than half of the voting power in these entities as it has
unilateral control over the investees due to other factors that give power like control over composition of board, management control etc.

** |n addition to JPY750 million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY2250
million “Class A" shares (shares with no voting rights); “Class A" shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with
Common Stock.
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35. Disclosure of Interest in Subsidiaries and Interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(b) Details of Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries that have material Non Controlling Interest

Rupees crores

Sr.  Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of Ownership Profit / (Loss) allocated to Accumulated non
No. Incorporation Interest and voting rights non controlling interest Controlling Interest
and Place of  held by non controlling
Operation interests
2019 2018 2019 2018
1 | Mahindra & Mahindra Financial
Services Limited.......ccceeererrininccncene India 48.57% 48.54% 734.06 526.35 5,298.03 4,681.61
Ssangyong Motor Company............. South Korea 25.35% 27.54% (92.67) (144.93) 1,102.69 1,243.23
Individually Immaterial Non
Controlling Interest 60.00 65.99 1,959.85 2,325.63
TOtal ..o 701.39 447.40 8,360.57 8,250.47

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited’s Principal Activity - Financing of Automotive vehicles.
Ssangyong Motor Company’s Principal Activity - Manufacturing & selling of vehicles & automotive parts

() Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations and are based on their
standalone financial statements.

Rupees crores

Particulars Mahindra & Mahindra Ssangyong Motor
Financial Services Limited Company

2019 2018 2019 2018
Current Assets 29,954.30  23,902.08 4,812.76 3,704.02
NON CUITENT ASSEES ...ttt bbbt 37,123.69  28,941.40 | 10,133.64 9,664.30
CUITENT LIADIITIES .. cveeveeeteectce ettt ettt ettt st be e ae e ete e sneneee 22,212.24  18,238.24 7,182.06 6,004.40
NON CUITeNt LiabilIties ... e 33,957.72  24,960.39 3,414.46 2,849.65
Equity Interest Attributable t0 the OWNErs.......oouiiiiiirc s 5,610.00 4,963.24 3,247.18 3,271.03

Non Controlling Interest 5,298.03 4,681.61 1,102.69 1,243.23

REVENUE ...ttt ettt b e h e e e b e s b et e s et e e e e et eneeneesenaensene 8,921.73 7,177.96 | 24,184.44  20,410.44
EXPBNISES. ..ttt bbbt n et 7,389.95 6,157.92 | 24,529.88  20,908.87
Profit / (LOSS) TOr The YEAT c.vu ettt 1,531.78 1,020.04 (345.44) (498.43)
Profit / (Loss) attributable to the owners of the company.... 797.72 493.70 (252.77) (353.50)
Profit / (Loss) attributable to the Non-Controlling INterest...........cooceeerrrrinnenerceeeenene 734.06 526.35 (92.67) (144.93)
Dividends paid to Non controlling INtErest ..........covrririirieeinisreeece e 119.33 65.73 - —
Opening Cash & Cash EQUIVAlENTS.........c.ciiiiiirrccce s 271.90 411.45 1,134.69 1,057.41
Closing Cash & Cash EQUIVAIENTS ...ttt 501.68 271.90 2,142.88 1,134.69

Net Cash INFIOW / (OULFIOW) w...cueeeeececeeececeee ettt 229.78 (139.55) 1,008.19 77.28
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Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates
Interests in Joint Ventures :
The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities of the Group are :

Name of the Entity

Mahindra World City (Jaipur) LImited #.......cccovrreiieeeerricee e
Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited #........cccoerrieernicnncienicseces s
Mahindra World City Developers Limited #.........cccocorrrrrnnnicceeeseseseceeeie e
Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai Ltd #.........cccoerencincece s
Mahindra Homes Private Limited #.........cccovneniniencescsee s
Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Private Limited ...
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited.........ccceierinrrnneniiense e
Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited #.......cccoviiiiniicccces e
Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited ........cccoovrveiinrnnneecnenssseienns
Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited #.........cocoooeieiennnnnccceerees
Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited #.........cccoovieniennieniencenecsecceseens
Jinan Qingqi Peugeot Motocycles CO Ltd.......coirurieurirerererieeisieeeiseseseseesseseeaee e
Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited #........ccccoorrrnniennnnnncenes
SY Auto Capital €., LTD # ...ciceieeecieeee ittt ae e nnens

Mahindra Industrial Park Private Limited (Formerly known as Industrial Cluster
LRIV L G T 0L C=Te ) e

Classic Legend Private Limited # .........ccoeemiiirccccen e
Mahindra Happinest Developers LIMited #.......ccoocrieneiernicnceieneesesees s
M.L.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private Limited .........cccoorniicurnennnneneeeeiese e
Resfeber Labs Private Limited.........cccoerrieicnicsrcneeeesee e
Carnot Technologies Private LIMited .........cccceirriiiieirnnnseeceeiee e
Tropiikin RANtasauNa O ........ccriiieieieieiinireicieie ettt
Sampo Rosenlew Oy (w.e.f. 17t December, 2018) M ....ccvveeereviiieceeerssee e
Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private) Limited (w.e.f. 31t May, 2018) ......cccevverrerirerrieerererenns
ZOOMCAN INC.iitiiiiiiii bbb bbb
Transtech Logistics Private Limited (w.e.f. 51" October 2018) ......cccevevereneneeenucernrneenes

Mahindra Top Greenhouse Pvt Ltd (w.e.f. 151" May 2018) #.......ccocoeervernnicrrecerreens

STANDALONE CONSOLIDATED
ACCOUNTS ACCOUNTS

Place of Operation

India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
China
Mauritius

South Korea

India
India
India
India
India
India
Finland
Finland
Srilanka
USA
India

India

Place of Incorporation and Proportion of ownership

interest

As at 31t March,

2019
74.00%
89.00%
60.00%
74.98%
50.00%
22.81%
88.87%
49.00%
51.00%
51.00%
50.00%
57.00%

51.00%

100.00%
60.00%
51.00%
27.06%
25.05%
23.66%
48.23%
48.98%
35.00%
17.03%
39.79%

60.00%

2018

74.00%
70.00%
89.00%
60.00%
74.98%
50.00%
51.00%
86.27%
49.00%
51.00%
51.00%
50.00%
57.00%

51.00%

100.00%
60.00%
51.00%
27.06%
25.05%
23.66%

47.58%

11.19%

# Entities have been treated as Joint Ventures even though the Group holds more than half of the voting power in these entities as it does
not have unilateral control over the investee, primarily due to existence of agreements that give the substantive rights to other investors.

** As per agreement with other shareholders, the economic interest of Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited is 50%.

A Status changed from associate to Joint Venture.
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36. Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates (contd.)
Interests in Associates :
The Group's interests in associates are :

Name of the Entity Place of Incorporation and Proportion of ownership
Place of Operation interest
As at 31%* March,

2019 2018
SWaraj ENgiNes LIMITEA .....ccuouieeirieiecieirie et ses et esssesnnnnens India 33.30% 33.31%
Tech Mahindra LIMITEa......ccericieereeseeieesei ettt India 28.90% 29.03%
Mahindra FINANCE USA LLC ...ttt USA 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited # ... . India 11.44% 17.25%
CIE AUTOMOTIVE S.A. # oottt b s ss s bbb ese s s nnnas Spain 7.44% 7.44%
PSL Media & Communications LIMIted .......ccovirreinerinirneecesesisisie e India 40.00% 40.00%
The East India Company Group Ltd BV #......c.cccviercnnicneieesecrseereeseies e UK 18.62% 18.62%
Kiinteistd Oy Sallan KYIPYIE .....c.ovieeirieerreerees e Finland 46.63% 46.63%
Kiinteistd Oy SENIONi-SAIMAa. .....cvieeurireerereiriressiseeisisiaei s sess et sesesenes Finland 29.50% 29.50%
Shiga Mitsubishi €O, Ltd......cccouririirriieieirriri e Japan 22.40% 22.40%
Kagawa Mitsubishi €O, LEA. ....c.ccooiiiiririeieririscesie et Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Okanetsu KOGYo €O, L. ..ot e Japan 33.77% 33.77%
Kita-lwate Ryono Co, Ltd. .. Japan 25.00% 25.00%
AIZU RYONO €0, LEG. ..t Japan 21.25% 21.25%
Jyoban RYON0 €0, LEA. .cucuiiriririiiccieiete ettt Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Fukuryo Kiki Hanbai €O, Ltd. .....ccceurrrieccieieieiserereeecie e Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Ibaraki Ryono Co, Ltd. .... Japan 21.64% 21.64%
KOtobUKi NOKi €O, LTA. ..cvovieiiiiicicicieieisisiee ettt en Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Honda Seisakusho €O, LEA. ..ottt st sttt n e Japan 25.00% 25.00%
Yamaichi Honten KK €O, LEA. ..c.coovvereeiiiiiiieieteecieeeeeteceetee ettt Japan 42.86% 42.90%
Hokkaido Mitsubishi Noki Partnership ..o Japan 30.35% 27.90%
Tohoku Mitsubishi Noki Partnership Japan 28.28% 28.28%
Tobu Mitsubishi NOKi Partnership .......cccoeerrrneeiiernrseeeesesesss e Japan 42.92% 41.15%
Chubu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership..........ccoueeeieeninicneenee s Japan 55.59% 55.59%
Seibu Mitsubishi NOKi Partnership .........cccecerieerirnneeieiissesse s Japan 34.95% 37.47%
Kyushu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership ...........ccccoerrrriicennnscccee e Japan 24.84% 24.84%
P.F. holding BV Netherland 40.00% 40.00%
Merakisan Private Limited India 33.17% 33.17%
Brainbees Solutions Private LIMIted.........cccerrrrreririeieirrseseseee e India 20.20% 26.76%
Medwell Ventures Private LIMited ..o India 30.60% 0.06%
HDG-ASIA LT ...oceeieiiceeiseee it ss et snnsesnssnsesaes Netherland 50.00% 50.00%
SCOOT NETWOIKS INC. ottt USA 45.71% 49.14%
Sampo Rosenlew Oy (upto 16 December, 20T8)/ .......cceieururirererireeeeieie e Finland — 35.00%
Resson Aerospace Corporation (w.e.f. 8" May, 2018) #......ccoccerrerrereeeriniierniersenseinieens Canada 10.60%
Kumsan Dokum Mazelmeri A.S. ..ottt s e s sanens Turkey 25.10% 25.10%
Mahindra Knowledge Park Mohali Limited (w.e.f. 7" May, 2018)......c.cccccvvererererrrerinnes India 46.15%

* including participating preference shares

The financial statements of the Associates are drawn upto 31 March, 2019, other than for CIE Automotive, S.A, Mahindra CIE Automotive
Limited & The East India Company Group Ltd where it is upto 31 December, 2018.

# entities have been treated as Associate even though the Group holds less than 20% of the voting power in these entities as it has influence
over the entity due to the board representation.

A Status changed from associate to Joint Venture.
All of the above associates Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.
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36. Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates (contd.)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -
Consolidated

2019 2018

Current assets

Cash aNnd CaSh EQUIVAIENTS ..ot b et b ettt b ettt b e e e s 2,042.70 1,966.06
(011 T=T AT T=1 19,523.07  16,140.94
TOTAI CUITEINT @SSETS ..u.uviviitieeiiteeee e ee e et s e saeetesbestesaesteseeses e s e ssessesaesbesbesbeseesbesea s e st esssssssseaeseeabesbeebe st seesa st et snsesessesressesresrastas 21,565.77  18,107.00
TOTAI NON-CUITENT @SSETS......viveeeeeeieiete ettt ete e et et e e te et et et et et e e eseeseebeeteetessassesensensenseseesseseebeeseebesaeasensensensenseneeseesesseesaans 11,881.08 12,330.24

Current liabilities

FINANCIAL HTaDIITIES. ...ttt 7,158.00 4,998.01
(O 1 d (LT ] o1 A= 4,403.60 4,149.09
Loy = VT A=Y a L 1T oY1 A=Y 11,561.60 9,147.10
TOtal NON-CUITENT [HADITITIES .. .eveeeieieeee ettt sttt et et e s eaeeaeebeebeebeebesaebessensensenseneeaeeseeaesreans 1,123.20 1,938.25
NON-CONTIOIING INTEIEST ...ttt bbbt b et bbbt d bbb ettt bbb et e et s eban 477.70 509.05
VTR LU TSI o T4 T @ o T=T = Lo o T TSR 34,742.13  30,772.93
INTEIEST INCOMIE ... e s s e et n s e n e e 207.70 145.50
Depreciation @nd @mMOrTISAtION . ........c. ittt b bt E e bbbt e bbbt n e b b 1,129.20 1,084.98
INTEIEST COST ..ttt bbb bbb E bbb bbb bbb 133.20 162.38
[NCOME TAX EXPEINSE ...iuereetettesierietetetesesereseseseesesesese e sessesesese s e e e esebesese s e e e e s e s e b e se s et e s e A b e b e s e ne e e e st e bebene et e et ebebene e e e nsesetan 1,254.40 1,092.64
PrOFit / (LOSS) FOI the YEAI ..ottt bbbttt 4,288.83 3,786.22
Other Comprehensive INCOME FOr the YEAT ...ttt enan 242.60 (218.99)
Total Other Comprehensive INCOME fOr the YEAT ..o 4,531.43 3,567.24

Tech Mahindra Limited’s Principal Activity - Information Technology (IT) and IT Enabled Services

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -

Consolidated

2019 2018
CIOSING NET @SSETS ......evviiiiiiiisieie ettt ettt bbbttt b e sttt b bbbt e £ bbb e bt E bbb e b bt e e et e b e sttt s b e bbb enen 20,284.35 18,842.82
GIOUP SNATE TN 20 1.t d et e e 28.90% 29.03%
LT oYU T 1 OO 5,862.18 5,470.07
GOOAWIIL 1.t 496.31 496.31
(01 g =T 2 Uy 41T o SOOI 516.71 —
CAITYING @MOUNT ...ttt a bbb R e e s e e e £ e bR b b e e e et b bbbt e et b b n s s e s 6,875.20 5,966.38

IMIAIKET VAIUB......ceeeeeeee ettt ettt et et et e aeeteebeebeebesbeesessesansenseseessesseseebeeseabeebaasestessessessensensensesseseesnasenns 19,898.00 16,356.35
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(@) Names of related parties where transactions have taken place during the year:
(i) Associates :
Sr. No. | Name of the entity Sr. No. | Name of the entity
1. Tech Mahindra Limited 19. | The East India Company Group Ltd BVI
2. Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 20. | Merakisan Private Limited
3. CIE Automotive, S.A. 21. | Shiga Mitsubishi Nokihanbai co., Ltd.
4. Swaraj Engines Limited 22. | Kagawa Mitsubishi Nokihanbai co., Ltd.
5. Mahindra Finance USA, LLC 23. | Okanetsu Kogyo co., Ltd.
6. PF Holdings B.V. 24. | Kitaiwate Ryono co., Ltd.
7. Pininfarina S.p.A. 25. | Aizu Ryono co., Ltd.
8. | Satyam Venture Engineering Services Private Limited 26. | Joban Ryono co., Ltd.
9. Tech Mahindra Foundation 27. | FukuryoKiki Hanbai co., Ltd.
10. | Tech Mahindra (Shanghai) Co. Limited 28. | lbaragi Ryono co., Ltd.
11. | Brainbees Solutions Private Limited 29. | Kotobuki Noki co., Ltd
12. | HDG-Asia Ltd 30. | Honda Seisakusho co., Ltd.
13. | PSL Media & Communications Limited 31. | Yamaichi Honten co., Ltd.
14. | Kumsan Dokum Mazelmeri A.S. 32. | Hokkaido Mitsubishi Noki Partnership
15. | Sampo Rosenlew Oy Group (upto 16" December, 2018) 33. | Tohoku Mitsubishi Noki Partnership
16. | Scoot Networks INC 34. | Tobu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership
17. | Medwell Ventures Private Limited 35. | Chubu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership
18. | Resson Aerospace Corporation (w.e.f. 8" May, 2019) 36. | Seibu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership
(i) Joint Ventures :
Sr. No. | Name of the entity Sr. No. | Name of the entity
1. Classic Legends Private Limited 13. | Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited (upto 27t May, 2018)
2. Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited 14. | Transtech Logistics Private Limited (w.e.f. 05" October, 2018)
3. Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited 15. | Mahindra Industrial Park Private Limited (w.e.f. 215t April, 2018)
4, Mahindra World City (Jaipur) Limited 16. | Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai Ltd
5. Mahindra World City Developers Limited 17. | Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited
6. Gippsaero Pty. Limited 18. | Mahindra Happinest Developers Limited
7. Mahindra Aerostructures Private Limited 19. | Brightsolar Renewable Energy Limited
8. Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited 20. | Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Pvt Ltd
9. Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private) Limited (w.e.f. 315t May, 2018) | 21. | Mahindra BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited
10. | Sampo-Rosenlew Oy (w.e.f. 17t December, 2018) 22. | Zoomcar Inc
11. | M.LT.R.A. Agro Equipments Private Limited 23. | Jinan Qingqi Peugeot Motocycles Co Ltd
12. | Mahindra Homes Pvt Ltd 24. | SY Auto Capital Co., LTD
(iii) Key Management Personnel (KMP) :
Sr. No. | Name of KMP Designation
1. Mr. Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
2. Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director
3. Mr. Nadir B. Godrej Independent Director
4. Mr. R. K. Kulkarni Independent Director
5. Mr. M. M. Murugappan Independent Director
6. Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Independent Director
7. Mr. Vikram Singh Mehta Independent Director
8. Mr. Anupam Puri Independent Director
9. Mr. T. N. Manoharan Independent Director
10. | Mr. Vijay Kumar Sharma (appointed as a Nominee Director Nominee Director
representing LIC w.e.f. 14" November, 2018)
11. | Mr. S. B. Mainak (ceased to be a Nominee Director representing LIC | Nominee Director
w.e.f. 11 May, 2018)
(iv) Close member of KMP and entities controlled/jointly controlled by KMP :
Sr. No. | Close member of KMP
1. Mrs. Anuradha Mahindra
2. Mrs. Radhika Nath
3. Mrs. Mamta Goenka
4. Mr. Suresh Ram Kishore Goenka
5. Mrs. Shakuntala Kulkarni
6. Dr. T. N. Gajendran
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(@) Names of related parties where transactions have taken place during the year: (contd.)

Sr. No. | Entities controlled/jointly controlled by KMP

1. The Indian & Eastern Engineer Company Private Limited
2. EPIC Television Network Private Limited

3. Empire Products Limited

(v) Entity belonging to Promoter/Promoter Group holding 10% or more in the company

Sr. No. | Name of the Company

1. Prudential Management & Services Private Limited

(vi) Welfare Funds:

Sr. No. | Name of the Funds Sr. No. | Name of the Funds
1. M&M Employees' Welfare Fund 1 3. M&M Employees' Welfare Fund 3
2. | M&M Employees' Welfare Fund 2 4. | Mahindra World School Education Trust

(b) The related party transactions are as under :

Rupees crores

SI.  Nature of Transactions For the Associates / Joint Close Entity Welfare
No. Year Ended Associates Ventures/ members belonging Funds
31t March of Joint of KMP  to Promoter/
Subsidiaries/  Ventures of and Entities Promoter

Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries controlled/ Group
of Associate jointly holding 10%
controlled or more in

by KMP the Company

1. | Purchases :

[CToTeTe LR 2019 2,987.94 158.01 — — — —
2018 3,048.95 131.78 — — — —

Property, Plant and

Equipment .......ccccceevvinncnnnen 2019 98.12 0.15 — — — —
2018 13.61 0.04 — — — —

SEIVICES. .ot 2019 469.13 483 — — — —
2018 202.23 1,002.54 — 0.18 — —

2. | Sales:

(CToTo Yo NN 2019 633.59 11.98 — — — —
2018 1,049.30 55.50 — — — —

Property, Plant and

Equipment ... 2019 — 0.08 — — — —
2018 0.23 — — — — —

SEIVICES. ..o 2019 67.00 34.50 — 0.02 — —
2018 46.78 45.26 — 0.42 — 0.05

3. | Investments :

Purchases/Subscribed/

CONVErSION ...ovieiiirieieiceeens 2019 30.15 249.19 — — — —
2018 173.40 501.06 — — — —

Sales/Redemption/Conversion .. 2019 — — — — — —

2018 20.93 32.08 — 0.01 — —




37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(b) The related party transactions are as under: (contd.)

Sl.
([}

Nature of Transactions

For the
Year Ended
31t March

Associates /
Associates
of
Subsidiaries/
Subsidiaries
of Associate

Joint
Ventures/
Joint
Ventures of
Subsidiaries

MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
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Close
members
of KMP
and Entities
controlled/
jointly
controlled
by KMP

Entity
belonging

to Promoter/
Promoter
Group
holding 10%
or more in
the Company

Rupees crores

Welfare
Funds

4. | Management contracts
including Deputation of
personnel :
From Parties.......ccccovvrieernnenes 2019 — — — = — —
2018 0.59 — — — — —
To Parties .....ccovvrrereencninennne 2019 4.81 2.21 — — — —
2018 3.83 2.09 — — — —
5. | Write off of Receivables......... 2019 83.54 — — — — —
2018 — — — — — —
6. | Managerial remuneration...... 2019 — — 18.35 — — —
2018 — — 16.73 — — —
7. | Stock options given by the
COMPANY - 2019 — — 2.51 — — —
2018 — — 3.51 — — —
8. | Commission and other benefits
to Non-executive/independent
directors (including nominee
(o [T(Ta (015 I 2019 — — 3.29 — - —
2018 — — 3.73 — — —
9. | Finance :
Inter Corporate deposits
GIVEN s 2019 — 56.07 — — — —
2018 28.79 178.65 — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
refunded by parties................ 2019 — 114.07 — — — —
2018 — 130.65 — — — —
Debenture issued by Related
PArtIeS .o 2019 — 7.7 — — = =
2018 — — — — — —
Loan given......ccccceovnnnnenicines 2019 — — — — — —
2018 — — 4.50 — — —
Inter Corporate deposits
TaKEN o 2019 520.00 — — — — —
2018 180.00 7.71 — — — —
Inter Corporate deposits
refunded........ccoovviiiiininnns 2019 135.00 — — — — =
2018 505.00 — — — — —
Interest income ......ccovvvvencnnee 2019 0.34 29.26 0.49 — — —
2018 0.66 59.27 0.44 — — _
Interest expense........ccccvveuene. 2019 30.69 — — — — =
2018 15.03 1.39 — — — _
Dividend received..................... 2019 427.14 17.46 — — — —
2018 298.75 6.66 — — — —
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(b) The related party transactions are as under: (contd.)

Nature of Transactions

For the
Year Ended
31t March

Associates /
Associates
of
Subsidiaries/

Subsidiaries
of Associate

Joint
Ventures/
Joint
Ventures of
Subsidiaries

Close
members
of KMP
and Entities
controlled/
jointly
controlled
by KMP

Entity
belonging

to Promoter/
Promoter
Group
holding 10%
or more in
the Company

Rupees crores

Welfare
Funds

Dividend received in kind ...... 2019 239.99 — — — — =
2018 — — — — — —
Dividend distributed ................ 2019 — — 2.25 0.60 106.14 3.05
2018 — — 2.06 0.57 91.99 2.64
10. | Guarantees & Collaterals
Given (Transactions during
the year) ... 2019 2.45 — — — — —
2018 3.55 — — — — —
11. | Guarantees and Collaterals
Taken (Transactions during
the Year) ...oococveveveeeeceene, 2019 0.24 — — — — —
2018 0.40 — — — — —
12. | Other Transactions :
Other Income ........ccceveveennee. 2019 11.61 3.7 — 0.42 — —
2018 5.22 3.24 — — — —
Other EXpenses.......c.ccouveevnene. 2019 5.85 152.05 — 0.19 — —
2018 196.03 81.54 — — — 2.00
Reimbursements received
from parties......ccccovvveeennnne 2019 8.33 15.31 — — — 1.60
2018 6.29 18.98 — — — 1.50
Reimbursements made to
PArtIes .o 2019 6.68 1.59 — — — —
2018 4.26 2.19 — — — —
13. | Outstandings :
Trade and Other payable....... 2019 571.88 7.57 4.46 — — —
2018 922.49 6.38 412 — — —
Trade and Other receivables.. 2019 71.92 22.45 10.69 1.90 — 17.00
2018 112.10 182.98 10.61 1.90 — 17.00
Debenture/Bonds issued by
PAtIeS ..o 2019 — 392.87 — — — —
2018 — 394.87 — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
GIVEN e 2019 30.69 — — — — —
2018 29.14 77.11 — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
taKEN oo 2019 510.00 — — — — —
2018 125.00 7.71 — — — —
14. | Security Deposit paid : 2019 0.02 — — — — —
2018 0.02 0.32 — — — —
15. | Advances given .........ccoveenn. 2019 2.84 — — — — —
2018 — — — — — —
16. | Guarantee given outstanding... 2019 440.41 — — — — —
2018 847.96 — — — — —
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38. Segment Information
Operating Segments

The reportable segments of the Group are Automotive, Farm Equipment, Financial Services, Real Estate, Hospitality and Others. The segments
are largely organised and managed separately according to the organisation structure that is designed based on the nature of products and
services and profile of customers. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker. Description of the each of the reportable segments is as under:

Automotive: This segment comprises of sale of automobiles, spares, mobility solutions, construction equipments and related services.
Farm Equipment: This segment comprises of sale of tractors, implements, spares and related services.

Financial Services: This segment comprises of offering financial products ranging from retail and other loans, SME finance, housing finance,
mutual funds and life and non-life insurance broking services.

Real Estate: This segment comprises of projects, project management & development and operating of commercial complexes.
Hospitality: This segment comprises of sale of timeshare and vacation ownership.

Others: This segment mainly comprises of IT Services, after-market, defence, steel trading and processing, logistics, solar, powerol, agri business,
two-wheelers, etc.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") evaluates the Company’s performance and allocates resources based on an analysis of various
performance indicators by operating segments. The CODM reviews revenue and gross profit as the performance indicator for all of the
operating segments.

The measurement of each segment’s revenues, expenses and assets is consistent with the accounting policies that are used in preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Segment result represents the profit before interest and tax without allocation of central administration
costs, share of profit / (loss) of associates and joint ventures.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below:

Rupees crores

Automotive Farm Financial  Real Estate  Hospitality Others Total Eliminations Consolidated
Equipment Services Total
Revenue
External Revenue 59,051.11 22,078.19 10,313.75 605.10 2,237.83 10,434.70 104,720.68 = 104,720.68
52,707.66 21,633.90 8,599.23 570.67 2,316.63 7,436.68 93,264.77 — 93,264.77
Inter Segment Revenue 121.47 325.03 31.33 14.58 2.76 2,310.70 2,805.87 (2,805.87) —
85.14 354.49 21.43 18.38 0.27 1,472.00 1,951.71 (1,951.71) —
Total Revenue 59,172.58 22,403.22 10,345.08 619.68 2,240.59 12,745.40 107,526.55 (2,805.87)| 104,720.68
52,792.80 21,988.39 8,620.66 589.05 2,316.90 8,908.68 95,216.48 (1,951.71) 93,264.77
Segment Result 2,141.06 2,381.57 2,703.04 36.81 96.84 (24.61) 7,334.71 (57.57) 7,277.14
2,026.23 3,051.10 1,850.58 65.07 222.10 17.37 7,232.45 (45.30) 7,187.15
Share of profit/(loss) of equity
accounted investees (net) 1,366.52
1,107.26
Reconciliation to Profit/(Loss) before
tax
1. Unallocable corporate expenses, net
of income 213.87
(352.21)
2. Interest expenses not allocable to
segments (635.19)
(577.20)
3. Interest income not allocable to
segments 424.18
332.40
4. Exceptional Items 224.32
2,628.12
Profit before tax 8,870.84
10,325.52
Out of total external revenue above:-
- From contract with customers (as
defined under Ind AS 115) 93,666.33
- From financial services 9,962.80
- Others 1,091.55
Total 104,720.68
Other information
Depreciation and Amortisation expense 3,102.12 435.50 75.53 3.84 82.78 253.05 3,952.82 — 3,952.82
2,511.95 362.96 55.21 4.32 99.99 210.72 3,245.15 — 3,245.15
Additions to non-current assets 4,812.14 734.51 135.62 6.13 182.21 1,421.17 7,291.78 — 7,291.78
4,186.75 575.73 70.58 4.97 243.22 658.96 5,740.21 — 5,740.21
Notes:-

1. Additions to non-current assets comprises of capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets including those
under development and capital advances.

2. Figures in the above table for the current financial year have been presented in bold. Comparatives for each item have been presented
below the respective current year figures.
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38. Segment Information (contd.)
Segment assets and liabilities

Rupees crores

Automotive Farm Financial ~ Real Estate  Hospitality Others Eliminations Consolidated
Equipment Services Total
Segment Assets 37,023.23 13,196.49 71,554.25 2,089.39 5,099.58 12,144.39 | 141,107.33 — | 141,107.33
32,339.99 11,505.78 57,335.64 1,846.79 3,898.02 11,230.50 | 118,156.72 — | 118,156.72
Segment Liabilities 20,468.72 5,534.49 61,872.15 710.07 5,882.15 3,903.36 98,370.94 — 98,370.94
17,616.54 5,690.75 47,838.50 280.55 2,883.62 2,965.70 77,275.66 — 77,275.66
Reconciliation of segment assets to
total assets:
Segment Assets 141,107.33
118,156.72
Unallocable Assets 22,284.24
19,054.19
Total Assets 1,63,391.57
1,37,210.91
Unallocable Assets primarily comprise of equity accounted investment in associates and joint ventures, other investments, income tax assets,
deferred tax assets.
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to
total liabilities:
Segment Liabilities 98,370.94
77,275.66
Unallocable Liabilities 16,676.65
14,909.59
Total Liabilities 115,047.59
92,185.25

Unallocable Liabilities primarily comprise of borrowings (excluding related to Financial Services Segment) and deferred tax liability.

Revenue from type of products and services

The operating segments are primarily based on nature of products and services and hence the Revenue from external customers of each segment
is representative of revenue based on products and services.

Geographical information

The Group operates in principal geographical areas — India (country of domicile) and Overseas. The Group's revenue from continuing operations
from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

As at 31 March,

Year Ended 31 March,

Particulars 2019 2019

Revenue from

Other revenue

Total external

Non-Current

contract with revenue E
customers
57,228.69 10,548.18 67,776.87 59,920.82 25,913.99 22,364.35
36,437.64 506.17 36,943.81 33,343.95 12,449.26 11,820.70
93,666.33 11,054.35 1,04,720.68 93,264.77 38,363.25 34,185.05

The revenue information above is based on the location of the customer. The non-current assets in the above table represent Property, plant
and Equipment, Capital Work-in-progress, Goodwill, Other Intangible assets under development, Income tax assets (net) and Other loan assets
(Non-financial).

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31t March 2019 and 2018 respectively, revenues from transactions with a single external customer did not amount to
10 per cent or more of the Group’s revenues from external customers.
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39. Employee Stock Option Plan

The Company has allotted 55,24,219 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 10,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 1,73,53,034 Ordinary (Equity)
Shares of Rs. 5 each, 19,11,628 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each and 52,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each in the years ended 31% March,
2002, 31t March, 2010, 31 March, 2011, 31t March 2014 and 31 March, 2015 respectively to the Mahindra & Mahindra Employees’ Stock Option Trust set
up by the Company. The trust holds these shares for the benefit of the employees and issues them to the eligible employees as per the recommendation
of the Compensation Committee.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2000 (“2000 Scheme”) vest in 4 equal instalments on the expiry of
12 months, 24 months, 36 months and 48 months from the date of grant. The options may be exercised on any day over a period of five years from the
date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject to a minimum of 50 or number of options vested whichever is lower.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2010 (2010 Scheme"”) vest in i) 5 equal instalments
on the expiry of 12 months, 24 months, 36 months, 48 months and 60 months from the date of grant. OR ii) 4 instalments bifurcated
as 20% on the expiry of 18 months, 20% on the expiry of 30 months, 30% on the expiry of 42 months and 30% on the expiry of 54 months. OR
iii) 3 instalments bifurcated as 33.33% on the expiry of 12 months, 33.33% on the expiry of 24 months and 33.34% on the expiry of 36 months.
The options may be exercised on any day over a period of 5 years from the date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject to a minimum
of 50 or number of options vested whichever is lower.

Summary of stock options

Weighted average exercise

price (Rs.)

Options outstanding on 15t April, 2018.......c.cuiiiriiiceeierereecee e 59,62,690 5.63
Options granted during the Year ... 23,26,088 5.00
Options forfeited/lapsed during the Year..........occnirrrnnceeesseeee e 2,82,839 30.64
Options exercised during the YEar ... 16,54,106 6.04
Options outstanding on 315 March, 2019 ..o 63,51,833 4.18
Options vested but not exercised on 315 March, 2019......cccocvrnnneeenininrsreeene 16,64,616 5.46

Average share price on the date of exercise of the options are as under (adjusted for bonus shares)

Date of exercise

Weighted average share

20™ April, 2018 to 26™ March, 2019

price (Rs.)
761.78

Information in respect of options outstanding as at 31t March, 2019 (adjusted for bonus shares)

Range of exercise price

Number of options

Weighted average

remaining life

40,40,720 5.39 years
22,96,113 6.88 years
15,000 2.15 years

The fair values of options granted during the year are as follows (adjusted for bonus shares) :

Grant Date

No of years vesting

Fair value per options

131 NOVEMDEE, 20718....iiieeereeceieee ettt b e es
131 NOVEMDEL, 20718 ...ttt sttt e st e st ss e eseseeseseesaneas

5 years
3 years

Rs. 737.44
Rs. 744.28

The fair value has been calculated using the Black Scholes Options Pricing Model and the significant assumptions made in this regard are as follows :

Grant dated

RISK TrEE INTEIEST FATO .. ..eeieieiececeee ettt b ettt s e s e nebenas 7.65% 7.57%
o3 TCTaL =T I L (OO PSPPSR 5.51 years 4.51 years
Expected volatility 51.44% 54.78%
EXpected dividend VIl .........cccuiuiiiiec e 0.96% 0.96%
Exercise Price (Rs.) (adjusted for boNUS SNAres) ..o 5.00 5.00
Stock Price (Rs.) (adjusted fOor DONUS SHAres).........oouuriirrrnccer s 780.90 780.90
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40. Contingent Liability & Commitments
(A) Contingent Liability

41.

(a)

(b)

(9

(d)

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts comprise of :

(i) Excise Duty, Sales Tax, and Service Tax claims disputed by the Group relating to issues of applicability and classification
aggregating Rs. 2,440.05 crores before tax (2018 : Rs. 2,420.33 crores before tax).

(i) Other matters (excluding claims where amounts are not ascertainable) : Rs. 402.88 crores before tax (2018 : Rs. 151.13 crores
before tax).

Taxation matters :

(i) Demands against the Group not acknowledged as debts and not provided for, relating to issues of deductibility and taxability
in respect of which the Group is in appeal and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining to
be completed :

- Income-tax : Rs. 1,762.97 crores (2018 : Rs. 1,467.03 crores).

(i) Items in respect of which the Group has succeeded in appeal, but the Income-tax Department is pursuing/likely to pursue in
appeal/reference and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining to be completed :

- Income-tax matters: Rs. 351.80 crores (2018 : Rs. 335.58 crores).

The Customs, Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal (CESTAT) by its order dated 7" December, 2009 has rejected the Company's
appeal against the order dated 30 March, 2005 passed by the Commissioner of Central Excise (Adjudication), Navi Mumbai
confirming the demand made on the Company for payment of differential excise duty (including penalty) of Rs.304.10 crores in
connection with the classification of Company’s Commander range of vehicles, during the years 1991 to 1996. Whilst the Company
had classified the Commander range of vehicles as 10-seater attracting a lower rate of excise duty, the Commissioner of Central
Excise (Adjudication), Navi Mumbai, has held that these vehicles could not be classified as 10-seater as they did not fulfil the
requirement of 10-seater vehicles, as provided under the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 (MVA) read with Maharashtra Motor Vehicles
Rules, 1989 (MMVR) and as such attracted a higher rate of excise duty. The Company has challenged the CESTAT order in the
Supreme Court.

In earlier collateral proceedings on this issue, the CESTAT had, by an order dated 19% July, 2005 settled the controversy in the
Company's favour. The CESTAT had accepted the Company’s submission that MVA and MMVR could not be referred to for
determining the classification for the purpose of levy of excise duty and rejected the Department’s appeal against the order of the
Collector, Central Excise classifying the Commander range of vehicles as 10-seater. The Department had challenged the CESTAT order
in the Supreme Court.

Without prejudice to the grounds raised in this appeal, the Company has paid an amount of Rs. 40.00 crores in January, 2010. The
Supreme Court has admitted the Company’s appeal and has stayed the recovery of the balance amount till further orders.

Both these orders of the Tribunals were heard and disposed off by the Honorable Supreme Court, in August 2014. Since contrary
views were expressed by the Tribunals in two parallel proceedings, the Honorable Supreme Court directed that a larger bench of
the Tribunal be constituted to hear the appeals without expressing any opinion on the issues.

The Larger Bench of the CESTAT heard the matter in February, 2015 and by an order dated 27t February, 2015, remanded the matter
to the Commissioner of Central Excise for consideration of the case afresh keeping all issues open. The matter is presently pending
before the Honorable Commissioner. The Company strongly believes, based on legal advice it has received, that it has a good case
on merits and would eventually succeed in the matter. As regards Commander case the matter is still pending adjudication before
the Commissioner. However, pending the final outcome, basis the earlier adjudication order, the Company has reflected the above
amount aggregating Rs. 304.10 crores (duty+penalty) and the interest of Rs. 417.13 crores accrued on the same upto 31 March,
2019, under Note (a)(i) above.

In another case relating to Armada range of vehicles manufactured during the years 1992 to 1996, by the Company at its Nashik
facility, the Commissioner of Central Excise, Nashik passed an order dated 20*" March, 2006 confirming a demand of Rs. 24.75 crores,
on the same grounds as adopted for Commander range of vehicles. This matter was heard by the Honorable Tribunal at Mumbai,
which allowed the Company's appeal.

In respect of (a) & (b) above, it is not practicable for the Company to estimate the closure of these issues and the consequential
timings of cash flows, if any.

(B) Commitments :

(a)

(b)

The estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for as at 31t March, 2019 is
Rs. 2,699.71 crores (2018 : Rs.1,032.41 crores) and other commitment as at 31 March, 2019 is Rs. 982.71 crores (2018: Rs. 2,028.73 crores).

In February 2019, Supreme Court of India in its judgement opined on the applicability of allowances that should be considered to
measure obligations under Employees Provident Fund Act, 1952. The Group has been legally advised that there are interpretative
challenges on the application of judgement retrospectively and therefore has currently not considered any probable obligations for
past periods.

Research and Development expenditure :
In recognised Research and Development units :

Debited to the Statement of Profit and Loss, including certain expenditure based on allocations made by the Group, aggregated to
Rs. 1,440.30 crores (2018 : Rs.1,426.20 crores).
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss
PARENT
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited 85.56% 34,209.23 90.23% 4,796.04 -4.51% 12.35 95.38% 4,808.39
SUBSIDIARIES
Indian

Mahindra Automobile Distributor

Private Limited 0.03% 11.19 0.04% 2.19 0.00% — 0.04% 2.19
Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited 0.27% 108.32 0.05% 2.58 -0.25% 0.69 0.06% 3.27
Mahindra Heavy Engines Limited 0.99% 395.80 0.99% 52.63 0.03% (0.08) 1.04% 52.55
Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited 0.70% 280.41 -1.00% (52.99) 0.26% (0.71) -1.07% (53.70)
Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers

Limited 12.20% 4,877.70 13.56% 720.62 -0.33% 0.92 14.31% 721.54
NBS International Limited -0.02% (7.52) -0.14% (7.47) -0.02% 0.06 -0.15% (7.41)
Gromax Agri Equipment Limited 0.07% 26.00 0.02% 1.14 -0.09% 0.24 0.03% 1.38
Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited 0.07% 27.85 -1.20% (63.90) -0.11% 0.30 -1.26% (63.60)
Mahindra  Greenyard  Private

Limited 0.00% 0.88 -0.06% (3.15) 0.00% (0.01) -0.06% (3.16)
Mahindra HZPC Private Limited -0.02% (8.43) -0.31% (16.43) 0.00% (0.01) -0.33% (16.44)

Mahindra EPC Irrigation Limited
(Formerly known as EPC Industrie

Limited) 0.38% 149.95 0.21% 11.29 0.03% (0.07) 0.22% 11.22
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited 0.01% 4.75 -0.10% (5.45) 0.00% — -0.11% (5.45)
Kota Farm Services Limited 0.00% (0.30) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Bristlecone India Limited 0.32% 129.47 0.49% 25.84 0.07% (0.20) 0.51% 25.64

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial
Services Limited 27.28% 10,908.03 28.82% 1,531.78 -0.22% 0.59 30.40% 1,532.37

Mahindra Insurance Brokers
Limited 0.95% 380.86 1.34% 71.49 0.16% (0.44) 1.41% 71.05

Mahindra Rural Housing Finance
Limited 2.82% 1,127.08 5.23% 278.25 0.22% (0.59) 5.51% 277.66

Mahindra  Asset  Management
Company Private Limited 0.14% 57.42 -0.74% (39.49) 0.01% (0.04) -0.78% (39.53)

Mahindra Trustee Company Private
Limited 0.00% 0.22 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01)
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial

Services Limited ESOP Trust 0.09% 34.94 0.05% 2.68 0.00% — 0.05% 2.68

Mahindra Intertrade Limited 1.47% 588.30 1.46% 77.34 0.02% (0.06) 1.53% 77.28

Mahindra Steel Service Centre

Limited 0.28% 111.14 0.17% 8.80 -0.01% 0.04 0.18% 8.84

Mahindra Electrical Steel Private

Limited -0.01% (3.47) -0.05% (2.45) 0.00% — -0.05% (2.45)
Mahindra Auto Steel Private

Limited 0.24% 94.89 0.19% 9.98 0.00% (0.00) 0.20% 9.98

Mahindra Consulting Engineers

Limited 0.04% 16.64 0.02% 0.94 0.00% (0.01) 0.02% 0.93

Mahindra Lifespace Developers

Limited 4.38% 1,751.30 1.10% 58.58 0.28% (0.77) 1.15% 57.81

Mabhindra Infrastructure Developers

Limited 0.03% 12.18 0.19% 10.36 0.00% — 0.21% 10.36

Mahindra World City (Maharashtra)

Limited -0.02% (8.32) -0.01% (0.60) 0.00% — -0.01% (0.60)
Knowledge Township Limited 0.06% 23.67 0.00% 0.19 0.00% — 0.00% 0.19

Mahindra Bloomdale Developers
Limited (Formerly Known As
Mahindra Bebanco Developers

Limited) 0.04% 17.24 0.07% 3.48 0.01% (0.02) 0.07% 3.46
Industrial Township (Maharashtra)
Limited 0.01% 4.82 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% 0.01)
Anthurium Developers Limited 0.00% 0.25 0.00% 0.05 0.00% — 0.00% 0.05
Mahindra Integrated Township
Limited 0.20% 79.08 -0.09% (5.03) 0.00% — -0.10% (5.03)
Mahindra Residential Developers
Limited 0.22% 87.26 0.11% 5.78 0.00% — 0.11% 5.78
Mahindra Water Utilities Limited 0.14% 57.50 0.15% 7.87 0.00% 0.00 0.16% 7.87

Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private
Limited 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01)

Deepmangal Developers Private
Limited 0.00% (0.29) 0.00% (0.14) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.14)

Moonshine Construction Private
Limited 0.00% (0.31) 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01)
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India

Limited -1.10% (440.77) 1.23% 65.64 0.03% (0.09) 1.30% 65.55

Mahindra Hotels and Residences

India Limited 0.00% 0.13) 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.02)
Gables Promoters Private Limited 0.15% 60.14 -0.03% (1.75) 0.00% — -0.03% (1.75)
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India

Limited ESOP Trust 0.02% 8.27 0.00% 0.22 0.00% — 0.00% 0.22

Mahindra Holdings Limited 5.25% 2,098.74 0.04% 1.94 0.00% — 0.04% 1.94

Mahindra Namaste Limited 0.00% 0.52 0.01% 0.33 0.00% — 0.01% 0.33

Mahindra  Integrated  Business

Solutions Private Limited 0.02% 8.73 0.02% 0.91 -0.06% 0.16 0.02% 1.07

Mahindra Susten Private Limited 2.03% 811.61 1.18% 62.83 -0.17% 0.46 1.26% 63.29

MachinePulse Tech Private Limited 0.00% 0.14 0.00% 0.09 0.00% — 0.00% 0.09

Mahindra  Renewables  Private

Limited 0.71% 283.55 -0.03% (1.80) 0.00% — -0.04% (1.80)
Mahindra Suryaurja Private Limited 0.00% 0.05 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.02)
Cleansolar ~ Renewable  Energy

Private Limited 0.16% 63.95 0.02% 1.23 0.00% — 0.02% 1.23

Divine Solren Private Limited 0.21% 85.78 0.16% 8.26 0.00% — 0.16% 8.26

Neo Solren Private Limited 0.18% 72.97 0.07% 3.47 0.00% — 0.07% 3.47

Marvel Solren Private Limited 0.02% 8.61 -0.02% (0.86) 0.00% — -0.02% (0.86)
Astra Solren Private Limited 0.17% 66.70 0.01% 0.53 0.00% — 0.01% 0.53

Mahindra Engg & Chem Products

Limited 2.21% 884.90 0.03% 1.59 0.00% — 0.03% 1.59

Retail Initiative Holdings Limited 0.89% 357.25 0.00% (0.05) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.05)

Mahindra Retail Limited (formerly
known as Mahindra Retail Private

Limited) 0.98% 390.14 -0.43% (22.83) 0.00% — -0.45% (22.83)
Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited 0.02% 7.76 0.02% 0.83 0.00% 0.01 0.02% 0.84
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited 0.69% 277.16 0.52% 27.61 -0.07% 0.19 0.55% 27.80

Mahindra Defence Naval Systems
Private Limited 0.00% (0.21) -0.02% (0.85) 0.08% (0.23) -0.02% (1.08)

Mahindra First Choice Wheels Ltd 0.27% 107.39 -0.27% (14.60) -0.09% 0.24 -0.28% (14.36)
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Mahindra First Choice Services

Limited -0.14% (55.92) -0.67% (35.54) 0.01% (0.02) -0.71% (35.56)
Auto Digitech Private Limited -0.03% (13.50) -0.06% (3.01) 0.00% — -0.06% (3.01)
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ Company 0.00% 0.03 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Mahindra eMarket Limited 0.00% 1.45 0.03% 1.54 0.00% — 0.03% 1.54
M&M Benefit Trust 3.65% 1,459.77 1.46% 77.75 0.00% — 1.54% 77.75
Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP Trust 1.31% 524.37 0.73% 38.79 0.00% — 0.77% 38.79
Sunrise Initiatives Trust
(Consolidated) 0.07% 26.49 0.09% 4.67 -0.02% 0.06 0.09% 473
Mahindra Construction Company
Limited -0.06% (22.48) 0.00% (0.06) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.06)
Officemartindia.Com Limited 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech
Limited 0.03% 13.19 0.02% 1.05 -0.09% 0.24 0.03% 1.29
Trringo.com Limited 0.01% 2.45 -0.14% (7.65) -0.01% 0.03 -0.15% (7.62)
Mahindra Airways Limited 0.00% (0.07) -0.02% (0.83) 0.00% — -0.02% (0.83)
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Ltd
ESOP Trust 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Mahindra Consulting Engineers
Limited ESOP Trust 0.01% 3.28 0.00% 0.02 0.00% — 0.00% 0.02
Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private
Limited 0.07% 27.74 -0.11% (5.81) 0.01% (0.02) -0.12% (5.83)
Mahindra Logistics Limited
(Consolidated) 1.40% 560.29 1.51% 80.11 0.01% (0.03) 1.59% 80.08
Mahindra Waste To Energy
Solutions Limited 0.04% 16.10 -0.04% (2.23) 0.01% (0.03) -0.04% (2.26)
Mahindra Telecom Energy
Management Services Limited 0.00% 0.04 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01)

Mahindra  Summit  Agriscience
Limited 0.00% (1.91) -0.01% (0.63) 0.02% (0.05) -0.01% (0.68)

MRHFL Employee Welfare trust
(ESOP) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Foreign

Mahindra Automotive Australia

Pty. Limited ~ 0.01% 3.01 -0.10% (5.52) -0.01% 0.02 -0.11% (5.50)
Mahindra Europe S.r.l. € 0.03% 10.59 -0.05% (2.54) 0.15% (0.41) -0.06% (2.95)
Mahindra Graphic Research Design

Srl € 0.00% 0.50 -0.30% (15.89) -0.12% 0.33 -0.31% (15.56)
Mahindra and Mahindra South

Africa (Proprietary) Limited 0.12% 47.37 -0.44% (23.56) 4.14% (11.35) -0.69% (34.91)
Mahindra Tractor Assembly Inc. $ -0.25% (100.15) -2.62% (139.05) -0.55% 1.50 -2.73% (137.55)
Ssangyong Motor Company » 10.88% 4,349.88 -6.59% (350.21) 46.97% (128.70) -9.50% (478.91)
Ssangyong European Parts Center

B.V. € -0.04% (16.68) 0.01% 0.40 -0.24% 0.65 0.02% 1.05
Ssangyong ~ Motor  (Shanghai)

Company Limited > 0.00% 1.36 -0.07% (3.92) -0.01% 0.01 -0.08% (3.91)
Mahindra USA Inc. $ -0.48% (193.09) -13.79% (732.91) -6.42% 17.58 -14.19% (715.33)
Bristlecone Limited $ 0.07% 28.53 -0.02% (0.83) 2.43% (6.66) -0.15% (7.49)
Bristlecone Inc. $ 0.02% 6.35 0.15% 8.00 -0.88% 2.42 0.21% 10.42
Bristlecone Consulting Limited @ 0.02% 7.79 0.08% 4.23 -0.01% 0.02 0.08% 4.25
Bristlecone International AG < 0.03% 11.40 -0.01% (0.36) -0.05% 0.14 0.00% (0.22)
Bristlecone (UK) Limited £ 0.01% 4.70 0.02% 0.85 0.03% (0.08) 0.02% 0.77
Bristlecone ( Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd ** 0.01% 2.80 0.00% 0.03 -0.01% 0.02 0.00% 0.05
Bristlecone (Singapore) Pte.

Limited < 0.00% 1.1 0.01% 0.47 0.00% 0.01 0.01% 0.48
Bristlecone GmbH € 0.09% 36.58 0.08% 4.50 0.53% (1.45) 0.06% 3.05
Mahindra Middleeast Electrical

Steel Service Centre (FZC) o 0.07% 29.88 -0.05% (2.50) -0.72% 1.98 -0.01% (0.52)
Heritage Bird (M) Sdn. Bhd. ** 0.00% (0.52) 0.01% 0.35 0.00% (0.01) 0.01% 0.34
MH Boutique Hospitality Limited # -0.01% (2.70) 0.00% (0.22) 0.17% (0.47) -0.01% (0.69)
Infinity Hospitality Group Company

Limited # 0.02% 9.57 0.00% (0.25) -0.18% 0.49 0.00% 0.24
MHR Holdings (Mauritius) Limited € -0.08% (31.03) -0.09% (4.58) -2.94% 8.05 0.07% 3.47

Convington S.a.r.l. € 0.26% 103.59 0.12% 6.46 -4.27% 11.69 0.36% 18.15
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments

LLC o 0.00% (0.55) 0.07% 3.96 0.11% (0.30) 0.07% 3.66

Holiday Club Resort Oy €

(Consolidated) 1.13% 450.30 0.03% 1.67 9.29% (25.45) -0.47% (23.78)
HCR Management Oy € 0.04% 17.12 0.01% 0.67 0.01% (0.04) 0.01% 0.63

Mahindra Overseas Investment

Company (Mauritius) Limited. $ 3.59% 1,436.00 1.09% 57.83 5.37% (14.73) 0.86% 43.10

Mahindra Emirates Vehicle

Armouring FZ-LLC e (Consolidated) 0.06% 22.27 -0.06% (3.24) -0.57% 1.57 -0.03% (1.67)
Mahindra Racing UK Limited £ 0.02% 8.31 -0.15% (8.00) 0.07% (0.18) -0.16% (8.18)
Mahindra Racing S.p.A. € 0.00% — 0.00% — 1.83% (5.03) -0.10% (5.03)
Mahindra International UK Limited £ 0.00% 0.22 0.00% — 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% (0.00)
Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe

Holdings S.a.r.l. € -0.07% (26.24) -3.97% (211.05) -3.11% 8.52 -4.02% (202.53)
Peugeot Motocycles S.AS.

(Consolidated) € -1.48% (593.14) -5.00% (265.88) -11.52% 31.57 -4.65% (234.31)
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural

Machinery Co., Ltd (Consolidated)¥ 1.57% 628.83 -1.02% (54.47) 8.12% (22.24) -1.52% (76.71)
Mahindra West Africa Ltd ¢ 0.00% 1.37 0.00% 0.21 -0.02% 0.07 0.01% 0.28

Mahindra Mexico S. de. R. L © -0.03% (13.59) -0.42% (22.12) -0.18% 0.48 -0.43% (21.64)
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC e -0.01% (2.02) -0.04% (2.15) -0.01% 0.02 -0.04% (2.13)
Mahindra do Brasil Industrial

Ltda B 0.00% 0.81 -0.49% (25.95) 0.56% (1.53) -0.54% (27.48)
OFD Holding BV (Consolidated) € 0.12% 46.41 -0.14% (7.26) 1.73% (4.75) -0.24% (12.01)
Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret

Anonim Sirketi (Consolidated) T 0.21% 84.87 -1.63% (86.89) -0.75% 2.07 -1.68% (84.82)
Mahindra  Automotive  North

America Inc. (Consolidated) $ 0.16% 64.67 -2.21% (117.60) -1.42% 3.89 -2.26% (113.71)
Erkunt Sanayi AS ¥ 0.84% 335.71 0.54% 28.59 38.33% (105.02) -1.52% (76.43)
Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S ¥ 0.67% 269.00 -1.23% (65.35) 6.53% (17.90) -1.65% (83.25)

Mahindra Fresh Fruits Distribution
Holding Company € -0.01% (2.99) -0.01% (0.29) 0.99% (2.70) -0.06% (2.99)
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Automobili Pininfarina Gmbh € 0.26% 105.02 -1.98% (105.12) -1.55% 4.25 -2.00% (100.87)

Mahindra  Susten  Bangladesh
Private Limited (W.E.F. 19.04.2018)

©0 0.00% 0.23 0.00% (0.10) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.10)
Ssangyong Australia Pty Limited » 0.00% (1.31) -0.37% (19.80) 0.09% (0.26) -0.40% (20.06)
Mahindra Automotive Mauritius

Limited $ 0.59% 236.96 -0.01% (0.37) 2.84% (7.78) -0.16% (8.15)
PT  Mahindra  Accelo  Steel

Indonesia << 0.03% 13.57 -0.01% (0.27) -0.04% 0.1 0.00% (0.16)
MSPE Urja S.R.L. € 0.00% 0.08 0.00% — 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% (0.00)

Associates (Investment as per the
equity method)

Indian

Swaraj Engines Limited 0.20% 79.25 0.52% 27.45 0.00% — 0.54% 27.45
Tech Mahindra Limited 14.66% 5,862.18 23.43% 1,245.18 -7.04% 19.30 25.08% 1,264.48
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 1.23% 490.67 1.24% 65.76 -2.92% 8.00 1.46% 73.76
PSL  Media & Communications

Limited 0.00% 0.92 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Brainbees Solutions Private Limited 0.91% 364.05 -0.48% (25.30) -0.08% 0.23 -0.50% (25.07)
Medwell Ventures Private Limited 0.07% 28.15 -0.27% (14.10) 0.00% — -0.28% (14.10)
Merakisan Private Limited 0.00% (1.01) -0.02% (0.91) -0.09% 0.25 -0.01% (0.66)
Mahindra Knowledge Park Mohali

Limited 0.00% (0.56) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Foreign

Mahindra Finance USA LLC $ 1.02% 406.60 0.88% 46.93 -7.89% 21.62 1.36% 68.55
CIE Automotive S.A. € 0.98% 392.39 4.49% 238.61 25.09% (68.75) 3.37% 169.86
PF. holding BV € 0.51% 202.40 -0.24% (12.96) 2.58% (7.07) -0.40% (20.03)
Scoot Networks Inc. $ 0.04% 16.18 -1.02% (54.03) 0.00% — -1.07% (54.03)
Resson Aerospace Corporation @ 0.02% 8.95 -0.07% (3.70) 0.00% — -0.07% (3.70)

The East India Company Group Ltd
BVI £ -0.01% (4.85) -0.13% (6.73) 3.00% (8.22) -0.30% (14.95)
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss

Joint Ventures (Investment as per
the equity method)

Indian

Mahindra World City (Jaipur)

Limited 0.56% 224.96 0.62% 33.07 -0.02% 0.05 0.66% 33.12
Mahindra World City Developers
Limited 0.34% 134.93 0.24% 12.83 0.00% — 0.25% 12.83
Mahindra Homes Private Limited -0.05% (18.23) 0.26% 13.60 0.00% — 0.27% 13.60
Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities
Pvt. Limited 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.01)
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Pvt.
Ltd 0.15% 60.64 -0.34% (17.82) 0.00% — -0.35% (17.82)
Mahindra  Aerospace  Private
Limited 0.44% 174.92 -2.04% (108.31) -0.08% 0.23 -2.14% (108.08)
Brightsolar ~ Renewable  Energy
Private Limited 0.04% 14.56 0.01% 0.65 0.00% — 0.01% 0.65
Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor
Systems Private Limited 0.08% 30.35 0.02% 0.86 0.01% (0.02) 0.02% 0.84
Mahindra Telephonics Integrated
Systems Limited 0.03% 10.63 -0.06% (3.44) -0.02% 0.06 -0.07% (3.38)
Classic Legends Private Limited 0.18% 72.70 -0.21% (11.32) -0.61% 1.66 -0.19% (9.66)
Mahindra Happinest Developers
Limited -0.02% (7.09) -0.05% (2.87) 0.00% — -0.06% (2.87)
M.L.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private
Limited 0.01% 3.14 0.00% 0.10 0.00% — 0.00% 0.10
Carnot Technologies Private Limited 0.00% 1.18 0.00% 0.04 0.00% — 0.00% 0.04
Resfeber Labs Private Limited 0.00% — -0.20% (10.37) 0.00% — -0.21% (10.37)

Mahindra Industrial Park Private
Limited  (formerly known as

Industrial Cluster Private Limited) 0.00% (0.96) -0.01% (0.47) 0.00% — -0.01% (0.47)
Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai

Limited 0.26% 103.06 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Mahindra Bebanco Developers

Limited (upto 27t May, 2018) 0.00% — 0.05% 2.57 0.00% — 0.05% 2.57
Foreign

Mahindra-BT Investment Company
(Mauritius) Limited $ 0.20% 80.73 0.02% 1.15 -0.70% 1.93 0.06% 3.08

SY Auto Capital Co., LTD » 0.25% 98.53 0.19% 9.85 0.30% (0.81) 0.18% 9.04
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42. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Share of Total
Comprehensive income

Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive

income

Net assets, i.e., total assets
minus total liabilities

Name of the Enterprise

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or profit or profit or
loss loss loss
Sampo Rosenlew Oy € 0.06% 23.88 -1.08% (57.37) 0.16% (0.43) -1.15% (57.80)
Zoomcar Inc $ 0.02% 9.12 -0.49% (26.29) -1.05% 2.89 -0.46% (23.40)
Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private)
Limited BB 0.02% 6.79 0.00% 0.12) 0.00% — 0.00% (0.12)
Non controlling Interest -20.91% (8,360.57) -13.20% (701.39) -13.05% 35.75 -13.20% (665.64)
Consolidation  adjustments and
Inter Company Eleminations -77.92% | (31,158.18) -17.50% (929.27) 12.49% (34.18) -19.12% (963.45)
Total 100.00% 39,983.41 100.00% 5,315.46 100.00% (273.98) 100.00% 5,041.48

o Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AED = Rs. 18.82 as on 31** March, 2019
A Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AUD = Rs. 48.99 as on 31t March, 2019
B Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 BRL = Rs. 17.78 as on 315t March, 2019
@ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CAD = Rs. 51.97 as on 31t March, 2019
< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CHF = Rs. 69.42 as on 315t March, 2019
> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CNY = Rs. 10.28 as on 31 March, 2019
€ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 EUR = Rs. 77.62 as on 315t March, 2019

f Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 GBP = Rs. 90.35 as on 31t March, 2019
¥ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 JPY = Rs. 0.6244 as on 315t March, 2019
» Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 KRW = Rs. 0.0608 as on 315t March, 2019
© Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 MXN = Rs. 3.57 as on 31 March, 2019
** Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, TMYR = Rs. 16.99 as on 31 March, 2019
0 Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 NGN = Rs. 0.1922 as on 31 March, 2019
R Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 RUB = Rs. 1.06 as on 315t March, 2019
> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SEK = Rs. 7.44 as on 31t March, 2019

< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SGD = Rs.50.99 as on 31 March, 2019

# Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1THB = Rs. 2.19 as on 31 March, 2019

F Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1TRY = Rs. 12.32 as on 31t March, 2019

$ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1USD = Rs. 69.19 as on 31 March, 2019

Z Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 ZAR = Rs. 4.74 as on 31 March, 2019
©0© Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 BDT = Rs. 0.83 as on 31 March, 2019
<< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 IDR = Rs. 0.0048 as on 31 March, 2019
BB Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 LKR = Rs. 0.3953 as on 315t March, 2019

43. Previous year's figures have been regrouped/reclassified wherever necessary.

Signatures to Notes 1 to 43

In terms of our report attached.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri
Partner
Membership No : 102527

Mumbai, 29t May, 2019
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Part “B” Details of Associates / Joint Ventures [as per Section 2(6) of the Companies Act, 2013]

Rupees crores

Name of Associates / Joint Ventures Audited Date of No. of | Proportion Cost of Networth Profit/(Loss) for the year
Balance Acquisition Equity of | Investments | attributable to . .
X . Considered in Not
Sheet Date shares | ownership Shareholding S . :
. Consolidation | considered in
held tt interest as per latest e
. consolidation
audited
Balance Sheet
Swaraj Engines Limited 31/03/2019 | 11/08/2008 40,39,206 33.30% 1.60 79.25 27.45 54.97
Tech Mahindra Limited 31/03/2019 | 31/08/2012 | 25,64,50,608 28.90% 1,003.98 5,862.18 1,245.18 3,052.45
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited 31/03/2019 | 01/04/2010 70,000 46.66% 1.73 6.16 0.49 0.56
Officemartindia.com Limited 31/03/2019 | 31/03/2002 7,49,997 50.00% 0.22 (0.12) * *
Kota Farm Services Limited 31/03/2019 | 15/04/2011 3,10,000 47.81% 0.27 (0.15) * *
P.F. holding BV $ 27/05/2016 1,83,36,050 40.00% 137.82 202.40 (12.96) (19.43)
Sampo Rosenlew Oy 31/03/2019 | 01/07/2016 1,872 48.98% 132.35 23.88 (57.37) (124.90)
Carnot Technologies Private Limited 31/03/2019 | 9/03/2018 7,370 23.66% 6.07 1.18 0.04 0.12
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural
Machinery co., Ltd. § $ 01/10/2015 4 33.33% 191.59 419.24 (36.32) (18.15)
M.L.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private
Limited 31/03/2019 | 15/02/2018 68,413 27.06% 8.90 3.14 0.10 -
Zoomcar Inc $ 16/02/2018 11,913,048 17.03% 179.60 9.12 (26.29) (128.11)
Resfeber Labs Private Limited 31/03/2019 | 28/03/2018 3,95,578 25.05% 81.08 1.04 (10.37) (31.04)
Mahindra Ideal Lanka Private Limited 31/03/2019 | 31/05/2018 175,000 35.00% 6.79 6.67 (0.12) (0.23)
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private
Limited 31/03/2019 | 21/06/2018 3,475,264 22.81% 145.13 60.52 (17.82) (48.30)

Notes :

1. No associates/ Joint ventures are yet to commence operations.

* denotes amount less than Rs. 50000

tt

including participating preference shares

$ Based on unaudited financial statements as audit is not required as per their local laws

§ In addition to JPY750 million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY 2,250 million “Class A"
shares (shares with no voting rights); “Class A" shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with Common Stock.

Nadir B. Godrej

M. M. Murugappan
R. K. Kulkarni
Anupam Puri
Vishakha N. Desai
Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan
Vijay Kumar Sharma

Directors

Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman

Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director
V. S. Parthasarathy  Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29" May, 2019
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